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Generation 9 Overview
Following are some interesting 'tidbits' regarding Ann Ella’' GGGGGGrandparents:
9.10 Robert Kimbrell & Sarah Thompson

a) Robert and Sarah have twins - Nancy and Thomas. Nancy and Thomas
each then become a grandparent to Joseph Cartee - of Ann's GGGrandparents.

9.13 Thomas Lamb

a) The Lamb family were Quakers in both Virginia and South Carolina. At
least three members of the family were disowned by the Quakers because each
married a non-Quaker.

9.18 Rev William Robinson
a) The Rev William Robinson and his son John married sisters.

b) The Rev William Robinson spelled his wife's name as 'Agness' on their
marriage certificate and again in his Will. These names strongly imply the
lineage of Agness Robinson Stephens (i.e., wife of William Franklin Henderson).

9.13 Hugh Montgomery

a) Hugh's first wife was related to royalty and had a title - family lore talked
about how she ignored her family's wishes and married Hugh anyway. Hugh's
second wife was about the same age as his children - this created much scandal in
family lore.

b) Hugh, his 2nd wife, and six children immigrated from Ireland through
Charleston, SC. Three of his children met their future spouses during the voyage
and each was married soon after they arrived in America.

Generation 9
Page9-2



Para

9.1
9.2
9.3
9.4
9.5
9.6
9.7

9.9

9.10
9.11
9.12
9.13
9.14
9.15
9.16
9.17
9.18
9.19
9.20
9.21
9.22
9.23
9.24
9.25
9.26
9.27
9.28
9.29
9.30
9.31
9.32
9.33
9.34
9.35
9.36
9.37
9.38
9.39
9.40
941

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Grandparents of Ann Ella Henderson Page # 9-

UNKNOWN Lottt ettt et es et e et e sa e st et e esa et e ne e e ebeateeseente e 5
LU Q101 TR 5
LU Q3101 SR 6
UNKNOWN Lot ettt ettt e s e st sees e sa e st e s ne s e naees e se e e ete et e seenre e 6
LU Q3101 SRR 7
LU Q3101 S 7
LU Q3T 1 TS 8
UNKINOWN. .t ettt et s s et e et es e s es e st et e s et e snenneereen e nnen e e 8
James Willard Cartee & Nancy Cullen Dashiell.............cccoooeiiiiiiiiii e 9
Robert Kimbrell & Sarah Frances ThOMPSON .......cccooviiiiiiiii e 11
SAME @S PANA 9.0 .. bbb e e 14
John Holloway, Sr & AnNn GriffiN.......... oo 15
Thomas Lamb & Sarah 2 ......cccoet oottt bbb 21
Samuel Williamson & Lydia Bush Marcy.........coccooviiiiiiiiiinie e 27
UNKNOWIN <ottt ettt st ettt st et et st e st b e b s be e et e ebaesbbe st benbesabesebesars 29
UNKNOWI <ottt sttt et st bbb st bbbt et 29
Benjamin Stephens & Dorothy Jemima Waller ...........ccocveveviiiiiicie s 30
Rev William Robinson and Agness SMIth ... e 37
John B Wardlaw, Sr & Margaret AnN IMOOTE ........cooecveievieieeie et 49
John Heard Sr & Lydia LOGaN .......c.covviiiiiececiis ettt s 56.
James Briggs & AGNES DEIL .......oov oot e e 60.
JONN HAEITIS & 2?. .ttt bbbttt e e 61
James Williamson & Sarah Bryan ...t st 62
UNKNOWIN <.ttt st et ettt nr et b e eb et 65
Aaron Drummond & Elizabeth TOAd .........cccvviiiiiiiiiie s 66
James Johnson & Elizabeth Kidd ..o e 68
James Legg & Elizabeth HUQNES ........c.ooveiiiiicc e 73
Unknown (parents of Jeanetta NUIIY)........ccccoeiee i 77
James Mayes & Jane MCEIWAIN .........ccccvoviiiii it st 78
Thomas Archibald & Martha EdMONd ...........cccoveriiniiinirie e 86
UNKNOWI <ottt ettt sttt ettt et et s et en et e en e et sne e e 90
UNKNOWI <.ttt et ettt sttt sttt st s e es e en e e e sn et e 90
Hugh Montgomery & Cathering S10an MOOIE .........c.coveviiiiniiiecie s 91
Martin REYNOIA & 22... .ttt sttt st e e en e sreane s 96
JONN TROMPSON & 27 oot et sttt e s r e e besbe e 97
Robert Martin & Rebecca Swettenham ... 98
UNKNOWN <.ttt ettt et et e e e st e st e s s en e see e e eneen e seeaneas 99
UNKNOWN <.ttt ettt e sttt ere e e sb et ereen e see s e a e e e ereeneas 99
David Milling and AnNe KEISO..........ooviiiiiiiee e 100
Richard Burney & AnNie WaIKEF .........ccce it 102
(Deacon) Joseph Bardwell, St & Lydia MOrton ...........ccocvoiienieeniiese e 103

Generation 9
Page9-3



9.42
9.43
9.44
9.45
9.46
9.47
9.48
9.49
9.50
9.51
9.52
9.53
9.54
9.55
9.56
9.57
9.58
9.59
9.60
9.61
9.62
9.63
9.64

Elijah Smith & Sibyl WOrthington ............ccoovieiicii e 108

Isaac Guion & ANNe Marie BOlt ... 113

John Williams & Ferebe PUGh ... 116

Unknown (parents of ReV JAmeS ROGEIS) ......ccveviirieiriiieieeiirr e e 117

Unknown (parents of Jane WilSon MUITaY).........ccoviiiineniieine e e 117

Humphrey Fullerton & Martha Mitchell ..o 118

Matthew Lind & Janet FUITON ........ccoeieie i e e s 122
LU q 3101 PR 125
UNKINOWN <ottt ettt et et e e e e ete e e eta s e en s e sneenn e s enneenens 125
UNKINOWN <ottt ettt et ese e te et et sa e teensen e ste e e aneaneennens 126
UNKINOWN Lottt ettt e e e e estesa e e sees s e enae e e s e nneeneas 126
UNKINOWN <ottt ettt et et e s s aesaesa e teesenteene e e ensentearens 127
UNKNOWN Lottt st ettt e et et seese e te et e e aese e e en e neesrenneen 127
UNKNOWN Lottt sttt e st ettt e e et ne e s neenaesaesrenraansesaenreannen 128
UNKNOWN Lottt sttt e st ete et e et e e et e e e e neeste st e ssensaensentenrenneen 128
Moses Bellagh, Sr & AgGNES HESTEN .......ccvciiiiiiii e 129
James Morgan & RaACh@el JACK ... 133
Edward Neddy Phair & Rachel BEard ............ccccvviiiiiciie i e 136
Unknown (parents of Jane Ashton Smith) ... 140
Isaac John Middlebrook, Sr & ANNe SIMMS ........coccvviiiiiie i 141
Robert Lyon & Rebecca WhItlOCK ............ccoviiiiiiiiieiccce s 144
William Shell & Amelia EHIS ..o e 146
Isham Malone & LUCIetia Lanier ..........ocooeiiiiiieiieieie e 150

Generation 9
Page9-4



9.1 Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents

(father/father/mother/father/father/father)

Husband Marriage Wife
?? Henderson Date: Unknown
DOB: Location: DOB:
City/State: City/State:
Residence: Children Residence:
Residence: Unknown Residence:
Date of Death: Date of Death:
Cemetery: Cemetery:
City, State: City, State:
Father: Father:
Mother: Mother:
NOTES NOTES
9.2 Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents
(father/father/father/father/father/mother)
Husband Marriage Wife
Unknown Date: Unknown
DOB: Location: DOB:
City/State: City/State:
Residence: Children Residence;
Residence: Unknown Residence;
Date of Death: Date of Death:
Cemetery: Cemetery:
City, State: City, State:
Father: Father:
Mother: Mother:
NOTES NOTES
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9.3 Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents

(father/father/father/father/mother/father)

Husband Marriage Wife
Unknown Date: Unknown
DOB: Location: DOB:
City/State: City/State:
Residence: Children Residence:
Residence: Unknown Residence:
Date of Death: Date of Death:
Cemetery: Cemetery:
City, State: City, State:
Father: Father:
Mother: Mother:
NOTES NOTES
9.4 Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents
(father/father/father/father/mother/mother)
Husband Marriage Wife
Unknown Date: Unknown
DOB: Location: DOB:
City/State: City/State:
Residence: Children Residence;
Residence: Unknown Residence;
Date of Death: Date of Death:
Cemetery: Cemetery:
City, State: City, State:
Father: Father:
Mother: Mother:
NOTES NOTES
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9.5 Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents

(father/father/father/mother/father/father)

Husband Marriage Wife
Unknown Date: Unknown
DOB: Location: DOB:
City/State: City/State:
Residence: Children Residence:
Residence: Unknown Residence:
Date of Death: Date of Death:
Cemetery: Cemetery:
City, State: City, State:
Father: Father:
Mother: Mother:
NOTES NOTES
9.6 Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents
(father/father/father/mother/father/mother)
Husband Marriage Wife
Unknown Date: Unknown
DOB: Location: DOB:
City/State: City/State:
Residence: Children Residence;
Residence: Unknown Residence;
Date of Death: Date of Death:
Cemetery: Cemetery:
City, State: City, State:
Father: Father:
Mother: Mother:
NOTES NOTES
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9.7 Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents

(father/father/father/mother/mother/father)

Husband Marriage Wife
Unknown Date: Unknown
DOB: Location: DOB:
City/State: City/State:
Residence: Children Residence:
Residence: Unknown Residence:
Date of Death: Date of Death:
Cemetery: Cemetery:
City, State: City, State:
Father: Father:
Mother: Mother:
NOTES NOTES
9.8 Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents
(father/father/father/mother/mother/mother)
Husband Marriage Wife
Unknown Date: Unknown
DOB: Location: DOB:
City/State: City/State:
Residence: Children Residence:
Residence: Unknown Residence:
Date of Death: Date of Death:
Cemetery: Cemetery:
City, State: City, State:
Father: Father:
Mother: Mother:
NOTES NOTES
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9.9

Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents
(father/father/mother/father/father/father)

Husband Marriage Wife
James Willard Cartee Date: ~1757 Nancy Ann Cullen Dashiell
DOB: 1733 Location: Loudoun DOB: 1733
County, Va
City/State: Augusta County, Va City/State: Loudoun County,
Va
Residence: 1759 - Rock Hill, Children Residence:
York County, colonial SC
Residence: 1767 - James Carty | James Matteson Cartee Residence:

(i.e., Cartee) handling probate
duties in Augusta County, Va
SC

(12Nov1759-3Jun1837)
born in Anderson County,

died in Big Creek,
Anderson County, SC
married 1779 in Vato
Nancy Kimbrell
(1760-1850)

Date of Death: 1802

Date of Death: 1802+

Cemetery: Cemetery:
City, State: Edgefield County, City, State: Edgefield County,
SC SC
Father: Father:
James Cartee Clement Dashiell
(1700 -) (1720-1756)
Mother: Mother:
O] Sarah Piper
(1723-1772)
NOTES NOTES

James Willard Cartee and Nancy Ann Cullen
Dashiell emigrated from Augusta County, Va
to Spartanburg County, SC shortly after they
were married in ~1757.

Beginning NLT 24Dec1741, Nancy's parents
lived (& died) in Stepney Parish, Somerset,
Maryland.

Apparently, James Matteson Cartee (8.5) was
an only child. In reviewing 150+ family trees,
each one of them identified only James Willard
Cartee as child of James Willard Cartee and
Nancy Cullen Dashiell.

James was a Private in South Carolina 3rd
Regiment during the Revolutionary War -
released 1Nov1779.

James Cartey owned 100 acres on Buffalo
Creek of Roanoke on 14Mar1765. Purchased
from David Robinson on 12Nov1755.

1704 - James Cartee (likely James' father or
grandfather) immigrated into Virginia.
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James Cartee (George suspects he was the grandfather of James Willard Cartee because
he was listed as 'primary immigrant’) immigrated to America and arrived in Virginia in
1704. James Cartey (George suspects he was father of James Willard Cartee because he
was listed as 'primary immigrant’) arrived in Virginia in 1722. Patent abstracts of this
time period include numerous references to land patented by 'French refugees’, the
Protestant Huguenots who fled France after Louis XIV revoked their religious freedoms.

There appear to be three consecutive generations with same name:
1) James Willard Cartey ( - ) - Immigrant who arrived in Virginia in 1704
2) James Willard Cartey (-) - Immigrant who arrived in Virginia in 1722

3) James Willard Cartee (1733-1802) - Born in Augusta County, Va; married Nancy
Ann Cullen Dashiell (1733-1760?) in Va about 1757, and emigrated to Spartanburg, SC -
probably shortly after being married.
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Page 9-10



9.10 | Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents
(father/father/mother/father/father/mother)

Husband Marriage Wife
Robert Kimbrell Date: 1755 Sarah Thompson
DOB: 1734 Location: Loudoun DOB: 13Nov1735
County, Va baptized: 7Dec1735

City/State: Dinwiddie County, City/State: Middlesex,
VA Loudoun County, VA
Residence: 1746 - Anson Children Residence:
County, NC
Residence: 1760 - Dinwiddie, Nancy Kimbrell Residence:
Loudoun County, Va (1760-1850)
Residence: 1770+ - Thomas Kimbrell
Spartanburg County, Va (1760-1840)
Date of Death: 1780 Date of Death: 1789
Cemetery: Kimbrell Family Cemetery: Kimbrell Family
Cemetery, Spartanburg County, Cemetery, Spartanburg County,
SC SC
City, State: Spartanburg County, City, State: Spartanburg
SC County, SC
Father: Father:
Peter Kimbrell John Thompson (or Thomson)
(1705-1780) (1702-1750)
D: Butte (now Warren) County, d: Carolina County, VA
NC
Mother: Mother:
Winnifred Gilliam Susanna George
(1720-1780) (1706-1807)
d: Granville, NC

NOTES NOTES
Apparently, Robert's family emigrated to Sarah was baptized on 7Dec1735.

Granville, NC prior to 1746 - his brother
Buckner Kimbrell was born in 1746 in Anson
County, NC. Since Sarah lived in VA, then
Robert must have returned from NC to VA to
marry Sarah Thompson in 1755.

Both Nancy and Thomas proved to be
grandparents to Joseph Cartee (1823-1908).
Apparently, Nancy and Thomas were twins.

Robert was baptized on 7Dec1735.
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Descendants of Robert Kimbrell and Sarah Thompson

Robert Kimbrell (1734-1780) married Sarah Thompson (1735-1789) in 1755 in Loudoun
County, VA

1. Robert Kimbrell (1756-1835) - born in Dinwiddie County, VA
- Corporal in Virginia Continental Line during Revolutionary War
- Owned 763 acres betweeen North Tyger River and Holstens Creek,
Spartanburg District, SC in 1815
Robert married Frances Kimbrell (1760-1845)
1) William Kimbrell (1783-)
2) Thomas Kimbrell (1785-)
3) John Anderson Kimbrell (1788-1864)
4) Pollie Kimbrell (1790-)
5) Elizabeth Kimbrell (1793-)

2. Nancy Kimbrell (1760-1850) - born in Loudoun County, VA
Nancy married James Matteson Cartee (1759-1837)
1) William C Cartee (1780-1836)
William married Susannah Younger (1791-1843)
2) John M Carter (1785-1870)
John married Elizabeth Kimbrell (1789-)
1- Joseph W Cartee (1823-1908)
Joseph married Sarah Carolyn Lamb Mayes (1819-1884)
3) Caleb Wade Cartee (1790-1871)
Caleb married Elizabeth York Siston (1799-1879)
4) Reuben Cartee (1792-1876)
Reuben married Juda Oliver (1791-1887)
5) Mary Polly Cartee (1795-1870)
Mary married John Caleb Kimbrell (1787-1864)
6) James M Cartee Jr (1799-1870)
James married Caragh Gilbert (1849-)
7) Mary Elizabeth Cartee (1800-)
Mary married Matthew Gore (1803-1889)
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Thomas Kimbrell (1760-1840) - born in Dinwiddie County, VA
Thomas married Nancy Holloway (1772-1830)

1)
2)
3)
4)
5)
6)

7)

Polly Kimbrell (1785-)

- No record of marriage

Reverend John Caleb Kimbrell (1790-1864)
John married Mary Polly Cartee (1794-1878)
Elizabeth Kimbrell (1790-1869)

Elizabeth married John M Cartee (1785-1870)
Fielding Kimbrell (1792-)

Fielding married Sarah ? (-)

Charles Kimbrell (1794-)

- No record of marriage

Vincent Kimbrell (1796-1875)

Vincent married ?? (-1860)

Thomas Kimbrell (1796-1868)

Thomas married Frances G ?? (1789-1880)

John Kimbrell (1765-) - born in Georgia
- No record of marriage

Generation 9
Page9-13



9.11 | Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents

(father/father/mother/father/mother/father)

Husband Marriage Wife

Robert Kimbrell Date: Sarah Thompson
DOB: Location DOB:
City/State: City/State:
Residence: Children Residence:
Residence: Thomas Kimbrell Residence:

(1760-1840)

married

Nancy Holloway

(1772-1830)
Residence
Date of Death: Date of Death:
Cemetery: Cemetery:
City, State: City, State:
Father: Father:
Mother: Mother:

NOTES | NOTES

Nancy Kimbrell (para 8.5) and Thomas Kimbrell (para 8.6) were twins. For details of

their parents see para 9.10.
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9.12 | Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents

(father/father/mother/father/mother/mother)

Husband Marriage Wife

John Holloway, Jr Date: 21Marl768 Ann Maria Griffin

DOB: 10May1745 Location: Craven County, | DOB: 16Junl1752
NC

City/State: Fort Barnwell,
Craven County, NC

City/State: Craven County, NC

Residence: 1746 - Craven Children Residence:
County, NC

Residence: 1790 - Edgefield Nancy Holloway Residence:
District, SC (110ct1772-1830)

Residence: ?? - Candler County,
Ga

Residence:

Date of Death: 1818

Date of Death: 14Dec1810

Cemetery: Lake Creek
Cemetery, Metter, Candler

Cemetery: Lake Creek
Cemetery, Metter, Candler

County, Ga County, Ga

City, State: Gainesville, Bullock City, State: Bullock County,
(or Hall) County, Ga Georgia

Father: Father:

Bermillion Holloway
(1720-1810)

Benjamin Griffin
(1721-1765)

Mother:
Sarah Lucy Proctor
(1732-1789)

Mother:
Mary Bryant
(1724-1775)

NOTES

NOTES

John was a Private in the Revolutionary War.
The Metter, GA chapter of the Daughters of
the American Revolution honored John's
service for his country with a ceremony on
29May1994 at Lake Church Cemetery in
Chandler County, GA.

John and Ann gave birth to their 4th child in
1776 and their 7th child in 1793. Unless there
were multiple infant deaths during this period,
George would almost suggest that John was
married to wife#3 for these youngest 4 children.
No record as yet that John was married for a
3rd time.

Sally and Ann Holloway were sisters who

married brothers William and John Holloway.

They were daughters of Benjamin & Sarah
Griffin of Craven County, NC.

Per 1800 Census, John, Sr lived in Edgefield,
SC and owned 1 slave. Per 1790 Census,
John, Sr lived in Craven County, NC and
owned 6 slaves.

George found a record which indicates John,
Sr sold some land on 25Sep1749 which was
located in Norfolk County, Va..

Note: Lake Church Cemetery in what is now Candler County, Ga - area was part of

Bulloch County, Ga in the early 1800s.
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Descendants of John Holloway, Sr

John Holloway, Jr married Mary Ship (1749-) on 240ct1761 in Edgecombe, NC

1. Frances Holloway (1764-)
- No record of marriage

2. Martha Holloway (1766-)
Martha married Moses Bledsoe (1759-1857) in 1783
1) (Major) Richmond Bledsoe (1784-1857)
2) Jeffries Bledsoe (1785-1870)
3) Mowina Bledsoe (1789-1854)
4) Isaac Bledsoe (1801-1880)

John Holloway, Jr married Ann Griffin (16Jun1752-1810) on 21Mar1768
in Edgecombe, NC.

- John was brother of William Holloway, Sr

- Ann was daughter of Benjamin Griffin & sister of Salley Griffin

1. John Holloway 111 (4Apr1770-1855)

- John was a member of the Haywood County Regiment of NC during
the War of 1812

- John was apparently a brawler who was unbeatable in hand-to-hand
combat

- John married Mary Ellen Rose (1780-1839) in 1794 in Wilkes County,
NC

1) Mary Holloway (1795-)

2) Captain John A Holloway (1797-1880)

3) Isaac Holloway (1804-1870)

4) Keziah Holloway (1808-1880)

5) Daughter Holloway (1812-)

6) Andrew Jackson Holloway (1817-1883)

7) Hampton Holloway (1817-1880)

2. Nancy Holloway (110ct1772-1830)
Nancy married Thomas Kimbrell (-) on 2 Nov1787
1) Elizabeth Kimbrell (1790-1850)
Elizabeth married John Matteson Cartee (1785-1870)
2) Fielding Kimbrell (1792-)
3) John Caleb Kimbrell (1793-1864)
4) Vincent Kimbrell (1796-)
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5) Thomas Kimbrell (1800-1886)

William Holloway (3Sep1774-1850)
- No record of marriage

Jeremiah Holloway (5Apr1776-8Aug1848)
Jeremiah married Mary Malden (-) on 9Feb1799
1) William Holloway (1804-)

2) John Holloway (1805-1863)

3) Charles Holloway (1809-1862)

4) James Holloway (1820-1928)

5) Griffin Holloway (1822-1901)

6) Vincent Holloway (1823-1855)

Jeremiah married Sarah Sally Parker (1793-1861)
1) Thomas H Holloway (1828-1896)

2) Christopher Columbus Holloway (1829-1859)

James Holloway (2May1782- )

James married Catherine Summerlin (-) on 2Nov1803
1) William Holloway (1804-1850)

2) Anna Holloway (1807-1893)

3) Jane Holloway (1808-1880)

4) Michael Holloway (1810-)

5) Redding Holloway (1812-)

6) James Holloway (1821-1928)

7) Stephen Holloway (1827-1857)

Thomas Holloway (11Mar1786- )
Thomas married Nancy Irwin (1787-)
1) Isaac Holloway (-)

2) John F Holloway (-)

3) Oliver Holloway (-)

4) Riley Holloway (-)

5) rena Holloway (1810-1887)

Mickleberry Holloway (11Jul1793- )
Mickleberry married Patsy Sowell (1797-1860) on 23Apr1820
1) Jincey May Holloway (1837-1901)
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Holloway Brothers married Griffin Sisters
William Holloway, Sr was the brother of John Holloway, Sr
William and John were sons of Bermillion Holloway and Sarah Proctor

Salley Griffin was sister of Ann Griffin
Salley and Ann were daughters of Benjamin Griffin and Mary Bryant

Find-A-Grave.com Epitaph:

John Holloway, born in North Carolina, served in the Revolutionary War (DAR). He
moved on to Georgia with his brother William, where they farmed and lived a good life.
The family were devout Quakers, originally from England. John and his wife Ann
Griffin Holloway raised eight children: John, William, Elizabeth, James, Mickleberry,
Nancy, Jeremiah, and Thomas. The Metter GA chapter of the Daughters of the American
Revolution honored John's service for this country with a ceremony on May 29, 1994 at
Lake Church Cemetery in what is now Candler county GA, formally Bulloch county
GA.

Revolutionary War Patriot

John, Sr. was granted 640 acres of land in Craven Co. April 7, 1750 (or 1758) He was
listed as a Private in Captain Peter Rutger's Troop of Horse in N. C. Militia from New
Bern in Craven County.

09/11/2007

Lake Cemetery at Metter, Candler County, Ga
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Tombstone - John Holloway, Sr in Lake Cemetery @ Metter, Candler County, Ga
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Tombstone - Ann Griffin in Lake Cemetery @ Metter, Candler County, Ga
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9.13 | Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents
(father/father/mother/mother/father/father)
Husband Marriage Wife
Thomas Lamb, Jr Date: 1765 Sarah ??
DOB: 1745 Location: Fairfax, DOB: 1748
Loudon County, VA
City/State: Middleton, Bucks City/State:
County, Pa
Residence: 1755 - Fairfax Children Residence: 1765 - Loudoun
County, Va County, VA
Residence: 1766 - Union County, | Robert A Lamb Residence:
SC (1766-1838)
Residence: 1791+ - Williamson Residence:

County, TN

Date of Death: Mar1816

Date of Death: 15Apr1791

Cemetery: Lamb Family
Cemetery, Rutherford County, TN

Cemetery:

City, State: Versailles, Rutherford

City, State: Cane Creek, Union

County, TN County, SC
Father: Father:
Thomas Lamb
(1721-1800)
Mother: Mother:
Alice Longshore
(1726-1789)

NOTES NOTES

Thomas was member of Quakers in Virginia
which disowned him on 29May1766 for
marrying Sarah ?? who was not a Quaker.
Their first child Robert was born 23May1766
in Fairfax, Va. Thomas received some sort of
letter introducing him to Quaker Congregation
in SC. Apparently, Thomas and Sarah left for
SC shortly after Robert was born.

Given Katherine's age (i.e. 29) when she
married Thomas, this was a 2nd marriage for
both.

28Aprl871 - Bush River Quaker Monthly
Meeting, Newberry, SC. Thomas Lamb, Jr
produced a paper at this meeting condemning
his misconduct in taking up arms and going
out in a warlike manner.

Sarah's death of 15Apr1791 was reported by
Quakers Cane Creek monthly meeting of Union
County, SC.

After Sarah's death in 1791, Thomas and
several of his children emigrated to
Williamson County, TN. Son Robert married
Frances Williamson in SC and this couple
stayed in SC.

Apparently, there was 'my' Sarah (1748-1791)
who who married Thomas Lamb Jr in Loudoun
County, VA in 1765. There was a 'Sarah
Moore' who married a Thomas Lamb in 1766 in
Fairfax County, VA. The similarity of these
names (and likely kinship) has generated
enormous confusion among researchers.

Interestingly, the Lamb family were members
of Quaker Church in SC and TN even though
Thomas had been disowned by Quaker
congregation in VA.
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Descendants of Thomas Lamb and Sarah Moore

A. Thomas Lamb (1743-1816) married Sarah ?? (1748-1791) in 1765 in Loudon County,

VA

1. Robert A Lamb (23May1766-1838)
Robert married Frances Williamson (1770-1858) in 1788 in SC
- Note: Thomas was disowned by Bush River Quakers of Newberry
County, SC on 26Apr1788 for marrying Sarah ?? who not a Quaker.
Jesse Lamb (1775-1838)
Jesse married Frances Williamson (1795-1830) in SC

1)

2)
3)
4)
5)
6)
7)
8)

5-
6-

Martha Susanna Lamb

Robert Lamb

Benjamin H Lamb

Sarah Caroline Lamb

Sarah married Samuel James Mayes in Greene County, AL

in 1840
a- Mary Francis Mayes (1841-1912)

Sarah married Joseph Cartee in Greene County, AL in 1848
a- Elizabeth Jane Cartee

Edward Hooker Lamb

Jesse Mire Lamb

Joseph Lamb (1799-1870)
William Lamb (1802-1853)

Mary Lamb (1806-)

Thomas Lamb (1807-)

Lucy Lamb (1810-)

Sarah Caroline Lamb (1819-1884)
Elizabeth Lamb (-)

2. Elizabeth Mary Lamb (18Jan1768-Feb1810)
Elizabeth married William Potts (1764-)

Oswell Potts (1788-1870)

Mary Potts (1790-1841)

Thomas Potts (1791-1860)

William Potts Jr (1795-1680)

Rachel Potts (1801-1853)

Abner B Potts (1804-1840)

1)
2)
4)
5)
6)
7)
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William Lamb, Sr (16Nov1769-1840)

married Margaret Floyd (1791-1840) on 25Apr1789 in Union County, SC

- Note: William disonwed by Bush River Quakers of Newberry County,

SC on 25Apr1789 - apparently for planning to marry a non-Quaker.

1) David Lamb Sr (1791-1840)

2) Robert Lamb (1795-1869)

3) William Lamb Jr (1798-)
William married Mary Knot (-) on 29Mar1844 in Williamson
County, TN

Thomas Lamb 111 (16Nov1771-220ct1852)
Thomas married Elizabeth ?? (1776-) in 1792 in SC
1) Thomas Lamb (1798-)

2) Joseph Lamb (1804-1871)

3) Jason A Lamb (1806-)

4) Jonathan Lamb (1808-)

5) William Lamb (1810-)

Joseph Lamb (18Nov1773-1852)

Joseph married Sarah Holly (1777-1856) in 1796 in SC
1) Martin W Lamb (1798-)

2) Jane Lamb (1800-1857)

3) Sally Lamb (1802-1857)

4) David Lamb (1805-1900)

5) Joseph R Lamb (1811-1827)

6) Jane Jensey Lamb (1812-1852)

7) Elizabeth Lamb (1816-)

Mary Lamb (22Dec1775-1856)

- Quakers at Cane Creek in Union County, SC disowned Mary on
19Apr1794. Reason not listed.

Mary married Hosea Holcombe Ray (1776-1860)

1) Ada Delilha Ray (1794-1834)

2) Ambrose Ray (1798-1873)

3) Homer Thomas Ray (1800-1865)

4) Carrelton Ray (1802-1862)

5) Spencer Ray (1805-1805)

6) Elijah Holcombe Ray (1807-1849)

7) Robert Ray (1809-1932)

8) Willis Ray (1811-1811)
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9) Irene Ray (1814-1814)
10)  William Martindale Ray (1817-1874)
11)  Jesse Ray (1821-1864)

David Lamb (28Dec1777-1846)
David married Tabitha ?? (1781-1870)
1) Harper Lamb (1800-)

2) David Lamb (1805-1870)

3) Barram Lamb (1805-1880)

4) Susan Lamb (1806-1842)

5) Rachel Lamb (1809-)

6) Jonathan Lamb (1812-1880)
7) Jesse C Lamb (1817-1899)

8) Thomas Douglas Lamb (1822-1877)
9) Benjamin F Lamb (1823-)

Jonathan John Lamb, Sr (19Dec1779-1850)
Jonathan married Elizabeth Hale (1810-) in 1830 in Williamson County,
TN
1) Captain Nicholas H Lamb (1831-1864)
2) Calvin Lamb (1833-)
3) Colonel Jonathan John Lamb, Jr (1833-1864)
4) Nancy Isabella Lamb (1837-1894)
5) Louisa A Lamb (1838-)
6) James Lamb (1843-)
7) Julia A Lamb (1847-)
8) Mary E Lamb (1849-)
Mary married unknown (1800-1829) in ~1816
1- William Houston Lamb Sr (1817-1873)
2- Benjamin Franklin Lamb Sr, Esq (1821-1869)
3- Milton B Lamb (1826-)

Alice Lamb (8Jul1782-12Jul1782)

Alice married James Ray Sr (1770-1840) in 1801 in SC

- Note: On 24Jan1801, Alice was disowned by Cane Creek Quakers of
Union County, SC for marrying a non-Quaker

1) James Ray Jr (1802-1839)

2) Mary Ray (1807-1870)
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3) Sarah Ray (1820-1871)

11.  James Lamb (25Nov1785-May1869)
James married Margaret Peggy Wood (1790-1860)
1) Martha Ann Lamb (1808-1870)
2) Mary Lamb (1815-1850)

12.  Sarah Lamb (5Apr1791-)
Sarah married John Cohoon Sr (1785-1857)

- Sarah's mother died ten days (i.e., 15Apr1791) after giving birth
1) John Cohoon (1809-1884)

2) Joseph Cohoon (1814-1879)

3) Robert Cohoon (1816-)

4) Thompson Mason Cohoon (1819-1884)

5) Russell Cohoon (1824-1880)

6) Hoza Cohoon (1826-)

7) Sarah Ann Cohoon (1826-)

8) William Cohoon (1830-)

9) General Greenberry Cohoon (1834-1905)

B. Thomas Lamb married Catherine ?? (1763-1834) in 1792 in Union County, SC
- Thomas & Catherine moved to Williamson County, TN shortly after their
marriage.

1. Jonathan Lamb (1792-1847)

Note: Thomas Lamb (1743-) was disowned by the Quakers' Fairfax Monthly Meeting,
Virginia on 29May1766 for indiscretion with a woman (i.e., Thomas married a non-
Quaker). As often happened among the Quakers, a disowned family could apply for
membership to another Monthly Meeting. On 28Jun1766, Thomas Lamb (1721), Alice
and six youngest children were granted a certificate from the Fairfax MM to go to the
Wateree MM, Kershaw County, SC. Thomas (1721) and Alice had nine children named
in his will. As Thomas (1743-) had been disowned, Margaret was born in 1766, and
Phoebe was born in 1768, the six children relocated to South Carolina with William,
Longshore, Alice, Sarah, Esther, and John.

On 25Feb1775, Thomas Lamb Jr's paper of acknowledgement was received and accepted
and granted certificate to Bush River Monthly Meeting, SC based of recommendation of
Padgett's Creek PM, a branch meeting of Bush River MM.
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Tombstones - Thomas and Catherine Lamb in Lamb Family Cemetery, Rutherford
County, TN
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9.14 | Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents

(father/father/mother/mother/father/mother)

Husband

Marriage

Wife

Samuel Williamson

Date: 1763

Lydia Bush Marcy

DOB: 7Jan1739

Location: Wiscasset,
Lincoln County, Maine

DOB:

City/State: Pownelborough,
Lincoln County, Maine

City/State: Wiscasset, Lincoln
County, Maine

Residence: ~1768+ - Union Children Residence:
County, SC
Residence: Frances Williamson Residence:
(1770-1858)
Date of Death: 1818 Date of Death:
Cemetery: Cemetery:
City, State:  Union County, SC City, State: Union County, SC
Father: Father

Captain Jonathan Williamson
(1712-1798)

Mother: Mother:
Mary Peters
(1712-1796)

NOTES NOTES

Apparently, Samuel & Lydia Williamson
emigrated from Maine to South Carolina in
~1768 following birth of their third child.
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Descendants of Samuel Williamson and Lydia Bush Marcy

Samuel Williamson (1739-1818) married Lydia Bush Marcy (1738-1764) in 1758 in
Maine

1. Rachel Williamson (130ct1764-1841) in Pownal, Cumberland County, Maine
- No record of marriage

2. Nancy Williamson (290ct1765- ) in Pownal, Cumberland County, Maine
- No record of marriage

3. Nathan Williamson (8Nov1766- ) in Pownal, Cumberland County, Maine
- No record of marriage

4. Frances Williamson (20Sep1770-1858) in Union County, SC
Frances married Robert A Lamb (1766-1838) on 26Apr1788 at Bush River
Saluda, SC
1) Jesse Lamb (1792-1838)
Jesse married Frances Williamson (1795-1830)

Note: George is still concerned that researchers have incorrectly identified parents of
Frances Williamson. There was a Samuel Williamson and Lydia Pike who lived in
Maine and had a daughter named Frances Williamson (1770-1858). This Samuel
Williamson family allegedly lived and died in Maine. However, there is some indication
that Samuel and Lydia Wiliamson emigrated from Maine to Union County, SC in ~1768
- where Frances Williamson was born in 1770.
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9.15 | Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents

(father/father/mother/mother/mother/father)

Husband Marriage Wife
Unknown Date: Unknown
DOB: Location: DOB:
City/State: City/State:
Residence: Children Residence:
Residence: Unknown Residence:
Date of Death: Date of Death:
Cemetery: Cemetery:
City, State: City, State:
Father: Father:
Mother: Mother:
NOTES NOTES
9.16 | Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents
(father/father/mother/mother/mother/mother)
Husband Marriage Wife
Unknown Date: Unknown
DOB: Location: DOB:
City/State: City/State:
Residence: Children Residence;
Residence: Unknown Residence;
Date of Death: Date of Death:
Cemetery: Cemetery:
City, State; City, State:
Father: Father:
Mother: Mother:
NOTES NOTES
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9.17 | Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents
(father/mother/father/father/father/father)
Husband Marriage Wife
Benjamin Stephens, Jr Date: 16Aprl775 Dorothy Jemina Waller
DOB: 15Aprl754 Location: Newport, DOB: 260ct1758

Spotsylvania County, Va

City/State: Orange County, Va

City/State: Newport,
Spotsylvania County, Va

Residence: 1782- Orange
County, Va

Children

Residence:

Residence: 1786 - Nelson
County, KY

Edmund Waller Stephens
(27Marl1777-3Jul1846)

Residence:

Date of Death: 7Sep1839

Date of Death: 12Jan1838

Cemetery: Stephens Family

Cemetery, Beech Woods,

Kenton County, KY

- Leonard Stephens' Homeplace

- Located on bluff overlooking
Gunpowder Creek

Cemetery: Stephens Family

Cemetery, Beech Woods,

Kenton County, KY

- Leonard Stephens' Homeplace

- Located on bluff overlooking
Gunpowder Creek

City, State: Campbell, Kenton
County, KY

City, State: Covington,
Campbell County, KY

Father:
Blessing Stephens, Sr
(1724-1799)

Father:
Captain Edmund Waller
(1718-1771)

Mother:
Blessing Stephens
(1726- )

Mother:
Mary Pendleton
(1720-1808)

NOTES

NOTES

Benjamin served in Virginia Guard during War
of 1812. His job was to guard from Indian

raids and was paid for supplies

Occupation: 14Sep1818 - Justice of Peace in

Boone County, KY

Benjamin received land grant of 2000 acres in
Nelson County, KY (near Rough Creek) on

14Jan1786
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Descendants of Benjamin Stephens and Dorothy Jemina Waller

Benjamin Stephens (1754-1839) and Dorothy Jemina Waller (1758-1838) were married
in 1775. All nine of their children were born in Orange County, Va.

1. Edmund Waller Stephens (27Mar1777-3Jul1864)
A. Edmund married Agness Smith Robinson (1779-1802)

1) Benjamin Waller Stephens (1797-1844)
Benjamin married ?? (-) in SC
1- Agness Robinson Stephens (1818-1873)
Agness married William Franklin Henderson (1811-1890)

Benjamin married Margaret Only Wardlaw in SC
1- James Benjamin Waller Stephens, Sr (1834-1865
James married Lydia Mariah Briggs (1834-1912)

2) Dorothy Waller Stephens (1802-1844)
Dorothy married Zachary Merriwether Logan Sr (1795-1872)
1- Elizabeth Jane Logan (1822-)
2- Andrew Lewis Logan (1822-)
3- Zachary Merriwether Logan Jr (1824-1892)
4- Benjamin Stephens Logan (1826-1854)
5- Agnes Jane Logan (1828-1856)
6- Nancy Ann Logan (1830-1855)
7- Dorothy Evaline Logan (1833-1905)
8- John Frederick Logan (1834-1889)
9- Sarah Huldah Daniels Logan (1840-1925)

B. Edmund married Jane L Griffin (1788-1839) in 1812

1) John Franklin Stephens (1813-1884)
2) Ezekiel Peacock Stephens (1819-1899)
3) Robert F Stephens (1824-)

4) Elizabeth Stephens (1826-)

5) Mary Stephens (1828-)

6) Agnes Stephens (1830-1856)

2. Benjamin Stephens, Jr (1779-1855)
Benjamin married Agnes Nelson (1782-1865) on 28May1799 - St Thomas Parish,
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Orange County, Va

1) James Nelson Stephens (1800-1888)

2) William Robinson Stephens (1802-1865)
3) Richard Stephens (1806-1872)

4) Louisiana Stephens (1810-1845)

5) Hiram Stephens (1812-1875)

6) Thomas Paine Stephens (1817-1889)

7) John Quincy Adams Stephens (1819-1837)
8) Benjamin Stephens (1823-1874)

Waller Stephens (1781-1815)

Waller married Lucy Adams (1786-1857) on 29Jun1801 in Orange County, Va
1) Elizabeth Waller Stephens (1804-1877)

2) Thomas A Stephens (1808-)

3) William Edmund Stephens (1811-1856)

William R. Stephens (1782-1873) - died Monroe County, Mo

William married Elizabeth Louise Nelson (1786-1854) on 29Dec1803 in Va
1) Agnes Nelson Stephens (1804-1871)

2) Thomas N Stephens (1808-1886)

3) Lunsford L Stephens (1813-1859)

4) Absalom W Stephens (1815-1880)

Richard Stephens (1783-1842) - died in Cleburne County, AL

(family lore was that he went to Brazil)

Richard married Frances Mott (1789-1851) on 19Dec1808 in Lancaster, Va
- No record of children

John A Stephens (2Mar1785-5May1856)
John married Frances M. Falconer (1791-1847) on 5Apr1809
1) Harriett F Stephens (1811-1830)

2) Albert Stephens (1813-1892)

3) Mary Jane Stephens (1813-1897)

4) Jackson Stephens (1815-1890)

5) Almeda Stephens (1816-1896)

6) Americus Stephens (1818-1860)

7) Eliza Stephens (1819-1907)

8) Dorothy Stephens (1821-1825)

9) Leonard Stephens (1823-1840)

10)  Francis Marion Stephens (1825-1904)
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11) John Stephens (1826-1913)
12)  Joseph Stephens (1829-1872)
13)  Benjamin Stephens (1831-1920)

7. Nancy Jane Waller Stephens (9Jan1787-8Apr1872)
Nancy married Thomas Sandford (1786-1855) on 7Apr1808 in Campbell, KY
1) Pamela Sandford (1809-1872)
2) Mary Ann Sandford (1810-)
3) Benjamin Sandford (1811-1867)
4) Catherine Sandford (1812-1887)
5) Richard Sandford (1815-)
6) William Jasper Sandford (1825-1881)

8. Mary Waller 'Polly’ Stephens (1788-1868)
Mary married Benjamin H Herndon (1786-1839) on 110ct1805 in Orange
County, Va
1) Columbus Herndon (-)
2) Eliza Ann Herndon (-)
3) Waller Stephens Herndon (1807-1874)
4) Zachariah Herndon (1811-1884)

9. (General) Leonard Stephens (10Mar1791-8Mar1873)
Leonard married Catherine Sanford (1795-1843) on 19Aug1813
1) Napoleon Bonaparte Stephens (1814-1886)
2) Ann C Stephens (1816-1816)
3) Statira Bonaparte Stephens (1817-1902)
4) Lucien Bonaparte Stephens (1819-1899)
5) Lucy Waller Stephens (1823-1847)
6) Edmund Waller Stephens (1825-1854)
7) Thomas Stephens (1830-1831)

Comments on Dorothy Jemina Waller's Find-a-Grave website

Dorothy's paternal grandfather, John Waller, was born 23Feb1673. He emigrated from
Buckinghamshire, England to King & Queen County, Virginia. He arrived before May
1696 when he bought 1,039 acres of land in Pamunkey Neck from Elias Downes. In
1701, this became King William County. John Waller married Dorothy King and built
his home Enfield on this land. He died in Spotsylvania County in September 1754.
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Interestingly, Dorothy Jemima's brother, William Edmund Waller, married Mildred
Smith who was the daughter of Stephen Smith and Phoebe Hawkins. The second wife of
Stephen Smith was Blessing Stephens, the mother of Benjamin Stephens (Dorothy
Jemima'’s husband). So, William Edmund Stephens married the stepsister of Benjamin
Stephens.

Dorothy Jemina Waller's Siblings:
1. John Waller (1741-1802)
2. William Edmund Waller (1747-1830)
3. Benjamin Waller (1749-1835)
4. Dorothy Jemima Waller (1756- )

Per Benjamin Stephens monuments page

The lineage of Benjamin Stephens, Jr is shrouded in mystery. His mother was Blessing
Stephens, daughter of William & Sarah Stephens of Orange County, Virginia. His father
died in 1767.

Blessing became the second wife of Stephen Smith on 4Jul1773 when Benjamin was 19.
Court documents show that Smith and his two brothers were also known by the last name
of Noblet. The day before their marriage Blessing Stephens and Stephen Smith entered
into a more or less equal contract (i.e., prenuptial agreement) whereby each agreed to
respect one another's property and to manage and dispose of it as each saw fit. Stephen
Smith was 58 and Blessing was about 20 years younger than he. Many efforts have been
made to determine Smith's exact relation to Benjamin Stephens, Jr - to no avail.

Benjamin Stephens, Jr married Dorothy Jemima Waller in 1775. They lived on a hilltop
hear the home of Stephen and Blessing Smith on Riga Run, about one mile north of
Orange Springs in Orange County, VA. In 1779 the legislature of Virginia appointed Dr
Thomas Walker and Daniel Smith to join with Richard Henderson and William Bailey
Smith of North Carolina to draw the boundary of the territories of Kentucky and
Tennessee westward. The two components parted in dispute and Walker ran the line to
the Tennessee River. The boundary deflected 17 miles north and there was much ado
about this for many years. Benjamin Stephens was appointed as a guard for the
expedition and disappeared into the wilderness, leaving a wife with 3 or 4 small sons. It
was a bitterly cold winter and a ruptured endeavor. It is not known how long he stayed
on the job. We know that in September 1757, two individuals Stephen Smith & Stephen
I.K. Smith of Orange County were employed to survey a road past Pine Stake Church to
the Spotsylvania line. It is not altogether surprising to see that Benjamin Stephens was
appointed to serve with the Walker party. His stepfather was a surveyor.
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Meanwhile, there was a migration from Orange and Spotsylvania to South Carolina and
Georgia. Two of Dorothy Stephens' brothers, John Waller and Leonard James Mourning
Waller were Baptist preachers who joined a group of impressive size. The intent was to
tame and settle this section of the new nation. (Note: Tina Henderson Robinson of
Virginia says she has found evidence this mass migration was in response to
Government's offer of free land in return for 'evangelizing the heathen'.) The Wallers,
Nelsons, and others left Virginia about 1793. Four sons of Benjamin and Dorothy
Stephens followed within a few years: Richard Stephens, Waller Stephens, Edmund
Waller Stephens, and Benjamin Stephens, Jr. Most of what is known about this period
was told by a Stephens slave, Aunt Milly.

Shortly after the younger Benjamin, Jr and his wife Agnes Nelson Stephens arrived in
South Carolina there was what Milly termed 'serious trouble'. Benjamin, Sr and his
youngest son Leonard went south on the Great National Road to "bring them out”. The
nature of the trouble has not been determined but it is known that Agness Smith
Robinson (first wife of Edmund Waller Stephens) died there. It is also known that
members of the first group of settlers suffered for years from a disease similar to malaria.

Edmund Waller Stephens and his younger brother Benjamin, Jr did not return to Virginia
but resided in SC for several years before migrating to northern Kentucky (in 1829).
Their father returned to Orange County were, on 60ct1805, he sold his land in Riga and
settled the estate of Stephen Smith. Probate documents also suggest his mother had died.
Very soon after this, Benjamin and Dorothy emigrated to Kentucky, staying for about
two years in the vicinity of Bryan's Station in Fayette County before deciding to take land
in that part of Campbell County which become Kenton County in 1840. Their children
John, Nancy Jane Waller, Mary Waller & Leonard Stephens were with them.

Per H.E. Ryle notes: "Sometime after 250c¢t1805, Benjamin, Dorothy, and most of the
children moved to Kentucky, near Bryant's station. In 1802, Benjamin, Jr & Edmund and
their families go to South Carolina (Edgefield District). Circa 1807, Benjamin Sr and Jr
(back from SC), William, Leonard, and John moved by the Ridge Road toward the north
to the Ohio River (on Gunpowder Creek).

No mention of Edmund returning to Kentucky. Richard is mentioned in his father's will
(1839) and family lore says he went to Brazil (however, census records indicate he
emigrated to Greene County, AL, married, and raised a family there). In 1810, William
and family moved to Monroe County, Missouri. Waller seems to have stayed in Orange
County, Virginia where, in 1798, he bought land on Wizel Run.
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Tombstones - Benjamin Stephens and Dorothy Waller in Stephens Family Cemetery
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9.18

Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents
(father/mother/father/father/father/mother)

Husband

Marriage

Wife

Rev William John Robinson

Date: 27Janl757

Agness Smith

DOB: 25Mar1709

Location: St Thomas
Parish, Spotsylvania,
Orange County, Va

DOB: 1738

City/State: Hewick Plantation,
Ubrana, Middlesex County, Va

Children

City/State: Newport,
Spotsylvania County, Va

Residence: 1737 - Orange
County, Va

Agness Smith Robinson
(1779-1802)

Residence:

Date of Death: 5May1792

Date of Death: 5May1792

Cemetery: Sharon Cemetery,
Middleburg, Loudoun County,

Cemetery: Sharon Cemetery,
Middleburg, Loudoun County,

Va Va

City, State: Spotsylvania City, State: Spotsylvania
County, Va County, Va

Father: Father:

Hon. John Robinson Esq
(1683-1749)

of Stubbs Hall, Lancashire,
England

d: Essex County, VA

Stephen Smith
(1710-1799)

Mother:
Catherine Beverley
(1884-1726)

Mother:
Phoebe Hawkins
(1722-1770)

NOTES

NOTES

Edmund Stephens marriage record (in Orange
County, Vain 1796) lists his spouse's name as
'Agness Robinson".

Note: Agness may be spelled with two 's'.
George believes this is the link would prove
that Agness Smith is GGrandmother and
Agness Robinson is Grandmother of Agness R.
Stephens - wife of William Franklin Henderson
in Greene County, AL

William was a member of the 9th and 5th
Virginia Regiments, Colonel of Militia during
the Revolutionary War. He also supplied beef
and blacksmith services to the Army.

On 9Dec1795, the Widow Agness sold 62
acres of land in Spotsylvania County, Vato
Roger Tandy for $288.

As of 25Jan1742, Rev Robinson was a
professor of Latin, Greek, and Commissary at
the William and Mary College.

Note: Tina Henderson Robinson believes this
Roger Tandy is the same person listed as a
Charter member of Beulah Baptist Church in
Ralph, AL.
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Descendants of Rev William Robinson

A. William Robinson married Agatha Beverley (1716-1726) on 17Feb1737 in Urbana,
Middlesex County, Va

1. Agatha Robinson (1737-1812)
Agatha married William Sims (1730-1797) on 2Feb1761 in Abermarle
County, Va
1) Joanna Sims (1761-1852)
2) Nancy Sims (1763-1821)
3) John Sims (1765-1798)
4) William Sims (1766-1838)
5) Rosemond Sims (1766-)
6) Annester 'Ann’ Sims (1768-1846)
7) Agatha Sims (1770-1861)
8) Francis Sims (177-1832)
9) Mary Sims (1773-1864)

2. John Robinson (1738-1798)
John married Lucy Smith (1738-1823) on 24Nov1756 in Orange County,
Va
(Note: Lucy Smith was sister of wife of Rev John Robinson)
1) William Robinson (1758-1825)
2) Stephen Robinson (1760-)
3) Phoebe Robinson (1760-)
4) Henry Harry Robinson (1762-1818)
5) Dolly Waller Robinson (1763-1816)
6) Agatha Robinson (1765-)
7) John Robinson (1767-1818)
8) Robert Robinson (1772-)
9) John C Robinson (1772-1835)
10)  Beverley Robinson (1774-1856)
11)  Lewis Robinson (1776-)
12)  Thomas Robinson (1778-1867)
13)  Simeon Robinson (1780-)
14)  Hiram Robinson (1780-)
15)  Arthur Robinson (1784-)
16)  Joseph Robinson (1686-1848)

3. Henry Harry Robinson (1740-30ct1771)
Henry married Elizabeth Pierce (1744-1802) in 1761
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1) John Robinson (1767-1836)
2) William Robinson (1769-)
3) Beverley Robinson (1771-1824)

Katherine Robinson (20Jul1742-1789)

Katherine married Beverley Winslow (1734-1793) in 1757 in Va
1) Benjamin Winslow (1759-1776)

2) Agatha Beverly Winslow (1760-1776)

3) Elizabeth Winslow (1760-1829)

4) Thomas Winslow (1764-1784)

5) William Winslow (1766-1838)

6) Mary Winslow (1773-1801)

7) Catherine Robinson Winslow (1776-1851)

8) Susanna Robinson Winslow (1778-1781)

Benjamin Robinson (1744-1825)

Benjamin married Mildred Malinda Burbridge (1745-1811) in Oct 1771 in
Spotsylvania County, Va

1) James Robinson (1773-1845)

2) Nancy Robinson (1775-)

3) Mary Robinson (1776-1861)

4) Polly Robinson (1776-1851)

5) John Ellis Robinson (1779-1862)

6) Margaret Robinson (1781-)

7) Benjamin Robinson (1785-)

8) Charles Robinson (1787-)

9) Susan Robinson (1789-)

10)  Jesse Robinson (1803-1884)

Benjamin married Agnes O'Neal (1775-1843) in Aug1811 in Lincoln
County, KY

Samuel Robinson (1748-1792+)
- No record of marriage

B. William Robinson (1708-1792) married Agness Smith (1738-1792) on 27Jan1757 in
Spotsylvania County, Va

1.

Benjamin Robinson (17Sep1752-24Nov1825)
If DOB and marriage date are correct, then birth appears to have been
illegitimate)
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Benjamin married Catherine Robinson (1783-1854)

1) Ann Parker Robinson (1785-1809)

2) William Parker Robinson (1787-1826)

3) Elizabeth Robinson (1788-1867)

4) Nancy Robinson (1790-1857)

5) Winslow L Robinson (1794-1875)

6) Agnes S Robinson (1797-1835)

7) Parthena Catherine Robinson (1799-1830)
8) Francis Franklin Robinson (1803-1860)
9) Simeon P Robinson (1805-1869)

10)  Susan Mary Robinson (1805-)

Agness Robinson (1760-1802)
Agness married Edmund Waller Henderson (1777-1884)
1) Benjamin Waller Stephens (1797-1855)
Benjamin married Margaret 'Peggy’ Wardlaw (1794-1880)
2) Dorothy Waller Stephens (1802-1844)
Dorothy married Zachary Logan (-)

Lucy Robinson (1762-1792)

Lucy married James Joseph Nelson (1760-1825) on 3May1781 in
Spotsylvania County, Va

1) Agnes Nelson (1782-1865)

2) William Nelson (1784-1844)

3) Elizabeth Nelson (1786-1854)

4) James Nelson (1789-1858)

Christopher Robinson (1764-1765)
- Died as an infant

Francis Robinson (2Mar1765-31Dec1840)

Francis married Mary Emily Ann Terrell (1771-1840) on 18Feb1788 in
Orange County, Va

Francis was born in Spotsylvania County, VA

1) Keturah Ann Robinson (1789-1812)

2) Frances Robinson (1791-1859)

3) Lucy Robinson (1793-)

4) Samuel Robinson (1795-1867)

5) Benjamin Robinson (1798-1874)
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6) Elizabeth Robinson (1800-1839)

7) Mary Frances Robinson (1802-1889)

8) Agnes Smith Robinson (1804-1856)

9) Catherine Beverley Robinson (1806-1870)
10)  Nancy Ann Terrell Robinson (1807-1883)
11)  Sarah T Robinson (1809-)

12)  Ellender Robinson (1811-)

13)  William Terrell Robinson (1813-1863)
14)  Jane Robinson (1815-)

Elizabeth Robinson (1770-1830)

Elizabeth married William Nelson (1766-1821) on 14Apr1788 in Louisa
County, Va

1) Robinson Nelson (1789-1859)

2) Phoebe Nelson (1791-1846)

3) Frances Nelson (1794-)

4) Agnes Nelson (1796-1837)

5) William Nelson (1799-1876)

6) ary Polly Nelson (1800-)

7) Beverley R Nelson (1803-1887)

John Robinson (24Jul1772-1835)

John married Elizabeth Holmes (1774-1830) in 1789
1) Sarah Robinson (1794-1862)

2) George W Robinson (1799-1870)

John married ?? on 6May1797 in Baltimore, Md
1) John O Robinson (1800-1897)

2) Nancy Robinson (1804-1825)

3) Jesse Robinson (1809-1895)

4) Thomas Robinson (1811-)

5) Andrew Jackson Robinson (1812-1897)
6) Matthew M Robinson (1815-1894)
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ROBINSON, WILLIAM Ancestor #: A097787 Service: VIRGINIA Rank: PATRIOTIC
SERVICE Birth: 3-25-1709 MIDDLESEX CO VIRGINIA Death: 5-5-1792
SPOTSYLVANIA CO VIRGINIA Service Source: ABERCROMBIE & SLATTEN, VA
REV PUB CLAIMS, VOL 3, P 855, 864 Service Description: 1) FURNISHED BEEF &
BLACKSMITH WORK

Like most of his male relatives, William served in the militia. Unlike his brother Beverley
who elected to stay loyal to the crown, William was a patriot. He was : "commissioned a
Major of Militia 17 Sept., 1743." He was a "Colonel of Militia in the American
Revolution, Adjutant of the 9th Virginia Regiment and later annexed to the 5th Virginia
Regiment.” (By the time the Revolution got underway, William was in his 60's--but--
even George Washington was in his mid-40's at that time.

William Robinson was a Lt. in the Spotsylvania Co Virginia Militia at the time of the
Revolutionary War. He is in the DAR index. He was in the battle of Hot Water fought on
the 26 of June 1781 not far from Williamsburg Virginia. He was also at the small Battle
of Jamestown. The Revolutionary War pension of Thomas Vines states that he had
marched under Capt Given and Lt. William Robinson to the above stated battles. This
was when Tarleton plundered Charlottesville. They then joined Gen Lafayette's army and
were at the battle of Yorktown. William also supplied the Militia with beef.

William Robinson was a large slave owner. His will has 8 slaves named in the document
and he gave the slaves to his wife and children at the time of his death.

Hewick Plantation in Middlesex County, Va
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History of Hewick Plantation Home

H
istory

Three centuries 3go, in 1678, one of the most significant manor homes in Virginia, originally
named The Grange, was constructed by Christopher Robinson, who had arrived in the Colony
from England about 1666. This home was the gathering piace for many of the important
families of Virginia who helped shape the colony into the commonwealth it would eventually
become

His son, Christopher Robinson ll, upon inheriting the estate, renamed the plantation Hewick for
the Robinson ancestral home in England. Christopher Robinson Il was Cierk of Middlesex
County and served in the House of Burgesses. He was a member of the Kings Council
appointed the Secretary of Foreign Plantations and was an original Trustee of the College of
William and Mary

Old accounts of Hewick describe it as being located amidst beautiful trees, with a Iane lined by
sixty ancient 03ks on each side, leading to the house. and with beautiful lawns bordered by the
poplar boxwood. it was a3 village unto itself with 3 blacksmith, carpenter, cobbler, and butcher
shops to take care of the plantaticn needs. The slave quarters were near the river where there
were docks for the loading shipments of tobacco to England and receiving manufactured
goods. The grounds included gardens and orchards, family burial grounds, spring and spring
house

Hewick was 3 gathering place for the Robinsons, Wormsleys, Beverleys, Braxtons, and others
to discuss the affairs of the Nation they were helping to build. With all the strength and elegance
today as it epitomized three centuries ago. itis indeed 3 monument to the past where these
men met "Who first placed the name of Virginia on the maps of all the civilized world and Iaid
the foundation for her greatness”

Hewick is currently undergoing an extensive restoration. The plantation grounds are available
as a full service wedding and eventvenue. offering simple elegance in an historical setting. itis
listed in the Virginia Historic Landmarks Register and on the National Register of Historic
Places
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Built in 1678 by Christopher Robinson who arrived in the VVa. Colony from England
about 1666. His son Christopher, named it Hewick for the Robinson ancestral home in
England.

Hewick, which appears on the National Register of Historic Places for the county of
Middlesex in Virginia, was added to the register on 17 Nov 1978. It is northwest of the
town of Urbanna at 37'38'26N 76'35'15W. It was named for the British Robinson estate
near Cleasby, a village and civil parish in the Harrogate district of North Yorkshire,
England, about two miles east of Ripon. Hewick, one of the most significant manors in
Virginia, was the home of the Robinson family in Virginia and was constructed by the
immigrant Christopher Robinson (1645-1692/3) in 1678. He served the colony in the
House of Burgesses (1685-1692; was a member of the Governor's Council 1691
(equivalent to elevation to the House of Lords in England); was secretary of state of the
colony (1691-1692); was a member of the board of trustees at the founding of the College
of William and Mary (1693); was appointed Councillor and Secretary of Foreign
Plantations by King William Il of England (1692); and served as senior vestryman and
warden of Christ Church Parish, Middlesex County, Virginia. He was one of the best
known residents of the colony. His home was the gathering place for many of the
important families of Virginia, families who in time helped shape the colony into the
commonwealth and state it eventually became. The master of Hewick and the owners of
Rosegill, Brandon, and Buckingham, three other important estates along the shores of the
Rappahannock River in Middlesex, were considered among the most intellectual men
living in Virginia. They were referred to as "Barons of the Rappahannock River."

The son of Christopher I, John Robinson (1683-1749), who was named acting governor
of Virginia in 1749 upon the departure of Governor Gooch to England, was born in the
house. His son, Christopher Robinson 11 (1703-1738), upon inheriting the estate,
renamed the plantation "Hewick" for the ancestral home in England. His brother was the
Honorable John Robinson (1704-1766), Treasurer of Virginia and speaker of the House
of Burgesses in Williamsburg for seven sessions (1738-1765). Carter Braxton (1736-
1797), a signer of the Declaration of Independence, married Judith Robinson,
granddaughter of the original owner, Christopher.

Sir John Beverley Robinson (1791-1863), probably the most distinguished Canadian of
the 19th century, was a descendant of Christopher Robinson of Middlesex County,
Virginia. He became one of the governors of Upper Canada, and was eventually known
as Chief Justice Sir John Beverley Robinson, Bart.

Hewick is on the National Register of Historic Places and the Virginia Landmarks
Register of Historic Places. The plantation still consists of 66 acres within walking
distance of the original 1680 port town of Urbanna. An article can be found in The
William and Mary Quarterly, VVol. 1, Series 2, page 134, 1921. Christopher Robinson,
one of the first trustees of William and Mary College, with his home "Hewick on the
Rappahannock™ featured in Colonial Williamsburg, the journal of the Colonial
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Williamsburg Foundation in the Spring, 1995, issue, pp. 34-38. (See "For gods sake
refuse not," by Harold B. Gill, Jr. The last page features an aerial photo of Hewick
Plantation. The Bishop of Bristol, later the Bishop of London, was the brother of
Christopher Robinson of Virginia. His portrait, labeled Rev. John Robinson, D.D., hangs
at Fulham Palace in England.

Historical Marker N-45, the marker for Hewick, is located on 1-17 in Middlesex County,
Virginia, and reads: "Three Miles east of Hewick, built about 1678 by Christopher
Robinson, Clerk of Middlesex County, it was the birthplace of John Robinson, Speaker of
the House of Burgesses and Treasurer of Virginia, 1738-1766, the leading man of the
colony! Hewick has been lived in continuously since 1678 by Robinson descendants until
2005."

Stringtown

The Stringtown community lies along the watershed that in former days was called the
"dividing ridge.” Rainfall along the ridge flowed north to Crooked Creek in Grant
County or south to Raven's Creek in Harrison County. The families settled along three
different paths or roads, a feature that may have suggested the name Stringtown. Today
the three roads are listed as the Stringtown-Corinth, the Stringtown-Webber, and
Kentucky Highway 36 East - formerly the Old Leesburg Pike. The first settlers, the
Thompson and Robinson families, migrated from Virginia. They joined a wagon train for
the sake of safety and arrived along the Grant County-Harrison County line about 1818.
The new arrivals included Francis and Mary Terrell Robinson , their son-in-law, Thomas
Thompson, and his wife, Frances Robinson, several children of each couple, and twenty-
five slaves. Also with them was a tiny girl who was discovered early one morning in one
of their wagons. After an unsuccessful search for her family, she was brought up as a
Thompson. Francis Robinson chose land on the south side of the "dividing ridge" about
one-half mile from the Old Leesburg Pike. He built a huge log house for his family and
built several cabins for the slaves. The total number of Robinson children was fourteen -
three sons and eleven daughters.

For a burial ground the Robinson family used their own front yard for family members
and also for slaves. The Robinson Cemetery was not established until forty-four years
after the two families settled near the "dividing ridge." The unmarked grave of Francis
Robinson lies beneath a clump of bushes in the former Robinson yard on the Stringtown-
Webber Road.

In July 1862, Benjamin Robinson and his son William Benjamin marked off a generous
plot of land on the west side of the mud road for a family cemetery. A few days later,
William Benjamin rode horseback to Cynthiana on business - a distance of approximately
twenty miles. On that day Morgan's Raiders invaded Cynthiana; William was hit by a
stray bullet and died a few days later, July 17, 1862. Thus, William Benjamin became
the first person to occupy a grave in the new cemetery.
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The Dunn Cemetery, slightly north of the Robinson Cemetery was established on land
donated by Abraham Dunn, who had married Agnes Robinson in 1822 (daughter of
Francis Robinson). The plot includes many graves of the Dunn descendants but has often
been used by distant relatives and neighbors.

According to oral history, Thomas Thompson purchased two thousand acres of land on
the north side of the dividing ridge for twenty-five cents an acre. For his home site, he
chose a hollow near a spring at the foot of a hill. A half-mile ridge that branched off
from the Leesburg Pike led to the house in the hollow. As each son or daughter married,
Mr. Thompson gave the couple a plot of land and a slave and built a cabin in the vicinity
of his own house. In time, his dwelling was encircled with the cabins of his children.
Until recent years "the original Thompson home site could be recognized by the circle of
chimneys that remained standing long after the buildings had collapsed”. The five
Thompson daughters married into families with the well-known names of Daugherty,
Denny, Dunn, Harris, and Ramey. According to family accounts, the Thompson couple
had sixty-six grandchildren. Although Mr. Thompson established a cemetery at the north
end of the ridge, at least five of his ten children usually clung to the old custom and
buried their dead in their own front yards.

A son, Napoleon B. Thompson, established the Thompson and Skinner Cemetery at his
home on Denny Road. The first marked burial there was that of his wife, Sarah Elizabeth
Barnes Thompson, 1829-1878, a sister to Samuel Barnes of Stringtown and Charles
Wesley Barnes of Cartersville, and a granddaughter of Harrison County's Revolutionary
veteran John Barnes. She was, according to Barnes genealogists, Ms. Byron and Ms.
Pease, born in Danville, Vermillion County, Illinois, where probate records gave Family
Bible birth dates. She came to brother Samuel's Stringtown home in 1846 after her
parents Oliver and Mary Brown Barnes died. Her 1847 marriage to Napoleon B.
Thompson brought them four children, with three of them (Mary, John and Ada) also
being buried in this graveyard. This cemetery has thirteen marked burials spanning 88
years (1889-1966), with at least ten unmarked graves.

The name of Thomas (Tommy T. Thompson) has been perpetuated by his countless
descendants and until recent years by the annual Thompson-Robinson reunion at
Stringtown. Nellie Thompson Hill (now deceased) provided the following story to
explain the slight change in Thomas Thompson's name -- When the two families arrived
in the area that became Stringtown, a tribe of Indians lived at Cordova. The Indians were
friendly and shared their knowledge of medicinal herbs. As a result, the two large
families never required a doctor except in times of childbirth. The chief suggested that
Mr. Thompson insert an additional "T" in his name to bring good luck and promised that
his name would never die. The "T" may have been in honor of the Famous Indian
warrior Tecumseh who had been killed in 1813 during the War of 1812. Mr. Thompson
accepted the chief's suggestion and from that time until the present he has been called
Tommy T. Thompson. Thus far, his name has endured for more than two hundred years
from the of his birth October 22, 1787, and his name is always spoken or listed before the
name of this father-in-law, Francis Robinson.
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In his account of the Thompson-Robinson family, the late Milford Readnower stressed
the number of schoolteachers, doctors, lawyers, and politicians among the descendants.
A son James Henry Thompson served Grant County as a judge and as a superintendent of
schools - five grandsons became doctors - including Dr. W. H. Daugherty, a prominent
citizen of Corinth. A Thompson daughter who married William Denny has ten
daughters, all of whom became teachers.

The first Stringtown school was a log building near the junction of Denny Road with the
Leesburg Pike. The one-half acre of land was donated by W. H. Morgan and wife. The
first trustees were James C. Ruddle, Thomas J. Oder, and William Denny, a grandson of
Tommy T. Thompson. When the log school was replaced by a white frame building
about 1909-1910, the first teacher was Nannie Mae Stone Lowe, of Cordova and
Williamstown, now one hundred and one years ago. In 1926, the school was abandoned.
Stringtown children were picked up by a school bus and transported to the new Corinth
Consolidated School.

The first recorded business in Stringtown was that of Samuel Barnes who, with his wife
Sara Dunn Barnes, kept a tavern at his home "thirteen to fourteen miles southwest of
Williamstown" according to tavern licenses issued for 1852 and 1853. After he died in
1856 at age 46, he along with his fifteen year old daughter Malissa became the first
marked burials in the Samuel Barnes Cemetery on the east side of the road one-half mile
from the Stringtown Church. This cemetery was inventoried in 1989 and contained 35 to
40 unidentified graves plus a 1914 Patterson and a 1924 Dunaway burial. In 1859 Mr.
Barnes' widow, guardian of their four underage children, an an experienced
businesswoman, married Alexander William, a grocer with a liquor license in Cordova.

The best known business in the history of Stringtown was the general store of Newt and
Lute Dunn. The small store was a part of their dwelling at the intersection of the
Stringtown-Corinth Road and the Old Leesburg Pike. The Dunn's store with no
refrigeration carried only non-perishable foods and other household needs. After a few
automobiles appeared in the vicinity, the Dunns installed a gas pump operated by a
handle; a glass bulb at the top showed the number of gallons; the cost was twenty cents
per gallon.

The Stringtown Christian Church was the first and only congregation ever established at
Stringtown. Organized July, 1848 by Minister Cyrus H. Williams, the first elders were
Perry Wheat, Leonard Barker, T. S. Oder, and James Dunaway. The first deacons were
Abraham Dunn (who had married Agnes Robinson), J. M. See, and John Colson. The
first building was log; the first person baptized was Elizabeth Robinson.

In 1877, a white frame church was built on land donated by Elizabeth's father, Benjamin
Robinson, who seemingly stipulated that the church be called "Elizabeth.” The new
sanctuary was thirty feet wide and fifty feet long. Short benches were placed on each
side with long benches in the middle divided by a partition that ran through the entire
center. Inside the door, men and women separated; men always sat to the right of the
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dividing partition and women to the left. The custom prevailed until the church was
remodeled 76 years later.

During the years before and after 1900, the congregation was fortunate to have a singing
master (teacher) named Luke Stone who taught adults, young people, and children how to
sing in harmony. His only musical instrument was a pitch pipe, and the tiny song books
without notes contained only the words and the key, yet most of the people in the church
were able to sing parts. When permission to use a musical instrument other than a tuning
fork was granted about 1900, the congregation purchased an organ; at some time later,
the Ladies Aid obtained a piano.

On November 21, 1954, the church celebrated its 105th anniversary with a dedication
service for the new improvements. Seventeen years after the remodeling, May 1971, the
church was struck by lightning and burned to the ground. All improvements and
furnishings were completely destroyed. Under the supervision of the church officer,
Harold Milner, a new brick church was built with labor donated by members. Furnishings
were replaced with help from other churches, and from the Corinth Fire Department. The
new church was dedicated in 1972; the building was insured. Approximately one year
later, June 27, 1973, the new brick church building was also struck by lightning and
destroyed. Using the same plans with a few improvements, Harold Milner built a second
church. This time lightning rods were installed. The building was dedicated May 12,
1974.
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9.19 Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents

(father/mother/father/father/mother/father)

Husband

Marriage

Wife

John B Wardlaw, Sr

Date: 1759

Margaret 'Peggy' Ann Moore

DOB: 12Janl1737

Location: Abbeville
County, Greenwood, SC

DOB: 1738

City/State: Rockbridge,
Augusta County, Va

City/State: Augusta County, Va

Residence: 1757-1766 - Children Residence:
Augusta County, Va
Residence: 1767+ - William C 'Chunky Bill' Residence:

Donalds, Abbeville County,
SC

Wardlaw
(1762-1840)

Date of Death: 5Apr1791

Date of Death: 1780

Cemetery: Greenville
Presbyterian Church
Cemetery, Abbeville, SC

Cemetery: Greenville
Presbyterian Church Cemetery,
Abbeville, SC

City, State: Donalds,

City, State: Donalds, Abbeville

Abbeville County, SC County, SC
Father: Father:
William Wardlaw, Sr John Moore
(1700-1762) (1735-1798)
Mother: Mother:

Jane (or Janet) Harper
(1710-1762)

Mary Ann Ellett
(1740-1798)

Notes

Records suggest that John and Margaret lived near each other in Augusta County, Va during their
youth where they fell in love. Her family moved to Abbeville, SC. John went to SC and married
her in 1759. They returned to Augusta County, Va and lived there until about 1767 when the

couple moved to Donalds, Abbeville County, SC.

Note: While still living in Augusta County, Va. John must have had an official position with the
local Court System. Such a position is supported by the large number of legal documents (i.e.,
land, marriage, and probate) which John signed over a period of only eight years.
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Descendants of John B Wardlaw, Sr
A. John B Wardlaw, Sr married Margaret Ann 'Peggy' Moore (1738-1780) in 1759

1. John B Wardlaw, Jr (1760-1804)

John married Jane Bowman (1751- )

1) William Bowman Wardlaw (1784- )

2) Margaret Wardlaw (1786- )
Margaret married James Devlin (1780-1849)
1- Elizabeth Jane Devlin (1805-1844)

3) Sallie Wardlaw (1788-)

4) Samuel Wardlaw (1790- )

5) John Wardlaw (1792- )

2. William 'Chunky Bill' C Wardlaw (1762-1840)

William married Mary Lydia Heard (1770-1812)

1) Lydia Wardlaw (-)

2) Malinda Wardlaw (-)

3) Margaret 'Peggy’ Only Wardlaw (1794-1880)
Margaret married Benjamin Waller Stephens (1797-1850) in 1826 in SC

4) John Lewis Wardlaw (-)

5) Thomas H Wardlaw (-)

6) Zachary Wardlaw (-)

7) Margaret Wardlaw (-)

8) William M Wardlaw (1806-1837)
William married Nancy ?? (1795-1850)

3. Samuel Wardlaw (1763-1813)

Samuel married ?? Reid (-)
1) Elizabeth Wardlaw (1799- )
2) George Wardlaw (1799-1860)

George married Marina Ross (1804- )

1- Harriett Marina (1835-1905)

Harriett married James Sutlive (1829- )

3) Jane Wardlaw (1801- )

4. James Wardlaw (1768-1862)
James married Margaret Wardlaw (1770- )
1) Eliab Allen Wardlaw (1793- )
2) John Moore Wardlaw (1795-1874)
John married Susan Geer (1800- )
3) Hugh Hutson Wardlaw (1797-1869)
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4) Margaret Wardlaw (1799- )
5) Elizabeth Wardlaw (1804-1851)
6) Polly Wardlaw (1806- )

Mary Wardlaw (1770-1800)

Mary married John Wardlaw (1770-1848)
1) Margaret Wardlaw (1796- )

2) Elizabeth Wardlaw (1798- )

3) Jane Ann Wardlaw (1800- )

4) Hugh Hutson Wardlaw (1802- )
5) Vashti Wardlaw (1804- )

6) James Noble Wardlaw (1806- )
7) Lydia Wardlaw (1808- )

8) David Wardlaw (1810- )

Jane Wardlaw (1772-1822)
Jane married John Bowman (-)
1) William Bowman (1794- )

Isabel Wardlaw (1774-1795)
Isabel married William Heard (1769- )

Hugh Hutson Wardlaw (1776-1799)
Hugh married ?? Calvert (1779- )
Hugh married ?? McCleskey (1782- )

B. John Wardlaw Sr (1737-1791) married 2nd wife Lydia Logan (1744-1891) in 1777

1.

Andrew Wardlaw (1782-1812)
Andrew married ?? Caldwell (-)
- No record of children

Margaret 'Peggy' Wardlaw (1784-1839)

Margaret married George Brightman (1787-1873) in 1798 (@ age 14)
1- Susannah C Brightman (-)

Margaret married Alexander Stewart (1787-1873)

1) Margaret Stewart (-)

2) Mary Ann Stewart (-)

3) William Stewart (-)

4) John Alexander Stewart (1821-1870)

Elizabeth Wardlaw (1786-1870)
- No Record of marriage
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4. Hannah Wardlaw (1788-1820)
Hannah married John Christopher Lewis (1785-1838) in 1802 in Abbeville, SC
1) David C Lewis (-)
2) Eliza Ann Lewis (1809-1893)
3) Oliver J Lewis (1811-)
4) Andrew Wardlaw Lewis (1813-)
5) Sarah A Lewis (1815-)
6) Oscar Lewis (1818-1905)

John was a soldier in the Revolutionary War during period of 1779-4Apr1782. He was in
Militia Duty in Charleston, SC. He moved to Abbeville, SC in 1767 and settled on Long
Cane Creek. A land grant for 100 acres dated Nov1769 is recorded in Volume 21, p306
in the Secretary of State Office in Columbia, SC.

Records indicate that John Wardlaw, Sr served under Col Anderson and General Pickens
during the Revolutionary War. According to an application for a veterans Tombstone,
John also served under Major General Sumter.

Per DAR application filed in Oklahoma ~1956, John Wardlaw, Sr and his son John
Wardlaw, Jr fought under Captain Samuel Mecre in the battle of Musgoves' Mill, August
18, 1780. John, Sr fought as a lieutenant while John, Jr fought as a private. War
Department records in Washington, DC show that John Wardlaw, Sr served in the
Revolutionary War as a member of Irwin's Company on duty from 4May1781 to
4Apr1782 under Col Anderson which show that he was on horseback for 3 days. Indent
No. 107 issued 6Jun1785 to Mr John Wardlaw for 84lbs for militia duty before and since
the reduction of Charleston for a horse lost in 1780." Issued 18 Aug1785 to Mr John
Wardlaw, Sr for military duty and wagon service and account from the Comars.

Per 1790 US Census, John Wardlaw, his wife, and one child lived in Abbeville, SC. At
that time, John owned 6 slaves.

Generation 9
Page 9-52



dobim | Themos =

Jowe’ el
recl Caviter) 130 [ aans
e ¥l fR12 03% e $ ALy
00 nas < u..‘;.g.o - 1154 ‘.} v
: " Jabw 0y ™ y
l:fb'l.:‘-t " Kebinran ~8% “I Mmnersan o e —
Jarsed s e 30 Jahn J ‘p oie
\ll"‘“ﬂ e 173 Witsen ey at "q
sy .o s “ AT
} 15) ‘Q endarsgn .
Jann « BHow S — s
8o o : ot % » w Ilr
s 40 ey s X so (W ar
slad eag ey 1 nﬁ.’f iRk — L3t
tvhro;h e I A wwrrs ' T [ A ’
1 e " .
Algn, (R BN ) » = ‘.m‘& LAY
. Al 2
A ey [ S Pt G35 Qardlaw oy, A2
‘én “rin 554 s 6271 1 Ymagae PEY B8
“L /3 {17192 MHyC RS £
ne P Ay =
’ > 14
3 N ~ -
4 "zf‘ oo Srecie )
| 25 "Q. kA
2 Somvol Wiy 31T
Y
|\ S aan Wi\ 170\ onr u\
\. ots a1 60 9 s g
W 3mv4 :.-. Robert
3 ) B2 -~ P":: L:.;‘)’
Arwas : ]
Ity \un;nqu, A ey LA
" e
e S
1 1110 "

ne -

Borden's Grant & Lands Owned by William Wardlaw

Borden's Grant is an area that was settled early in 1700's, situated between Lexington,
Virginia and Staunton, Virginia and west of 1-81. Brownsburg is a little town in Borden's
Grant. Raphine is close by it toward 1-81. Just to the left of James Wardlaw 697 acres
you will see a little Z mark on the creek. That is where Brownsburg is located. Robert
the immigrant's land is not shown on this map, but his land is what Brownsburg was built
on. This is a map showing part of Borden's Grant and lands that William (B1) and his
sons owned. Also a piece of land owned by James Coulter (Coalter), a relative of the
Wardlaws. This is where Robert Wardlaw and his son William first came to America and
settled in the 1720's. New Providence Church, where the Wardlaws went is located on
the large James Wardlaw land (697 acres), on the far right corner.
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Greenville Presbyterian Church Cemetery, Abbeville, SC
(note similarity between tombstones and inscription style)
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Tombstones - John Wardlaw, Sr and 1st wife Margaret Moore
in Greenville Presbyterian Church Cemetery at Abbeville, SC

Tombstone - Lydia Logan Heard Wardlaw Brightman in Greenville Presbyterian Church
Cemetery at Abbeville, SC (note: 'relicit' = ‘widow")
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9.20

Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents
(father/mother/father/father/mother/mother)

Husband Marriage Wife
John Heard, Sr Date: 1769 Lydia Logan
DOB: 1744 Location: 96th District, DOB: 30May1748

Abbeville County, SC

City/State: Sadsbury, Lancaster

City/State: Albany, Albany

County, Pa County, NY
Residence: 1770+ - Abbeville Children Residence:
County, SC

Residence: Mary Lydia Heard Residence:

(1770-1812)

Date of Death: 1777

Date of Death: 1791

Cemetery: Greenville
Presbyterian Church Cemetery,

Cemetery: Greenville
Presbyterian Church Cemetery,

Abbeville, SC Abbeville, SC

City, State: Abbeville, City, State: Donalds, Abbeville
Abbeville County, SC County, SC

Father: Father:

John Heard Il Andrew Hendrick Logan
(1719- ) (1705-1788)

Mother: Mother:

Mary Barnett Alida Lydia Pruyn

(1723- ) (1707-1788)

NOTES

NOTES

John Heard's family must have migrated from
PA to SC sometime prior to 1769 when he was
married there.

Alida Lydia Pruyn was from a Dutch family in
Albany, New York. She (and perhaps her
family) migrated to SC in the 1760s where they
settled near her future husband's family.

John was member of South Carolina militia on
1Jull775.

Lydia Logan (also known as Lydia Felixia
Germain) petitioned for naturalization in
District Court of Southern District, NY.
Presumably, this occurred prior to the family's
migration to SC.
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Descendants of Lydia Logan
A. Lydia Logan (1744-1791) married John Heard, Sr (1744-1777) in 1769

1. Celia Heard (Jan1761-1853)
Celia married William Joseph Brimer (1760-1823)
1) Benjamin Brimer (1781-1850)
2) Mary Brimer (1782-1870)
3) William Nelson Brimer (1797-1870)
4) Joel H Brimer (1798-)
5) James Brimer (1803-1860)
6) Stewart Brimer (1805-1870)
7) Rebecca Brimer (1807-)
8) Elijah Brimer (1810-1861)
9) Samuel Brimer (1814-1869)

2. William Heard (1769-1826)
William married Isabel Wardlaw (1774-1795)
1) Son (1785-)
2) Dau (1790-)

3. James Heard (1769-1808)
- No record of marriage

4. Thomas Heard (1769-15Feb1808)
Thomas married Elizabeth C White (1771-1837) in 1796
1) John W Heard (1798-1852)
2) Isaac Thomas Heard, Sr (1800-1870)
3) Elizabeth Heard (1802-1837)
4) Thomas N Head (1805-1843)

5. Mary Lydia Heard (1770-1812)

Mary married William C Wardlaw (1762-1840) in 1782 in Abbeville

District, SC

1) Thomas H Wardlaw (1785-1829)

2) Zachariah Wardlaw (1785-1829)

3) Joseph Wardlaw (1793-1863)

4) Margaret 'Peggy’ Only Wardlaw (1794-1874)
Margaret married Benjamin Waller Stephens (1797-1850) in 1826
in SC

5) John Lewis Wardlaw (1798-1879)
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6) William M Wardlaw (1804-1837)
7) Elizabeth 'Eliza’ Amanda Wardlaw (1810-1862)

Margaret Heard (1775-1860)

Margaret married Archibald Payne (1755-1810)
1) Margaret Payne (1778-)

2) Benjamin Payne (1780-1860)

3) John B Payne (1791-1860)

4) Lindsey Payne (1792-1875)

5) Isaac Beason Payne (1800-1892)

6) Elizabeth Payne (1802-1850)

7) Elias Payne (1810-1860)

John Heard, Jr Esq (1777-1830)

John married Martha Wood (-1809) on 15Feb1807
1) Son Heard (18010-)

John married Jane Barnard (1790-) on 16Jul1809
- 4 unidentified children born 1810-1825

B. Lydia Logan married John Wardlaw Sr in 1777 in SC
- 2nd marriage for both spouses

1.

Andrew Wardlaw (1782-1812)
Andrew married ?? Caldwell (-)
- No record of children

Margaret Peggy Wardlaw (1784-9Jan1839)

Margaret married Samuel John Caldwell (1761-1818) in 1815
1) Belinda Caldwell (1816-)

2) Sarah Isabelle Caldwell (1817-1891)

3) (Lt Colonel) Thomas Jefferson Caldwell (1818-1866)

Hannah Wardlaw (1788-1820)

Hannah married John Christopher Lewis (1785-1838)
1) David C Lewis (-)

2) Eliza Ann Lewis (1809-1893)

3) Oliver J Lewis (1811-)

4) Sarah A Lewis (1815-)

5) Oscar Lewis (1818-1905)
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C. Lydia Logan married Thomas Brightman, Sr in 1791
- her 3rd husband and his 2nd wife

For lineage of the Logan Family, suggest the following book:

Title: Logan: A directory of the descendants of Andrew and Lydia Logan of Albany,

New York and Abbeville, South Carolina
Edition: 1st Edition

Author: Richard Kent Logan (1952- )
Published: Bowie, MD; Heritage Books, 1994
Description: 329 pages, 21cm

Library of Congress Call No. - CS71.1.821994
Dewey Class No. - 929/2/0973 Ed: 20

LCCN: 94-195438

Tombstone - Lydia Logan Heard Wardlaw Brightman in Greenville, Presbyterian Church
Cemetery at Abbeville, SC (note: 'relicit' = ‘widow")
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9.21 | Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents

(father/mother/father/mother/father/father)

Husband Marriage Wife
James Briggs Date: 1747 Agnes Elizabeth Dell
DOB: 1725 Location: Chowan DOB: 1730

County, NC

City/State: Chowan County, NC City/State: Anson County, NC
Residence: 1766 - Butler Children Residence:
County, AL
Residence: Elkanah Eland Briggs Residence:

(1766-1855)

Date of Death: 1769

Date of Death: 1803

Cemetery: Cemetery:
City, State: Mississippi City, State: Ontario, Canada
Father: Father:

Richard Briggs
(1701-1754)
D: Chowan County, NC

Henry Dell
(1700-1755)
- born & died in NJ

Mother:

Elizabeth ??
(1705-1755)

D: Chowan County, NC

Mother:

Jean Lyon

(1704-1754)

- born in NJ; died in Ontario,
Canada

NOTES

NOTES

Agnes' siblings and mother were living in
Ontario, Canada at time of James Briggs death.
Apparently, Agnes moved to be with her family
following death of her husband in 1769.

Note: George believes that information on this family lineage is suspect - even if 50+
family trees on ancestry.com indicate this lineage. If the DOBs are accurate, then James
was 41 and Agnes was 36 when their only child was born. At that point, they had been
married 19 years before having an only child - possible but not likely. George's best
guess at this point is that Agnes Dell was actually born about 1745 or everyone has
identified the wrong parents for Elkanah Eland Briggs.. Further research is needed.
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9.22 | Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents

(father/mother/father/mother/father/mother)

Husband Marriage Wife
John Harris Date: ~1767 Unknown
DOB: 1746 Location: Chowan DOB:
County, NC
City/State: Virginia City/State:
Residence: 1768 - Chowan Children Residence:
County, NC
Residence: Elizabeth Ann Harris Residence:
(1768-1840)
married
Elkanah Eland Briggs
(1766-1855)
Residence: Residence
Date of Death: 1773 Date of Death:
Cemetery: Cemetery:
City, State: Granville County, City, State:
NC
Father: Father:
Sherwood Harris, Sr
(-1763)
D: Granville County, NC
Mother: Mother:
NOTES NOTES

Sgt John Harris was listed in a 1771 Granville
County NC Militia under Captain James
Yancey's Company at Foot belonging to the
Regiment commanded by Colonel Richard
Henderson. See American Revolution Comp.
by D.A.R. of NC, Durham, NC, 1932. Volume

73, Page # 223.

On 2Mar1754, Richard Briggs (related to para 9.21), named John Harris as one of the
executors of his will. This naming strongly suggests that the Briggs and Harris families
were neighbors in Chowan County, NC in 1754. Incidentally, John Harris (presumably
1730- ) was listed as a resident of Chowan County, NC in 1753 census.

George is concerned that John Harris and unk wife are NOT the parents of Elizabeth

Harris. Further research needed.
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9.23 | Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents
(father/mother/father/mother/mother/father)

Husband Marriage Wife
James Williamson Date: Sarah Bryan
DOB: 1750 Location: DOB: 1751
City/State: South Carolina City/State: Virginia
Residence: Children Residence:
Residence: Jason Williamson Residence:

(1775-1830)

Date of Death: 1797 Date of Death: 1800
Cemetery: Cemetery:
City, State: Darlington County, City, State: Darlington
SC County, SC
Father: Father:
William Williamson
(1730-1767)
Mother: Mother:
Mary Bright
(1735-1767)

NOTES NOTES

Note: George has a problem believing the dates associated with this family. If DOBs are
correct, then Sarah had 1st child at 22, her 2nd child at 39, and her 5th child at 45.
Possible but unlikely. Further research needed.

Notes:

1. Granville County, NC records p118 - James Willliamson and wife Sarah deed to
Samuel Pittard for the land whereon said Williamson now lives - dated 2Feb1779.

2. Granville County, NC records p284. Thomas Williamson, William Williamson,
and James Williamson sold land jointly to the trustees of Ruling Church Elders.

3. Granville County NC records p333. James Williamson of Montgomery County,
VA deed to Thomas Williamson of Granville County, NC for land formerly granted to
said James Williamson.

Generation 9
Page 9-62




Descendants of James Williamson and Sarah Bryan

James Williamson (1750-1796) married Sarah Bryan (1751-1800) in Darlington County,
SC

1. Dicey Williamson (1773-1810)
Dicey married ?? Jones (-)

2. Jason Williamson (1790-1829)
Jason married Sarah Jones (1790-)
1) Sarah Elizabeth Williamson (1811-1886)
Sarah married Michael Micah Briggs (1808-1870)

3. Henry Augustus Williamson (12Dec1792-1892)
Henry married Martha Patsy Joines (1790-1886) in 1812 in Wilson County, SC
1) Darling Bright Williamson (1815-1854)
2) J M Williamson (1815-1854)
3) Rebecca Williamson (1817-)
4) John Williamson (1819-)
5) Elias Williamson (1821-)
6) Kitsy Williamson (1824-)
7) Anslem Anahm Morgan Williamson (1826-1880)
8) Nancy Williamson (1828-)
9) Susan Ella Williamson (1830-1896)
10)  William Wilson Williamson (1833-)

4. Needham Williamson (1793-) - born in Darlington County, SC; died in Covington
County, AL
- No record of marriage

5. Stephen Williamson (1796-1839) - born & died in Darlington County, SC
- No record of marriage

6. Benjamin Williamson (1838-)
Benjamin married Isabella M Williamson (1842-) on 7Aug1862 in Mecklenburg
County, VA
- No record of children

7. Susannah Williamson (1729-14Jul1849)
Susannah married George Cannon (-1813) on 21Aug1794 in SC
1) Sarah Cannon (1796-1858)
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2) William Thomas Cannon (1798-1798)
3) George Pliny Cannon (1799-)
4) Susannah Cannon (1800-)
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9.24 | Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents

(father/mother/father/mother/mother/mother)

Husband Marriage Wife

Unknown Date: Unknown
DOB: Location: DOB:
City/State: City/State:
Residence: Children Residence:
Residence: Sarah Jones Residence:

(1790-)

married

Jason Williamson

(1790-1829)
Date of Death: Date of Death:
Cemetery: Cemetery:
City, State: City, State:
Father: Father:
Mother: Mother:

NOTES NOTES
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9.25 | Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents

(father/mother/mother/father/father/father)

Husband

Marriage

Wife

Aaron Drummond Jr

Date: 5Sepl761

Elizabeth Todd

DOB: 15May1735

Location: Lunenburg

DOB: 250ct1734

County, VA
City/State: Prince William City/State: Essex, Lunenburg
County, VA County, VA
Residence: 1761 - Lunenburg Children Residence:
County, VA
Residence: 1820 - Fauquier David Drummond Residence:

County, VA

(1765-1830)

Date of Death: 13Sepl1787

Date of Death: 100ct1788

Cemetery:

Cemetery:

City, State: Lunenburg County,
VA

City, State: Spartanburg,
Spartanburg County, SC

Father:

Aaron Drummond
(1710-1784)

D: Fauquier County, VA

Father:
Richard Calvin Todd
(1684-1734)

Mother:

Mary Caborne
(1714-1781)

D: Fauquier County, VA

Mother:
Louise Marie (?) Todd
(1697-1759)

NOTES

NOTES

Presumably, the Widow Drummond went to
live with one of her sons in Spartanburg, SC
upon the death of her husband. She died about
13 months after her husbhand's death.
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Descendants of Aaron Drummond and Elizabeth Todd
Aaron Drummond Jr (1735-1785) married Elizabeth Todd (1734-1788) in Virginia

1. Richard Todd Drummond (110ct1762-4Apr1841)
Richard married Mary Polly Johnston (1773-1856)
1) Warren Drummond (1791-1878)

2) Jared Drummond (1793-1874)

3) Elizabeth Drummond (1793-1847)
4) Mary Drummond

5) Rebecca Drummond (1800-1857)
6) Mabel Drummond (1801-)

7) Ephraim Drummond (1802-1887)
8) Delilah Drummond (1804-1873)
9) Martha Drummond (1807-1887)
10)  Simpson Drummond (1811-1889)
11)  Freeman Roland Drummond (1814-1902)
12)  Harrison Drummond (1817-1856)

2. Ephraim Drummond Sr (5Sep1764-19Aug1841)
Ephraim married Mary Polly Johnston (1773-1856)
1) Rev Warren Drummond (1791-1878)

2) Mabel Drummond (1792-1857)

3) Jared Drummond (1793-1874)

4) Elizabeth Drummond (1793-1847)

5) Mary Polly Drummond (Wofford) (1797-1848)
6) Warren Drummond (1798-1878)

7) Rebecca Drummond (1800-1857)

8) Ephraim Drummond (1802-1887)

9) Delilah Drummond (1804-1873)

10)  Martha Drummond (1807-1887)

11)  Rev Simpson Drummond (1811-18890
12)  Freeman Roland Drummond (1812-1902)
13)  Harrison Drummond (1817-1856)

3. David Drummond (1765-1830)
David married Nancy Ann Johnson (1765-1856) on 27Nov1787 in Mecklenburg
County, VA
1) Thomas James Drummond (1800-1870)
Thomas married Isabel Margaret Legg (1805-1875)
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9.26

Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents
(father/mother/mother/father/father/mother)

Husband

Marriage

Wife

James Johnson Sr

Date: 1760

Elizabeth Susannah "Sukey"
Gerrard

DOB: 3Junl743

Location: Mecklenburg
County, VA

DOB: 1741

City/State: Chesterfield County,
VA

City/State: Middlesex County,
VA

Residence: 1762 - Chesterfield Children Residence:
County, VA
Residence: 1764 - Nancy Ann Johnson Residence:

Mecklenburg County, VA

(1765-1856)

Date of Death: 5Nov1784

Date of Death: 1781

Cemetery: Cemetery:

City, State: Mecklenburg City, State: Mecklenburg
County, VA County, VA

Father: Father:

James Johnson
(1707-1785)

William Aaron Kidd Jr
(1700-1740)

Mother: Mother:
Lucy Moorman Elizabeth Thurston Thornton
(1723-1784) (1701-?7)

NOTES NOTES

James served as a soldier in the Revolutionary
War but his pension request was rejected
because he did not serve minimum of six

months.

Elizabeth was baptized 12Apr1747 in the Christ
Church Parish.

One researcher on find-a-grave.com indicates
that James and Elizabeth were cremated rather
than buried - No evidence presented for this

statement.

Johnson.

Elizabeth was a widow when she married James
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Descendants of James Johnson and Elizabeth Sukey Gerrard

James Johnson Sr (1735-1784) married Elizabeth Susannah Gerrard (1747-1790) in VA
(Note: Elizabeth may have been married to husband #1 ?? Kidd)

1. John Johnson (1760-1825)
John married Celia ? (1765-1830)
1) James C Johnson (1782-1815)
2) John Johnson (1788-1833)
3) Francis Johnson (1790-1854)

2. Howell Johnson Sr (18Jan1762-13Jan1846) - b: Family Cemetery at
Spartansburg, SC
Howell married Holly Crowder (1779-) on 230c¢t1796 in Warren County, NC
1) William Leavitte Johnson (1798-1860)
2) James Gilbert Johnson (1800-)
3) Elizabeth Johnson (1803-)
4) Martha Johnson (1804-1878)
5) Bartholomew Greenberry Johnson (1811-1877)
6) Howell C Johnson (1820-)
7) George W Johnson (1828-)

3. James Johnson (1765-1857)
James married Judith Redd (1770-1850)
1) Rachel Johnson (1796-1845)
2) Mary Frances Johnson (1801-1867)
3) Thomas Allen Johnson (1804-1879)
4) James Johnson 11 (1806-)
5) Isaac C Johnson (1806-1887)
6) Sarah Sallie Johnson (1808-1860)
7) John Johnson (1810-1895)
8) Sinia Ann Johnson (1817-1912)

4. Nancy Ann Johnson (1765-1856)
Nancy married David Drummond Sr (1765-1830) on 27Nov1787 in Mecklenburg
County, VA
Note: Records below seem to indicate that Nancy was underage when she
married because James Johnson (her brother & guardian) had to formally approve
her marriage. Uncertain why since Nancy was over 21 years of age when she
married.
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5. Polly Johnson (1767-1850)
Polly married John Frederick Imes (1765-1839)
1) Elizabeth Imes (1785-1869)
2) Rachel Imes (1798-1869)
3) John Imes (1800-1874)
4) William Howard Imes (1809-1862)

6. Elijah Phillip Johnson (1770-1850)
Elijah married Rebecca Durham (1775-1850)
1) John William Johnson (1789-)
2) James Johnson (1790-)
3) George Phillip Johnson (1792-)
4) Mary Johnson (1793-1860)
5) Temperance Johnson (1793-1890)
6) Elizabeth Johnson (1795-1880)
7) Robert M Johnson (1795-1862)
8) Clarissa Clara Johnson (1798-1893)
9) Desiree Johnson (1802-)
10)  Lavina Johnson (1802-1860)
11)  Durham Johnson (1803-1883)
12)  Elijah Alphus Johnson (1806-1865)
13)  Nancy Polly Johnson (1807-)
14)  Elviria Rebecca Johnson (1807-1880)
15)  Hiram Johnson (1808-1868)

Notes from published book "'Descendants of James Johnson, Sr

James Johnson, Sr., b. abt 1740 in Chesterfield County, Virginia, or Scotland, d. Nov 05
1784 in Mecklenburg County, Virginia. The birth place of James Johnson, the father of
Howell Johnson, Sr., has not been ascertained. He was living in Chestefield Co., Va., in
1762, when his son Howell Johnson was born. In about 1764, he moved to Mecklenburg
Co., Va., where he died perhaps some time in Oct. 1784.

On June 9, 1770, James Johnson purchased 200 acres in Mecklenburg County, Virginia
from Batt Crowder, which states the property started at "Atkinson corner stone". On
December 24, 1784, there is recorded in the Mecklenburg County, Virginia Court
Records that property was being surveyed for Elizabeth Johnson, widow and relict of
James Johnson, deceased.

James Johnson wrote his Will May 25, 1779 and it was not probated in Mecklenburg
County, Va., Probate Court until November 8, 1784 in which he names three sons, John
Johnson, the oldest, Howell Johnson and James Johnson, Jr.; which reads: "beginning
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on Atkinsons old line.". However, James Johnson's wife is referred to as "Sukey
Johnson", therefore, this compiler believes this Elizabeth Johnson is the same person as
"Sukey" Johnson as mentioned in the Will of James Johnson.

James Johnson's Will also mentions William Johnson, a son of Phil Johnson, of James
City Co., Va., but there is not mention of any relationship between Phillip Johnson and
James Johnson. However, one can surmise there is some relationship.

Although James Johnson's "Will*" does not mention any daughters, It is recorded in the
Court Records of Meckleburg Co., Va., that James Johnson, Jr., was made guardian on
Dec. 13, 1784 of a Nancy Johnson and Polly Johnson, orphans of James Johnson. It is
also recorded in Mecklenburg Co., Va., marriage records that On Nov. 27, 1787, that
Nancy Johnson married David Drummond (who later also moved to Spartanburg County,
SC., and died there) and that she had written consent from James Johnson (her brother
and guardian) to marry. Howell Johnson was a witness to this marriage. Although
James Johnson Sr., did not take an active part in the military actions during the
American Revolutionary War, he did give supplies to the American Forces, which
qualifies him as a "Patriot" according to the "Sons of the American Revolution™.

May 25, 1779, the Will of James Johnson reads: "In the name of God, amen, | James
Johnson of the County of Mecklenburg being sick and weak in body but of perfect sound
mind and memory do make this my Last Will in manner and form following (that is to
say) first I recommend my soul into the hands of Almighty God who gave it and commit
my Body to the earth to be buried in a decent manner my estate defraying my funeral
charges and what worldly goods God has been pleased to bestow on me. | give and
bequeath as follows.... | give and bequeath to my loving wife Suckey Johnson during her
natural life the plantation I now live on containing two hundred acres also all my
furniture all my stock of cattle except eight head such as she can best spare all my hogs
and sheep the gray horse black mare & sorrel filly and wench Dafney my desire is that
upon the death of my said wife the furniture stock of cattle sheep hogs and horses above
mentioned be sold to the highest bidder and the money arising from such sale be equally
divided between all my children. Item I give unto my son John Johnson one hundred and
fourteen acres of land where he formerly lived adjoining my Plantation to him and his
heirs forever. Item | give and bequest to my son Howell Johnson my stallion colt "Jack of
Diamonds™ also eight head of cattle as his mother chooses to spare to be delivered him at
my death also my wench Dafney at his mother's death to him and his heirs forever. Item,
I give unto my son James Johnson, Junior my sorrel horse and saddle called Ball my gun
& bayonet also the plantation whereon I now live at his mother's death containing two
hundred acres more or less to him and heirs forever. Item | leave my oldest son John
Johnson & William Johnson Sr., son of Phil Johnson of James City Exors of this my last
Will and Testament. In witness there of | have hereunto set my hand and affixed my seal
this twenty fifth day of May in the year of our Lord 1779.

Signed Sealed published & declared by the said James Johnson Sr James X Johnson for
his last Will & Testament in the presence of us mark
William Johnson
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his

Enos X Matthew
mark

Mary Johnson

At a Court held for Mecklenburg County the 8th day of November 1784. This Will was
proved by the oath of William Johnson witness thereto and at a Court continued and held
for the said County the 9th day of November the said Will was futher proved by the oath
of Enos Matthews another witness thereto and ordered to be recorded and on the motion
of John Johnson one of the exectors therein named hoe made oath thereto and together
with William Johnson his security entered into and acknowed their Bond inthe penalty of
five hundred pounds conditioned as the Law directs certificate was granted him for
obtaining aprobate of the said Will in due form.

Teste. John Brown. He married Elizabeth **Sukey™ ?, b. in unknown.

Children:

1 John Johnson, b. ca. 1760 in perhaps Chesterfield County, Virginia.

2. Howell Johnson, Sr. b. Jan 18 1762.

3. Nancy Johnson b. ca. 1766.

4 Polly Johnson, b. ca. 1767 in perhaps Mecklenburg County, Virginia
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9.27 | Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents
(father/mother/mother/father/mother/father)
Husband Marriage Wife
(Captain) James Ambrose Legg | Date: 1774 Elizabeth Hughes
DOB: 4Augl754 Location: North Farnham | DOB: 13Jan1758

Parish, Richmond County,
VA

City/State: Farnham Parish,
Richmond County, VA
(Dettingen Parish, Prince
William County, VA)

City/State: Prince William
County, VA

Residence:

Children

Residence:

Residence:

Thomas Legg
(1775-1854)

Residence:

Date of Death: 2Nov1822

Date of Death: Mar1830

Cemetery: Cemetery:

City, State: Prince William City, State: Monroe, Amherst
County, VA County, VA

Father: Father:

Fortunatus Thomas Legg
(1723-18Jun1804)

James Hughes
(1689-1779)

Mother: Mother:

Hannah Smith Rebecca Armstrong

(1729-30Nov1816) (1695-1779)
NOTES NOTES

James Legg is present as a private at a muster
for the 11th and 15th Virginia Regiments, 2nd
Battalion of General Wolfords Brigade taken
on 13Jull778, somewhere in Virginia,

commanded by Lt Col Crapper.

ID: 1087871 Name: Ambrose Legg Sex: M Birth: 1750 in Prince William County,
Virginia Father: Fortunatus Legg b: 6 APR 1723 in North Farnham Parish, Richmond
County, Virginia Mother: Hannah Smith b: 1729 Marriage 1 Margaret Mosse b: ABT
1754 in Prince William County, Virginia Married: ABT 1770 in Prince William County,

Virginia
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Descendants of James Legg and Elizabeth Hughes

James Legg (1754-1822) married Elizabeth Hughes (1758-1830) in 1774

1.

William Legg (1772-1859)

William was born 1+ year before his mother married James Legg
William married Susanna Vincent (1775-1859)
1) Fortunatis Natis Legg (1789-1870)

2) Sarah Legg (1795-1850)

3) Mary Legg (1798-1850)

4) Jesse Legg (1801-1883)

5) Nancy Legg (1804-1868)

6) Eli Legg (1808-1880)

7) William Henry Legg (1808-1872)

8) James Jarrett Legg (1812-1880)

9) Leah Legg (1815-1880)

10)  Frances Catherine LEgg (1818-1885)
11)  Levi Legg (1821-1870)

12)  Franklin Legg (1824-1880)

13)  Martha Legg (-)

Eli Legg (1772-1835)

Eli married Jane Prince (1776-1846)

1) Elizabeth H Legg (1806-1878)

2) William Grigsby Legg (1806-1878)

3) Margaret Legg (1811-1870)

4) George Washington Legg (1813-1881)
5) Frances Ann Legg (-)

6) Cecilia Amanda Legg (-)

7) Harriet Jane Legg (-)

8) Elis P Legg (-)

Fortunatis Legg (1773-1794)

Fortunatis married Elizabeth Cromwell (1773-)
1) Mary E Legg (1843-1870)

2) Fortunatis Legg (-)

Davenport Legg (1775-1821)
Davenport married Nellie Barton (1774-)
1) Fortunatis Natis Legg (1796-1870)
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10.

11.

2) Willis Legg (1797-1840)
3) James Legg (1800-)

Thomas Legg (1775-Apr1854)
Thomas married Jeannetta Nutty (1780-1839)
1) Isabel Margaret Legg (1805-1875)

Isabel married Thomas James Drummond (1800-1870)

2) Adeline Knight Legg (1806-)
3) Rianah Legg (1806-1864)

Maurice George Legg (1776-1860)

Maurice married Phoebe Collins (1779-1856)
1) Louisa Legg (1800-1854)

2) Caroline Legg (1804-1889)

3) Phoebe Nancy Legg (1808-1843)

4) Mary Ann Legg (1810-1868)

5) Mary Ann Legg (1810-1868)

John Russell Legg (1778-1862)

John married Jane Carter (1796-1859)
1) Dale Carter Legg (1815-1898)
2) Thomas N Legg (1817-1894)
3) Russell W Legg (1827-1865)

Amy Legg (1778-1856)
Amy married Charles Shawver (1778-)
- No record of children

Elizabeth 'Eliza’ Legg (2Nov1778-6Jun1858)
- No record of marriage

Ruth Legg (1780-1856)

Ruth married John M McNutt (1775-1830)
1) Robert McNutt (1802-1875)

2) John McNutt (1808-1895)

Frances Legg (1782-1838)

Frances married Jonathan Swope (1783-1872)
1) George William Swope (1803-1869)
2) Lewis C Swope (1807-1872)
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3) Elizabeth Swope (1810-1858)
4) Matilda Swope (1812-1842)
5) Catherine Swope (1816-1879)
6) Mary Jane Swope (1821-1881)

12.  Nathaniel Legg (1782-1830)
Nathaniel married Lucy Hampton (1788-1868)
1) ?? Legg (1809-)
2) James Madison Fountain Legg (1811-1880)
3) Eliza Legg (1813-)
4) Pleasant Crawford Legg (1814-1893)
5) Nathaniel F Legg (1816-1898)
6) William Legg (1819-)
7) Annbury Legg (1822-1862)
8) Thomas Legg (1826-1863)
9) Lucy E Legg (1826-1897)

Note: George is convinced that some of these children do not belong here - James is their
uncle rather than their father. Further research needed.
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9.28 | Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents

(father/mother/mother/father/mother/mother)

Husband Marriage Wife

Unknown Date: Unknown
DOB: Location: DOB:
City/State: City/State:
Residence: Children Residence:
Residence: Jeannetta Nully Residence:

(1780-1839)

married

Thomas Legg

(1775-1864)
Date of Death: Date of Death:
Cemetery: Cemetery:
City, State: City, State:
Father: Father:
Mother: Mother:

NOTES NOTES
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9.29 | Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents
(father/mother/mother/mother/father/father)
Husband Marriage Wife
James Mayes Date: 1770 Jane McElwain
DOB: 1729 Location: Spartanburg, DOB: 1756

SC

City/State: Ulster, Ireland

City/State: Ulster, Ireland

Residence: 1732 - Paxtang,
Lancaster, PA

Children

Residence:

Residence: ~1780 - Fair Forest,
Union County, SC

Edward Mayes
(1775-1848)

Residence:

Date of Death: 40ct1818

Date of Death: 25Jun1824

Cemetery: Fair Forest
Presbyterian Church Cemetery,
Union County, SC

Cemetery: Fair Forest
Presbyterian Church Cemetery,
Union County, SC

City, State: Fair Forest, Union
County, SC (or Jonesville, SC)

City, State: Fair Forest, Union
County, SC (or Jonesville, SC)

Father:
Thomas Washington Mayes Sr
(1701-1764)

Father:
James McElwain
(1713-1807)

Mother:
Margaret Houston
(1710-1782)

Mother:
Jane Storey
(1730-1803)

NOTES

NOTES

James' family immigrated from Ireland
through Port of Philadelphia in ~1732 and
settled in Paxtang, Lancaster, PA. James'
father (shortly after his wife's death in 1731)
accompanied James & Jane on their

immigration to America.

James Mayes was a blacksmith. He inherited a
number of tools from his father - who was also
a blacksmith. His father had also inherited
blacksmith tools from James' grandfather.
Thus, (at least) three consecutive generations
of Mayes men were blacksmiths.

James's family were members of the Fairfield
Presbyterian Church of Union County, SC.

Migration of the Mayes clan had several of

them moving as follows:

1) Ireland to Lancaster, PA (1730s)
2) Lancaster, PA to Union County, SC

(1780s)

3) Union County, SC to Greene County AL

(1820s)

James and Jane Mayes settled along Fairforest
Creek after he received a land grant in 1767.
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Descendants of James Mayes

James Mayes married Henrietta Scott (1731-1755) in1751 in Pennsylvania

1. Scott Mayes (1752-)
- Died during childhood

James Mayes (1729-1818) married Jane McElwain (1756-1824) in 1770 in SC

1. Margaret Mayes (1770-1827)
Margaret married George Storey (1770-1857) on 25Dec1790 in Spartanburg
County, SC
1) Edward Farris Storey (1791-1872)
2) Anthony Storey (1792-1869)
3) Samuel Storey (1794-1834)
4) James Storey (1795-)
5) Andrew Mayes Storey (1800-1865)
6) Hugh Means Storey (1803-)
7) Thomas Patton Storey (1803-1884)
8) Robert Storey (1805-)
9) William J Storey (1807-1857)
10)  Daniel G Storey (1809-)

2. George Thomas Mayes (1Feb1773-160ct1847)
(born Spartanburg County, SC; died Crittenden County, KY)
George married Mary Elder (1777-1833) in 1795
1) Lillis Mayes (1796-1861)

2) Alexander E Mayes (1794-1870)

3) Jane Mayes (1800-1835)

4) Margarette Mayes (1802-1804)

5) James Mayes (1804-1844)

6) Sarah Mayes (1808-1850)

7) Margaret Mayes (1809-1879

8) Mary Elizabeth Mayes (1812-1870)

9) George Thomas Mayes Jr (1815-1906)
10)  William Terah Mayes (1817-1886)

3. James Mayes (1773-)
James married Prudence Patton (1776-)
1) Jane P Mayes (1792-1859)\
2) Mary Mayes (1794-1892)
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3) Elizabeth Mayes (1796-1839)

4) Infant Mayes (1797-1797)

5) Samuel James Mayes (1800-1890)
6) Theodocia B Mayes (1814-1835)

Jane Mayes (1774-1874) (born & died in Union County, SC)
- No record of marriage

Edward Mayes (1775-25Jul1848) - b: Spartanburg County, SC d: Greene

County, AL

Edward married Nancy A Archibald (1785-1845) in xxxx in Spartanburg, NC

1) Samuel James Mayes (1809-1890) - born in Union County, SC
Samuel married Sarah Carolyn Lamb (1819-1894)

2) Elizabeth Mayes (1812-) - born in Union County, SC

3) Jane Lills Mayes (1814-)

4) William Andrew Mayes (1821-1870) - born in Greene County, AL

5) Eleanor Amanda Mayes (1824-)

6) Margaret Jane Mayes (1825-)

7) Mary Ann Mayes (1828-)

8) Andrew Gaston George Mayes (1828-)

Thomas Mayes (1775-2Dec1819) - born & died in Spartanburg County, SC
- Family researcher stated Thomas was never married

Sally Mayes (1777-1876) - born & died in SC
Sally married Moses White (-)
- No record of children

Anthony Mayes (19Feb1782-10Sep1848) - born in SC; died in Eutaw, AL
Anthony married Cynthia Otterson (1787-1852)
1) Lucinda Mayes (1810-1910)

2) Thomas Newton Mayes (1812-1891)

3) Harvey H Mayes (1814-)

4) Albert Bradley Mayes (1816-)

5) Daniel Gray Mayes (1820-1894)

6) Elmira Janes Mayes (1822-1851)

7) Samuel Otterson Mayes (1824-1882)

8) Sarah Ann Mayes (1825-1849

9) Ruth Elizabeth Mayes (1826-1926)

10)  Mary Louise Mayes (1827-1856)
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11)  James M Mayes (1829-1871)
12)  John K Mayes (1831-1854)

9. Matthew Mayes (1784-21Aprl1841) - born & died in Spartanburg County, SC
Matthew married Jane Means (1786-1843)
1) Robert Lusk Mayes (1830-1863)
2) Jane M Mayes (-)
3) Sarah Mayes (-)
4) Thomas G Mayes (-1841)
5) James Means Mayes (-)
6) Margaret Mayes (-1841)
7) Caroline Mayes (-1841)
8) Elizabeth Prudence Mayes (-)

10 Joseph Mayes (1784-25Nov1843) - born in Union County, SC;
died in Union, Greene County, AL
Joseph married Nancy Isabella Simpson (1793-1868)
1) Jane Mayes (1819-)
2) Elizabeth Mayes (1821-)
3) Joseph Mayes (1825-)
4) Sarah Mayes (1828-)
5) James C Mayes (-)

James MAYES was born in 1729.He died on 4 Oct 1818 in Union Co., South Carolina.
He was buried in Fair Forest Presbyterian Church Cemetery, Union Co., South Carolina.
Tombstone inscription says that James was a member of the Presbyterian Church for 60
years and an Elder for 17 years. James received a land grant in 1767 for land along Fair
Forest Creek in Union County, South Carolina. In September James sold all or a portion
of that land to John Thomas as follows: Union County Deed Book D pp 42-44 3
September 1783 James Mayes, Blacksmith, in Ninety Six District, South Carolina to John
Thomas Jun'r of same place by grant 24 April 1767 by North Carolina to said James
Mayes 200 acres on the north side of Fair Forest Creek on both sides of Harris Creek
adjacent to Harris land and George Parks line. Witnessed by James McElwain and others.

James was married to Henrietta SCOTT about 1751 in Pennsylvania. Henrietta SCOTT
was born about 1731. She died about 1755. James MAYES and Henrietta SCOTT had
the following child: Scott MAYES was born about 1752 in Pennsylvania. Scott died

young.

James was married to Jane MCIWAIN (daughter of James MCIWAIN and Jane
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STOREY ).Jane MCIWAIN was born in 1756. She died on 25 Jun 1824 in Union Co.,
South Carolina. She was buried in Fair Forest Presbyterian Church Cemetery, Union
Co., South Carolina.

Excerpt from interview with my great grandfather Daniel Wallace Mayes when he
was 92 years old on 7-19-1938 where he talks about his great grandfather James
Mayes. Interviewer: Caldwell Sims, Union SC

My great grandfather, James Mayes is buried in the old Fair Forest Presbyterian
Cemetery. He came from Pennsylvania and settled on the Fair Forest Creek or one
of its tributaries, the Mill Creek, but in that old historical community. The place
where he lived is near the present Kennedy’s Mill. James built a home which is still
standing. His house was most probably the first frame house in the Fair Forest
community where it still stands. The Holcombe's live in it today, but it has been
worked over so many times that it does not look like a house built by pioneers.

James Mayes was in the battle of Cowpens. He was too old for regular army service,
but when he heard that the American forces were going to make a stand against the
British soldiers at Cowpens he decided to go and help the American Hero’s out. He
got out his old flint and steel gun and some bullets, filled up his powder horn and
arrived at Cowpens long before time for the fight. They were glad to have him. He
did not get wounded in the battle but came home and went right on with his farm
work as if nothing unusual had happened. He was an old man then and he lived to be
in his 89" year. He was a member of Fair Forest Presbyterian Church for 60 years
and an Elder in the church for 47 years.

James Mayes (allegedly)
(Blacksmith by trade shown with tools inherited from his father)
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Fair Forest Preshyterian Church Cemetery in Union County, SC
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Tombstone - James Mayes in Fair Forest Presbyterian Church Cemetery in Union
County, SC

Inscription: Sacred to the memory of James Mayes who died 4th Oct'r 1818 in the 89th
year of his age. He was a member of the Presbyterian Church for 60 years - an elder for
47. He wss active in the defense of his country and closed his life in full assurance of
happiness. May we observe his advice and cease from strife.
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Tombstone - Jane McElwain in Fairfield Presbyterian Church Cemetery in Union
County, SC
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9.30 | Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents
(father/mother/mother/mother/father/mother)
Husband Marriage Wife
Thomas Theodore Archibald Date: 23Marl762 Martha Edmond
(or Mar1765)
DOB: 1738 Location: Rowan County, | DOB: 1740
NC

City/State: Scotland

City/State: Rowan County, NC

Residence: 1760 - Rowan
County, NC

Children

Residence:

Residence: 1780 - Statesville,
Iredell County, NC

Nancy A Archibald
(1786-1845)

Residence:

Date of Death: 180ct1800

Date of Death: 25Marl1782

Cemetery: Fourth Creek
Presbyterian Church Cemetery,
Statesville, Iredell County, NC

Cemetery: Fourth Creek
Presbyterian Church Cemetery,
Statesville, Iredell County, NC

City, State: Statesville, Iredell

City, State: Statesville, Iredell

County, NC County, NC
Father: Father:
William Archibald
(1700-1764)
Mother: Mother:
Elizabeth ??
(1700-1778)
- died in Rowan County, NC

NOTES NOTES

Thomas Archibald was a Revolutionary War
Soldier who served in Salisbury District, State

of North Carolina.

Thomas was a young lad when (e.g., ~1745)
when his family immigrated to America..
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Descendants of Thomas Archibald (1738-1800)

A. Thomas married Elizabeth Rutherford (1740-1764) in 1758 in Rowan County, NC

1.

Margaret Archibald (1760-1764)

Died as a child

Samuel S Archibald (2May1762-20Jul1830)

- born in Rowan County, NC; died in Knoxville, Greene County, AL
- buried at New Hope Presbyterian Church Cemetery near Knoxville
Samuel married Eloisa Jannette Patton (1763-10Dec1827)

1)
2)
3)
4)
5)
6)

Thomas Archibald (1786-1846)
William Archibald (1788-1850)
John Patton Archibald (1790-1840)
Martha Archibald (1793-1794)
Robert Archibald (1796-1845)
James Hall Archibald (1799-1862)

Elizabeth Archibald (1764-1856)

No record of marriage; Her father's Will of 1800 seemed to indicate she
required special care

Buried at Pleasant Ridge Presbyterian Church Cemetery in Greene

County, AL

B. Thomas Archibald married Martha Edmond (1740-1782) on 23Mar1765 in Rowan
County, NC

Martha Jean Archibald (17Feb1766-18Aprl1856)

- born in Iredell County, NC; died in Greene County, AL

Martha married William Patton (1767-1825) in 1802 in Fair Forest,

Spartanburg County, SC

1.

1)
2)
3)
4)
5)

Malinda Jane Patton (1804-1881)
Mary Patton (1806-1881)

William Allison Patton (1814-)
James Leander Patton (1818-1888)
William A Patton (1823-1871)

Polly Archibald (1770- )

No record of marriage
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Nancy A Archibald (1776-)

Nancy married Edward Mayes (1775-1848)

1) Elizabeth Mayes (1812-)

2) Jane Lilis Mayes (1814-)

3) William Andrew Mayes (1821-1870)

4) Samuel James Mayes (1823-1842)
Samuel married Sarah Caroline Lamb (1819-1884)

5) Eleanor Amanda Mayes (1824-1863)

6) Margaret Ann Mayes (1825-)

7) Mary Ann Mayes (1828-)

8) Andrew Gaston George Mayes (1828-)

Jane Archibald (1778-01Aug1847)

- born in Rowan County, NC; died in Hudsonville, Marshall County, MS
Jane married James Patton Means (1810-) on 8Aug1809 in Rowan
County, NC

1) Thomas A Means (1810-)

2) Prudence Patton Means (1812-1879)

C. Thomas Archibald married Betsy Goloway Harbison (1751-1800) in 1783 in
Rowan County, NC - Betsy died in Donegal Township, Lancaster, PA in 1800

1.

William Archibald (2Jan1784-3Nov1845)

- born in Iredell County, NC; died in Pickens County, AL; buried at
Gordo

William married Margaret ?? (1782-31Aug1844)

1) Richard G Archibald (1812-)

2) Samuel W Archibald (1817-)

3) Thomas A Archibald (1819-)

4) Edward Archibald (1820-)

Matilda Archibald (1786-)
- No record of marriage

Elinor Archibald (1788-)
- No record of marriage

Thomas Archibald Jr (1791-4Dec1863)
- born in Iredell County, NC; died in Pickens County, AL
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Thomas married Sarah F Lukey (1793-1876) on 30Jan1816 in Rowan
County, NC

1) Thomas Theodore Archibald (1816-1873)

2) Robert Washington Archibald (1818-1871)

3) Josiah Burton Archibald (1824-1892)

4) James Barnett Archibald (1828-1892)

5) Elizabeth Frances Archibald (1842-1907)

Old Fourth Creek Cemetery at Statesville, Iredell County,- NC
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Tombstone - Thomas Archibald in Old Fourth Creek Cemetery at Statesville, Iredell
County, NC
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9.31 | Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents

(father/mother/mother/mother/mother/father)

Husband Marriage Wife
Unknown Date: Unknown
DOB: Location: DOB:
City/State: City/State:
Residence: Children Residence:
Residence: Unknown Residence:
Date of Death: Date of Death:
Cemetery: Cemetery:
City, State: City, State:
Father: Father:
Mother: Mother:
NOTES NOTES
9.32 | Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents
(father/mother/mother/mother/mother/mother)
Husband Marriage Wife
Unknown Date: Unknown
DOB: Location: DOB:
City/State: City/State:
Residence: Children Residence:
Residence: Unknown Residence:
Date of Death: Date of Death:
Cemetery: Cemetery:
City, State: City, State:
Father: Father:
Mother: Mother:
NOTES NOTES
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9.33 | Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents
(mother/father/father/father/father/father)
Husband Marriage Wife
(Colonel) Hugh William Date: 1748 Lady Mary Moore

Montgomery, Sr

DOB: Decl1720

Location: Ireland

DOB: 1729

City/State: Londonderry,
Ireland

City/State: Londonderry,
Ireland

Residence: 1748 - Ireland Children Residence:
Residence: 1772 - Charleston, | Charles Perceival Residence:
SC Montgomery, Sr

(1748-1820)

married

Margaret Anne Reynolds

(175-1818)
Residence: ~1773 - Rowan, Residence:
NC
Residence: Residence:
Date of Death: 23Dec1779 Date of Death: 1765
Cemetery: Old English Cemetery:

Cemetery, Salisbury, Rowan
County, NC

City, State: Wilkes, Rowan
County, NC

City, State: Ireland

Father:
Captain James Montgomery
(1695-1768)

Father:

Mother:
Anne Thompson
(1695-1756)

Mother:

NOTES

NOTES

Hugh plus seven of his children immigrated
from Ireland via Charleston, SC on
20Dec1772. Three of their children became
engaged while still on the ship which brought
all of them to America.

Family lore is that Lady Mary Moore's family
strongly disapproved of her marrying Hugh
Montgomery, Sr. She married him anyway and
they had 11 children - before she died in 1765.

Dates make it seem likely that Hugh wed
Catherine Sloane in Ireland shortly before his
family set sail for Charleston, SC. Family lore
indicates there was some sort of scandal -
likely because dates indicate his 2nd wife
Catherine Sloane was only 12-13 years old
when they married in Ireland.

Hugh Montgomery was a veteran of the War
of 1812. As a result, he was awarded two
acreages which were commonly known as
"bounty lands".
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In 1780, Hugh Montgomery was on a Petit
Jury List for the "District of George Town" in
SC. This area was called "Parish of Prince
Frederick".

In 1775 Hugh was a member of the Provincial
Congress and served on the Committee of
Safety.

In 1776 Hugh was appointed Captain of the
Marines and later promoted to Colonel and
served until his death on 23Dec1779.
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Descendants of Hugh William Montgomery, Sr and Lady Mary Moore

A Hugh William Montgomery, Sr (1720-1779) married Lady Mary Moore (1729-
1765) in 1748 (or 1750) in Ireland. Three of their children met & married immigrant
spouses who sailed with them on the same ship from Ireland.

1.

Charles Perceival Montgomery, Sr (1748-270ct1820)
Charles married Margaret Anne Reynolds (1758-1818) in 1774 in SC
- Got engaged while aboard ship on way from Ireland to Charleston, SC
1) John Montgomery (-)
2) Nancy Montgomery (-)
3) Sarah Montgomery (1777-1813)
4) Jane Montgomery (1779-1849)
5) Charles Montgomery (1781-1851)
6) William Montgomery (1763-)
7) James Montgomery (1784-)
8) Mary Montgomery (1786-1810)
9) Margaret Montgomery (1787-1820)
10)  David Milton Montgomery (1788-1872)
David married Sarah Isabel Nason (1819-1866)
11)  Martha Montgomery (1793-1841)
12)  Hugh Montgomery (1796-1849)

David Montgomery (1750-)
- No record of marriage

Mary Montgomery (1751-)
Mary married ?? Newman (-)

Jane Montgomery (15Dec1751-1787)
- No record of marriage

Margaret Ann Montgomery (1754-270c¢1823) - buried Old Brick Church,
Fairfield County, SC

Margaret married William Benjamin Bell, Sr (-)

- became engaged while aboard ship on way from Ireland to Charleston,
SC

1) Hugh Bell (1773-1863)

2) John Bell (1774-1844)

3) Margaret Bell (1774-1790)

4) William B Bell 111 (1775-1845)
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5) James Bell (1776-1809)

6) Ann Nancy Bell (1778-1825)
7) James M Bell (1778-1820)
8) Margaret Bell (1780-1825)
9) John Bell (1781-1849)

10)  Thomas Jefferson Bell (1785-1862)
11)  Charles W Bell (1785-1844)
12)  Hugh Bell (1789-1864)

13)  Elizabeth Bell (1790-1842)
14)  Adam Bell (1791-1833)

15)  Robert M Bell (1795-1848)
16)  Isabella Bell (1794-1891)

7. Hugh Montgomery Jr (1755-1833)
- No record of marriage

8. Nancy Ann Montgomery (1755-1840)
Nancy married Benjamin Reynolds (-)
- got engaged while aboard ship on way from Ireland to Charleston, SC
Nancy married ?? Ingram (-)

9. Elizabeth Montgomery (1756-1792)
- No record of marriage

10. Martha Montgomery (1757-)
- No record of marriage

11.  Jane Glascow Montgomery (1765-1840)
- No record of marriage

Hugh Montgomery Sr (1720-1779) married Catherine Sloane (1760-1832) in

1771

- Apparently, Hugh married Catherine and Ireland shortly before his family set
sail for Charleston, SC where they arrived 20Dec1772.

- One researcher said Catherine was also known as: 'Margaret Calderwood of Peacock'

1. Rachel Montgomery (1772-1863)
Rachel married ?? Wellborn (-)

2. Rebecca Montgomery (1775-1863)
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Rebecca married ?? Stokes (-)

C. Catherine Sloane (1760-31Jul1841) married Lieutenant Devil John Cleveland on
9Jun1781 in Wilkes, NC. The couple then emigrated to Pendleton, Anderson County,
South Carolina. Catherine died in Pendleton, Anderson County, SC.

The Rev William Martin was the leader of a group of Scottish-born Protestants which
required five ships to transport his congregation from Ireland to America. This migration
was obviously in response to religious persecution. One of those immigrant ships was
the Lord Dunluce which arrived Charleston, SC on 20Dec1772. The Montgomery
family, including Hugh Montgomery, Sr arrived aboard this ship.

This Montgomery family lived in Londonderry, usually called Derry, in the county of
Londonderry, Ireland. When these Montgomery brothers and sisters left their home in
1772 to come to America, that part of Ireland was largely settled by Protestants from
Scotland.

On a certain ship that left Ireland for America in 1772 were seven Montgomery brothers
and sisters, Charles, James, David, Hugh, Margaret, Jane and Nancy.

On this same ship were Benjamin Reynolds and his sister Margaret, and a Bell family,
one of which was William Bell Sr. (It is not known, but perhaps the Bell family and
Reynolds family were all from Derry and well known to each other.) The ship landed in
Charleston, S. C., a British port, as all the United Sates were at that time in British
possession. Three romances grew out of that three months crossing of the Atlantic and
three marital unions followed upon reaching America. One such union was between
Charles Montgomery, (see 8.17) the oldest of the brothers, and Margaret Reynolds, who
fell in love and became engaged during the ocean voyage. Another union was that of
Benjamin Reynolds and Nancy Montgomery (or Elizabeth as she was sometime called.).
The third union was between Benjamin Bell, Sr. and Margaret Montgomery. These three
families intermarried and migrated together from Charleston, S. C. to Fairfield District, S.
C. and then to Oktibbeha County, Mississippi.
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Tombstone of Hugh Montgomery in Old English Cemetery, Salisbury, NC

Fort Dobbs was an 18th-century fort in the Yadkin—Pee Dee River Basin region of the
Province of North Carolina, near what is now Statesville in Iredell County. Used for
frontier defense during and after the French and Indian War, the fort was built to protect
the British settlers of the western portion of what was then Rowan County, and served as
a vital outpost for soldiers, traders, and colonial officials. Fort Dobbs' primary structure
was a blockhouse with log walls, surrounded by a palisade and moat. It was intended to
provide protection against Cherokee, Catawba, Shawnee, Delaware and French raids
into North Carolina. On February 27, 1760, the fort was the site of an engagement
between Cherokee warriors and provincial soldiers that ended in a victory for the
provincials. After this battle and other attacks by Cherokee warriors on British forts and
settlements in the Anglo-Cherokee War, the southern British colonies launched a
devastating counterattack against the Cherokee in 1760.
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9.34 | Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents

(mother/father/father/father/father/mother)

Husband Marriage Wife
Martin Reynolds Date: Unknown
DOB: 1736 Location: DOB:
City/State: Ulster, Northern City/State: Ireland
Ireland
Residence: Children Residence:
Residence: Margaret Anne Reynolds Residence:

(1758-1818)
married

Charles Perceival
Montgomery
(1748-1820)

Date of Death: 1820

Date of Death:

Cemetery:

Cemetery:

City, State: Ulster, Northern
Ireland

City, State: Ulster, Northern
Ireland

Father: Father:
Mother: Mother:
NOTES NOTES
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9.35 | Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents

(mother/father/father/father/mother/father)

Husband Marriage Wife

John Thompson Date: Unknown
DOB: Location: DOB:
City/State: City/State:
Residence: Children Residence:
Residence: William Thompson Residence:

(1762-22Nov1842)

married

Elizabeth Martin

(1761-1851)
Date of Death: Date of Death:
Cemetery: Cemetery:
City, State: City, State:
Father: Father:
Mother: Mother:

NOTES NOTES

In 1773, King George Il granted John the
family homestead in Fairfield County, SC.
This property was later named High Point
Plantation - where William built his historic

home.

John's service in the Revolutionary War - per Adjutant General of Washington

The records of this office show that one John Thompson served in the Revolutionary War
as a servant of Captain Alexander Boye's company, and Captain Benjamin Brown's
company, 6th Regiment of South Carolina Continental troops, commanded by Colonel
William Henderson. He is shown to have been paid for his service from August 15th to
December 1st, 1779, and is the last mentioned company from December 1st to February

1st, 1780.
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9.36 | Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents

(mother/father/father/father/mother/mother)

Husband Marriage Wife
Robert Martin Date: Rebecca Swettenham
DOB: 1729 Location: DOB: 1727
City/State: Ireland City/State: Ireland
Residence: Children Residence:
Residence: Elizabeth Martin Residence:

(1761-1851)
married

William Thompson
(1762-1842)

Date of Death: 1811

Date of Death: 1793

Cemetery:

Cemetery:

City, State: Fairfield District,
SC

City, State: Fairfield District,
SC

Father: Father:
Mother: Mother:
NOTES NOTES

Note: Evidence for parentage of Elizabeth Martin is based on one researcher's family
tree. Further research is necessary to be sure of identity of Elizabeth's parents.

Generation 9
Page 9-100




9.37 | Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents

(mother/father/father/mother/father/father)

Husband Marriage Wife

Unknown Date: Unknown
DOB: Location: DOB:
City/State: City/State:
Residence: Children Residence:
Residence: John Nason Residence:

(1740-1810)

Married

Catherine O'Connor

Atkins

(1745-1813)

In Ireland
Date of Death: Date of Death:
Cemetery: Cemetery:
City, State: City, State:
Father: Father:
Mother: Mother:

NOTES | NOTES
9.38 | Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents
(mother/father/father/mother/father/mother)
Husband Marriage Wife

Unknown Date: Unknown
DOB: Location: DOB:
City/State: City/State:
Residence: Children Residence:
Residence: Catherine O'Connor Residence:

Atkins

(1745-1813)

married

John Nason

(1740-1810)

In Ireland
Date of Death: Date of Death:
Cemetery: Cemetery:
City, State: City, State:
Father: Father:
Mother: Mother:

NOTES NOTES
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9.39 | Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents

(mother/father/father/mother/mother/father)

Husband Marriage Wife
David Milling Date: 1738 Anne Kelso
DOB: 1718 Location: Scotland DOB: Jull720

City/State: Drumbo, County
Down, Ireland

City/State: Glasgow,
Lanarkshire, Scotland

Residence: 1739+ - Drumbo, Children Residence:
County Down, Ireland
Residence: Hugh Milling Residence:
(1752-1837)
married
Elizabeth Burney
(1762-1829)
in SC
Date of Death: 25Nov1778 Date of Death:
Cemetery: Cemetery:

City, State: Drumbo, County
Down, Ireland

City, State: Drumbo,, County
Down, Ireland

Father:

Father:
William Kelso
(1652-)

Mother:

Mother:
Margaret McColme

()

NOTES

NOTES
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Descendants of David Milling and Anne Kelso

David Milling (1718-1778) married Anne Kelso (1720-) in 1738
- Each of their children were born in Ireland

1. Alexander Milling (1739-)
2. Margaret Milling (1741-)
3. David Milling Jr (1745-1778)
4. John Milling (1748-1788)
5. Captain Hugh Milling (1751-1837) - Immigrated to America about 1771
Hugh married Elizabeth Burney (1762-1829)
1) Margaret Peggy Milling (1784-1864)
Margaret married Richard Henry Nason (1775-1862)
6. Robert Milling (1755-1828)

7. Joseph (or Josiah) Milling (1758-)

8. Sarah Milling (12Nov1773-1816)
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9.40 | Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents

(mother/father/father/mother/mother/mother)

Husband Marriage Wife

Richard Gustavus Burney Date: Annie Walker
DOB: Location: DOB:
City/State: Scotland City/State: Scotland
Residence: Children Residence:
Residence: Elizabeth Burney Residence:

(1762-1829)

married

Hugh Milling

(1752-1837)

in SC
Date of Death: 1792 Date of Death:
Cemetery: Cemetery:
City, State: City, State:
Father: Father:
Mother: Mother:

NOTES NOTES
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9.41 | Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents

(mother/father/mother/father/father/father)

Husband Marriage Wife
(Deacon) Joseph Bardwell, Sr Date: 1May1735 Lydia Morton
DOB: 1713 Location: Hatfield, DOB: 24Marl1715

Hampshire County, Mass

City/State: Hatfield, Hampshire
County, Mass

City/State: Hatfield, Hampshire
County, Mass

Residence: 1740+ - Children Residence:
Belchertown, Mass

- lived in area called "Turkey

Hill'

Residence: (Captain) Elijah Bardwell | Residence:

(1756-1809)

Date of Death: 1Jun1791

Date of Death: 30Jul1800

Cemetery: South Cemetery,
Belchertown, Mass

Cemetery: South Cemetery,
Belchertown, Mass

City, State: Belchertown, Mass

City, State: Belchertown, Mass

Father:
John Bardwell
(1687-1728)

Father:
Ebenezer Morton
(1682-1760)

Mother:
Mehitable Graves
(1695-1744)

Mother:
Sarah Belden/Belding
(1687-1749)

NOTES

NOTES

Joseph Bardwell, Sr married Sibyl Smith on
27Jan1774 in Belchertown, Mass. No record
of any children has been found.

Lydia was christened 24Mar1715 in Hatfield.
Note: Suspect that Lydia was actually born in
1714 and christened in 1715 on her first
birthday.

Joseph was a veteran of the Revolutionary
War. In 1775, he was a private in the
Massachusetts Militia. His DAR # is
A005974.

Joseph was a resident of Belchertown by 1740 as he signed a petition to the General
Court for a land tax on non-resident land owners to pay for a meeting house and minister.
Town records show he was an involved citizen. He served as Town Treasurer in 1774.

Joseph was a member of the Congregational Church in Belchertown. Joseph was a
Minuteman and answered the Lexington Alarm. He was a Private in Captain John Cowls
company, Col Woodbridge's Regiment, which marched 20Apr1775 in response to the
alarm of 19Aprl1775. Served 10 days. Joseph was also a member of Lt Aaron Phelps'
Company, Col Elisha Porter's Regiment. Enlisted 8Jul1777 and discharged 12Augl1777.
Also served in Captain Jonathan Bardwell's Company, Col Porter's Regiment. Enlisted

22Sepl777 and discharged 180ct1776.
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Descendants of Joseph Bardwell, Sr and Lydia Morton

(Deacon) Joseph Bardwell, Sr married Lydia Morton (1715-1800) on 1May1735

1.

Lydia Bardwell (1735-1802)

Lydia married Israel Cowls, Sr (1726-1798) in 1753
- Note: 3 sisters married 3 brothers

1) Israel Cowles, Jr (1754-1782)

2) Lydia Cowles (1756-1790)

3) Josiah Cowles (1757-1822)

4) Tryphena Cowles (1758-1823)

5) Amasa Cowles (1769-1842)

Hannah Bardwell (23Dec1738-3Feb1813)

Hannah married Captain John Cowls (1731-1811)

Private Joseph Bardwell, Sr was a Minuteman in Captain John Cowls company in
Aprl775

1) Azubah Cowles (1763-1822)

Martin Bardwell (1740-1824)

Martin married Sybil Sikes (1746-1811) on 20Nov1766
1) Sybil Bardwell (1767-)

2) Lina Bardwell (1769-)

3) Martin Bardwell (1771-)

4) Lenas Zenus Bardwell (1775-1856)

Martin married ?? (-)

1) Antipas Steward Bardwell (1804-1877)

Lucy Bardwell (1743-1826)

Lucy married Asaph Stebbins (1731-1806) in 1758
1) John Stebbins (1763-1847)

2) Lucy Stebbins (1765-1837)

3) Asaph Stebbins (1767-1828)

4) Herman Stebbins (179-1834)

5) Asphia Stebbins (1771-1812)

6) Lois Stebbins (1773-1842)

7) Roxa Stebbins (1776-)

8) Sylvanus Stebbins (1780-1845)

Eunice Bardwell (1744-1831)
Eunice married Asa Shumway (1738-1811) on 4Jun1764
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1) Asa Shumway, Jr (1765-1820)
2) Louisa Shumway (1766-1828)
3) Chloe Shumway (1768-1826)
4) Alfred Shumway (1771-1858)
5) Perez Shumway (1773-1859)
6) Elijah Shumway (1783-1859)

Catherine Bardwell (1744-15May1800)
Catherine married Jesse Billings (1741-1801)
1) David Billings (1775-1859)
Catherine married Daniel Smith, Jr. (1744- )

Rhoda Bardwell (1746-22Jan1777)
Rhoda married Timothy Cowls 11 (1741-1792) on 280ct1765
1) Samuel Cowles (1766-1844)
2) Seth Cowles (1768-)

3) Sarah Cowles (1770-1844)

4) Augustus Cowles (1772-1803)
5) Lucius Cowles (1777-1777)
6) Betsey Cowles (1779-)

7) Polly Cowles (1780-)

8) Rufus Cowles (1783-1840)

9) Chester Cowles (1786-1833)

Joseph Bardwell, Jr (8Mar1751-13Sep1838)
Joseph married Sibyl Smith (1753-1829) on 27Jan1774
1) Hadassah Bardwell (1774-1843)

2) Electa Bardwell (1776-1824)

3) Josiah Bardwell (1778-1845)

4) Asanath Bardwell (1780-1857)

5) Violet Bardwell (1782-1856)

6) Lucretia Bardwell (1786-1787)

7) Experience Bardwell (1788-)

8) Theodotia Bardwell (1791-1842)

9) Joseph Bardwell (1792-1869)

10)  Alonzo Bardwell (1795-1868)

‘Captain’ Elijah Bardwell (12Jul1755-12May1809)
Elijah married Sarah Worthington Smith (1752-1824)
1) Rhoda Bardwell (1778-1858)

2) Sophia Bardwell (1780-1821)
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10.

11.

3)
4)

5)
6)
7)
8)
9)

Laura Bardwell (1781-1862)

Dr Araunah Bardwell (1784-1837)

Araunah married Sarah Sally Guion (1785-1841)
Elijah Bardwell (1784-1837)

Rev Horatio Bardwell (1788-1866)

Selah Bardwell (1791-1870)

Aurelia Bardwell (1796-1869)

Porcius Gender Bardwell (1798-1813)

Obadiah Bardwell (18Sep1757-10Mar1853)
Obadiah married Mehitabel Smith (1763-1852) on 240ct1782

1)
2)
3)
4)
5)
6)
7)
8)
9)
10)

Mary Smith Bardwell (1783-)
Martha Bardwell (1785-1854)
Chester Bardwell (1787-1864)
Giles Smith Bardwell (1788-1874)
Josephus Bardwell (1790-1847)
Lydia Bardwell (1795-1881)
Clarissa Bardwell (1798-1876)
Sophia Alles Bardwell (1802-1872)
Abner Smith Bardwell (1804-1804)
Lucy Bardwell (1805-1887)

Experience Bardwell (1761-1831)
Experience married Eldad Parsons (1755-1823) on 6Dec1780

1)
2)
3)
4)
5)
6)
7)
8)
9)
10)

Amy Gould Parsons (1781-1862)
Diantha Parsons (1783-1783)

Gould Parsons (1786-1860)

Marilla Parsons (1787-1850)

Hazo Parsons (1790-)

Philologos Parsons (1791-)

Eldad Parsons, Jr (1791-1870)

Rock Parsons (1796-1820)

Melissa Parsons (1796-1820)
Catherine Experience Parsons (1800-)
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Tombstone - Joseph Bardwell, Sr in South Cemetery @ Belchertown, Mass
Lydia Morton (his wife) also buried here - no Tombstone identified
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9.42 | Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents
(mother/father/mother/father/father/mother)
Husband Marriage Wife
(Deacon) Elijah Smith Sr Date: 8Marl751 Sibyl Worthington
DOB: 1Jan 1723 Location:  Belchertown, DOB: 18Aprl726

Hampshire County, Mass

City/State: Hatfield, Hampshire
County, Mass

City/State: Colchester County,
Connecticut

Residence: 1751 - Children Residence:
Belchertown, Mass
Residence: Sarah Worthington Smith | Residence:

(1752-1824)

Date of Death: 21Aprl770

Date of Death: 26May1828

Cemetery: Old Hadley
Cemetery, Hadley, Mass

Cemetery: Old Hadley
Cemetery, Hadley, Mass

City, State: Belchertown,
Hampshire County, Mass

City, State: South Hadley,
Hampshire County, Mass

Father:
(Deacon) John Smith
(1687-1777)

Father:

Daniel Worthington
(18May1698-1Mar1784)

- born & died in Connecticut

Mother:
Elizabeth Hovey
(1686-1758)

Mother:

Elizabeth Loomis
(13Nov1702-3Dec1789)

- born & died in Connecticut

NOTES

Elijah Smith, a native of Hatfield, came to Cold Spring with his father in 1736; married
Sibyl Worthington, of Colchester, Connecticut, in 1750 ; was deacon of this church,
chosen in 1761, was father of Rev. Ethan Smith. The church records say of him, " His
natural parts were very great. He had a quick turn of thought, depth of penetration, a
solid reason and judgment, a tenacious memory, a handsome utterance and an agreeable
deportment, and was on good ground, esteemed a man of true piety, and universally

beloved and greatly lamented."

Generation 9
Page 9-110




Descendants of Elijah Smith Sr and Sibyl Worthington

A. Deacon Elijah Smith Sr (1723-1770) married Sibyl Worthington (1727-1828) in 1751
in Belchertown, Mass
- This couple lived out their lives in Belchertown, Massachusetts

1. Asa Smith (1752-1835)
Asa married Submit Severance Smith (1758-1831) on 16Sep1782 in Mass
1) Elijah Smith (1738-1871)
2) Jesse Smith (1785-1851)
3) Clarissa Smith (17888-1868)
4) Jareb Smith (1797-)
5) Theophilus Smith (1800-1853)

2. Sarah Worthington Smith (1752-1824)
Sarah married Captain Elijah Bardwell (1756-1809) in Dec 1777
1) Doctor Araunah Bardwell (1784-1837)
Araunah married Sarah Guion (1785-1841)

3. Sibyl Smith (26Aug1754-23Nov1829) in Jan1774
Sibyl married Joseph Bardwell (1751-1838) on 27Jan1774 in Belchertown, Mass
1) Hadasah Bardwell (1774-1843)

2) Electa Bardwell (1776-1824)

3) Josiah Bardwell (1778-1845)

4) Asenath Bardwell (1780-1857)

5) Violet Bardwell (1782-1861)

6) Theodotia Bardwell (1784-1790)
7) Lucretia Bardwell (1786-1787)

8) Experience Bardwell (1788-1865)
9) Theodotia Bardwell (1791-)

10)  Joseph Bardwell (1792-)

11)  Alonzo Bardwell (1795-1868)

4. Elijah Smith Jr (1758-1843)
Elijah married Mary Stebbins (1763-1831) on 1Jan1784 in Greenfield, Mass
1) Obed Smith (1784-1788)
2) Robert Smith (1787-)
3) Mary Smith (1789-1824)
4) Obed Smith (1791-1792)
5) Martha Smith (1793-)
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6) Elijah Smith (1795-1801)

7) Orrin Smith (1796-1802)

8) Sidney Smith (1799-1801)

9) Oreb Smith (1801-1804)

10)  Sophronia Smith (1803-1808)
11)  Belinda Smith (1806-)

Elizabeth Smith (30Jan1761-1827)

Elizabeth married John Cowles Jr (1757-1830) on 23Apr1777 in Belchertown,
Mass

1) Elijah Smith Cowles (1780-1802)

2) Hannah Cowles (1782-1813)

3) Deliliah Cowles (1783-1850)

4) Elizabeth Azuba Cowles (1785-)

5) Oliver Cowles (1787-)

6) Joshua Cowles (1791-1794)

7) Betsy Cowles (1794-1825)

8) Reverend Remember Joshua Cowles (1796-1874)
9) Samantha Cowles (1800-)

10)  Sibyl Cowles (1802-1825)

Reverend Ethan Smith (19Dec1762-Sep1849) - Congregationalist Church
Ethan married Bathsheba Sanford (1771-1835) on 4Feb1793 in Medley, Mass
1) Myron Smith (1794-1818)

2) Lyndon Arnold Smith (1795-1865)

3) Stephen Sanford Smith (1797-1871)

4) Laura Smith (1799-1800)

5) Carlos Sanford Smith (1801-1877)

6) Grace Fletcher Smith (1803-1840)

7) Sarah Towne Smith (1805-1879)

8) Harriet Smith (1807-1899)

9) Margaret Baker Smith (18101-1811)

10)  Ellen Chase Smith (1812-1846)

Deacon Jacob Smith (1764-1852)

Jacob married Martha Lyman Smith (1773-1840) in ~1797
1) Elizabeth Smith (1798-1831)

2) Sybil Worthington Smith (1800-)

3) Elijah Smith (1802-)

4) Esther Smith (1805-)

Generation 9
Page9-112



5) Martha Smith (1809-)
6) Henry Smith (1813-1823)
7) Miranda Smith (1816-1848)

8. William Smith (160ct1766-11Jul1849) - died in Seneca County, Ohio
William married Mary Hurbert (1776-1850) in 1790 in Belchertown, Mass
1) William Smith (1792-1827)

2) James Smith (1794-1796)

3) Mary Smith (1796-)

4) Hiram Smith (1798-1850)

5) Daniel W Smith (1801-1853)
6) Gaylord G Smith (1803-1883)
7) John Smith (1805-1873)

8) Elijah Smith (1809-1873)

9) John H Smith (1827-1900)

9. Josiah Smith (15Dec1768-4Jul1828)
Josiah married Mary Capen (1773-1832) in 1798 in Scipio, NY
1) Ethan D Smith (1799-1873)
2) Peter J Smith (1803-1886)
3) Ruby Emily Smith (1814-1890)

B. Sibyl Worthington Smith married Reuben Smith (1723-1770) of South Hadley Mass
on 30ctl1771
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Tombstones - Elijah Smith and Sibyl Worthington in Old Hadley Cemetery, Hadley,
Massachusetts

Inscription:
In Memory of Dea. Elijah Smith, who died April 7, 1770, aged 47 years. A captain in the
French & Indian Wars, and at Crown Point, 1755, in morning scout, Sep. 8.

In him quickness of thought. Depth of penetration and judgment accompanied accurate
memory, a handsome presence and agreeable deportment. His friendship was sincere &
his piety unfeigned. The memory of the just is blessed.
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9.43 | Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents

(mother/father/mother/father/mother/father)

Husband

Marriage

Wife

Isaac Guion Jr

Date: 1741

Anne Maria Bolt

DOB: Marl720

Location: New Rochelle,
NY

DOB: 110ct1713

City/State: New Rochelle,

City/State: Rye, Westchester

Westchester County, NY County, NY
Residence: Children Residence:
Residence: Isaac Guion 111 Residence:

(1741-1803)

Date of Death: 28Apr1783

Date of Death: 1757

Cemetery: Cemetery:
City, State: Rye, Westchester City, State: Rye, Westchester
County, NY County, NY
Father: Father:
Isaac Guion Frederick Bolt
(1686-7May1783) (1694-)
Mother: Mother:
Marie Malherbe Alida Vryman
(1680-1728) (1694-)
m: 25Augl710

NOTES NOTES

Aprl750 - Official town meeting minutes
indicate that Isaac Guion served as the Towne

Clerk.

Isaac and Anne were members of the Dutch

Reformed Church.
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Descendants of Isaac Guion Jr and Anne Marie Bolt

Isaac Guion Jr (1720-1783) married Anne Maria Bolt (1713-1757) in 1741 in New
Rochelle, Westchester County, NY

1. Doctor Isaac Guion Jr (1741-1803)
Isaac married Ferebe Pugh Williams (1746-1811)
1) Isaac Lee Guion (1776-1815)
2) Ferebe Pugh Guion (1778-)
3) Ann Maria Guion (1780-)
4) John Williams Guion (1783-1848)
5) Sarah Sally Guion (1785-1841)

2. Letitia Elida Guion (1745-1778)
Letitia married Joseph Purdy (1744-1814) on 19Mar1767 in Rye, NY
1) Joshua Purdy (1767-1848)
2) Mary Purdy (1769-1779)
3) Anna Purdy (1771-1847)
4) Isaac Purdy (1773-1836)
5) Letty Purdy (1778-1836)
6) Thomas Purdy (1781-1862)
7) Mary Rafter Purdy (1784-1871)
8) Rachel Purdy (1792-1861)

4. Rachel Guion (1747-)
Rachel married Thomas Rafter (1738-)
- No record of children

5. Maria Guion (1751-)
Maria married James Coles (1743-)
- No record of children

6. Frederick Sorvine Guion (1753-1808) - died in SC
- No record of marriage

7. Angelique Guion (1755-)
- No record of marriage
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Epitah from find-a-grave.com

Generation #11: Louis Guion (see para 11.169) went first to England with his family,
coming afterwards to America, where he arrived in 1687, and settled in New Rochelle,
West Chester County, New York. New Rochelle, named in honor of the old home in
France, was for many years the principal settlement of the Huguenots in our Northern
States.

Louis Guion Cedar Grove Cemetery
(New Bern, Craven County, NC)

Generation #10: Isaac Guion, (see para 10.85) son of Louis, is said to have been born
during the voyage to America, but more probably was born at New Rochelle in 1692. He
died at New Rochelle in 1766.

Generation #9: His son Isaac (2nd) (see para 9.43) was born at New Rochelle in 1720
and died there in 1784.

Generation #8: This Isaac had a son, also Isaac, (see para 8.22) the grandfather of Dr.
John A. Guion, who was born in New Rochelle in March, 1740; he it was, the first of the
name, who came to North Carolina, where he established himself in the practice of
medicine. He married Ferebe Pugh Williams, who was born at Fort Barnwell in Craven
County, 26th of May, 1746. At the time of this marriage she was a widow.

Isaac Guion settled first on White Oak River in Onslow County, from whence he removed
with his wife to New Bern. By this marriage there were five children, of whom two, Isaac
Lee and Elizabeth Pugh (Mrs. Francis Hawks) were born in Onslow County, and three
were natives of New Bern, viz. Ann Maria (Mrs. Hugh Jones); John Williams, the father
of Dr. John A. Guion; and Margaret Sarah (Mrs. Andrew Scott).
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9.44 | Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents

(mother/father/mother/father/mother/mother)

Husband Marriage Wife
(Colonel) John Williams Date: Ferebe Pugh
DOB: Location: DOB: 1723
City/State: North Carolina City/State: Bertie, NC
Residence: Children Residence:
Residence: Ferebe Pugh Williams Residence:
(1746-1811)
married
Dr Isaac Guion 11l
(1741-1803)
Date of Death: Date of Death: 1759
Cemetery: Cemetery:
City, State: Virginia City, State: Virginia
Father: Father:
Francis Pugh
(1692-1736)
Mother: Mother:

Ferebe Randolph Savage
(1699-1750)

NOTES

NOTES

George was unable to find reference to Colonel | Ferebe's Husband #1 was Thomas Barker
John Williams except for one family tree on (1711-1787) - no children identified. Thus far

ancestry.com.

researcher had identified Ferebe as having only
one child.
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9.45 | Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents

(mother/father/mother/mother/father/father)

Husband Marriage Wife

Unknown Date: Unknown
DOB: Location: DOB:
City/State: City/State:
Residence: Children Residence:
Residence: Rev James Rogers Residence:

(1768-1830)

married

Jane Wilson Murray

(-1803)

in Ireland
Date of Death: Date of Death:
Cemetery: Cemetery:
City, State: City, State:
Father: Father:
Mother: Mother:

NOTES NOTES
9.46 | Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents
(mother/father/mother/mother/father/mother)
Husband Marriage Wife

Unknown Date: Unknown
DOB: Location: DOB:
City/State: City/State:
Residence: Children Residence:
Residence: Jane Wilson Murray Residence:

(-1803)

married

Rev James Rogers

(1768-1830)

in Ireland
Date of Death: Date of Death:
Cemetery: Cemetery:
City, State: City, State:
Father: Father:
Mother: Mother:

NOTES NOTES
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9.47 | Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents
(mother/father/mother/mother/mother/father)

Husband Marriage Wife
Humphrey Judge Fullerton Date: 1769 Martha Mitchell
DOB: 1748 Location: Pequea, DOB: 11Nov1750
Lancaster County, PA
(by Rev John Cuthbertson)
City/State: Leacock, Lower City/State: Bucks, Newtown
Lancaster, PA Township, PA
Residence: Children Residence:
Residence: David Fullerton Residence:
(1772-1843)
Date of Death: 1795 Date of Death: 1792
Cemetery: Brown's Mill Cemetery: Brown's Mill
Graveyard, Antrium Township, Graveyard, Antrium Township,
Franklin County, PA Franklin County, PA
City, State: Antrium Township, City, State: Antrium
Franklin County, PA Township, Franklin County, PA
Father: Father:
Humphrey Fullerton 11 David Mitchell
(1715-1780) (-)
Mother: Mother:
Mary St Clair Clark
(1717-1752)

NOTES | NOTES

The name 'Fullerton’ appears in Ireland as early as 1602. Those bearing that name in
Ayrshire were Covenanters, and as they were subjected to heavy finds there in the time of
James I, it is supposed that the progenitors of the American family crossed to Ireland
about that time.

Para 11.195 - It is known that a Humphrey Fullerton fought under King William 111 at the
battle of Boyne Water , and was given a sword by the King which was treasured by the
family for several generations. This Humphrey immigrated to America in 1723 (or 1725)
- sailing from Chester, England. He settled in Pequea, Lancaster County, Pennsylvania.

Para 10.93 - This Humphrey's son also named Humphrey (1717-1778) who was six years
old at the emigration. Humphrey married a daughter of Daniel Clark - a wealthy London
merchant.

Para 9.47 - His son Humphrey Fullerton (1748-1795) was born in Pequea, PA and died
near Green Castle, PA. He was a surveyor - in that capacity he was an assistant in the
survey of the boundary line between Pennsylvania and New York. He was a man of
means and of good position. He married Martha Mitchell.
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Descendants of Humphrey Fullerton and Martha Mitchell

Humphrey Judge Fullerton (1746-1792) married Martha Mitchell (1750-1792) in 1769 in
PA

1. David Fullerton (1772-1843)
David married Joanna Lind (1770-1837) on 18Sep1792
1) Humphrey Fullerton (1791-1849)
2) Jennet Fullerton (1793-1816)
3) Matthew Fullerton (1794-)
4) Martha Fullerton (1797-1827)
Martha married John Rogers (1793-1854)
5) Joanna Fullerton (1799-1849)
David married Esther Robison (1799-1880)

2. Elizabeth Fullerton (1773-)
Elizabeth married Hugh McCormick 111 (1762-1835) in 1787
1) Hugh McCormick 1V (1789-)
2) Joseph McCormick (1793-1859)
3) Elvina McCormick (1796-)
4) Fullerton McCormick (1798-)
5) Martha McCormick (1800-1817)
6) Mary Ellen McCormick (1802-1854)
7) Charles Neville McCormick (1804-1839)

3. Humphrey Fullerton (1775-1830)
Humphrey married Catherine Dixon (1782-1854)
1) Doctor William Fullerton (1802-1875)
2) Humphrey Fullerton (1804-1878)
3) Franklin Fullerton (1807-1869)
4) Margaret Elvira Fullerton (1808-1888)
5) Angus Lewis Fullerton (1812-1874)
6) Martha A Fullerton (1824-1837)
7) Dixon Fullerton (1815-1908)
8) Catherine Fullerton (1818-1835)

4. Thomas Mitchell Fullerton Sr (1778-1835)
Thomas married ??
1) Thomas Mitchell Fullerton Jr (1832-1890)
Thomas married Elizabeth Stewart (1782-1825)
1) Hugh Stewart Fullerton (1805-1863)
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2) Dolly Blair Fullerton (1807-1897)
3) George Steward Fullerton (1813-)
4) Robert Stewart Fullerton (1821-1865)

5. George Fullerton (1779-)
- No record of marriage

6. Anne Fullerton (1779-)
- No record of marriage

7. Elinor Fullerton (1781-)
- No record of marriage

8. William Fullerton (1786-)
- No record of marriage

Humphrey Fullerton served as a Private under Capt. James Young, First Call, 23
October 1777, and in January 1778; under Capt. John Woods in 1780; and in 1782, with
Capt. James Poe. Miss Mary L. McFarland, a descendant, stated that Humphrey
Fullerton was buried at Brown's Mill Graveyard, Antrim Township, Franklin County,
PA. His wife was Martha Mitchell of Lancaster County, PA. In his will, he mentions his
mother, Ann, who died 14 March 1804. On 18 April 1782, he was appointed a Justice of
the Peace for Cumberland County and he continued to serve in the same capacity for
Franklin County after its erection in 1784. He was Greencastle's first Justice of the
Peace and by 1792, he maintained an office in the town, as stated in the paper on "Early
Days of Greencastle™ prepared by the late Judge D. Watson Rowe. He died in January
1792. His will, dated 15 December 1791, provides that his widow shall have the sum of
300 pounds, his Negro wench Rachel, a horse, saddle, 2 good cows, 6 sheep, her chest of
drawers, a small table, 5 pounds with which to buy chairs and kitchen furniture and that
she is to have the benefit of 2 rooms in the east of the house, if she remains his widow.
One of the witnesses to the will is Matthew Lind Jr., evidently a son of the Rev. Matthew
Lind and his wife, who are buried at Brown's Mill and the latter of whom is described as
"among wives, the most dutiful, among mothers the most affectionate, and among friends
the kindest and most hospitable™. To son David, part of my tract adjoining Muddy Run,
including my mill, near John Wood's bridge.....to a meadow called Miller's Meadow;
along the Great Road....my Negro servant Caesor. To son Humphrey, the tract whereon |
now lives, 223 acres, also a long strip of my other tract along the Great Road to Adam
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Hoop's line.....my tract on Sugar Creek, Westmoreland County, PA, and my Negro man
Jack. To daughter Elizabeth, the tract in my name on the waters of Sugar Creek,
adjoining land of Hugh, Henry and James Brown; also my Negro wench, Kate. To son
Thomas, a tract of land....... To daughter Anne, a tract on Sugar Creek adjoining lands
of Elizabeth. To daughter Elinor, a tract in Westmoreland County, PA. To son William,
remainder of the tract whereon my mill now stands. John Woods and son David,
guardians of Elizabeth, Anne, Elinor, Thomas and William. Humphrey Fullerton married
Catherine Dixon, went to Ohio. David Fullerton married Joanna Lind. Thomas Fullerton
married Elizabeth Stewart (of Hugh). Anne Fullerton married Robert Robinson; she was
his 2nd wife. Eleanor (Nelly) Fullerton married John Blythe, 11 October 1799, went to
Westmoreland County. Elizabeth Fullerton married Mr. McCormick of Virginia. William
Fullerton married Barbara ??.

(Source: American Revolutionary Soldiers of Franklin County, PA, page 238; PA
Archives, 5th Series, Volume 6, pages 79, 92, 138, 522, 526, 576, 583; PA Archives, 2nd
Series, Volume 3, page 661)
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9.48 | Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents

(mother/father/mother/mother/mother/mother)

Husband Marriage Wife
Matthew Lind Date: Janet (Jennet) Fulton
DOB: 10Augl731 Location: DOB: 10Augl733
City/State: Corkermaine, City/State: Pennsylvania
County Antrim, Ireland
Residence: Children Residence:
Residence: Joanna Lind Residence:

(15Feb1770-1837)

Date of Death: 21Apr1800

Date of Death: 21Apri819

Cemetery: Brown's Mill
Graveyard, Antrium Township,
Franklin County

Cemetery: Brown's Mill
Graveyard, Antrium Township,
Franklin County, PA

City, State: Greencastle,
Franklin County, PA

City, State: Pennsylvania

Father: Father:

Matthew Lind of Antrim,

Ireland

()

Mother: Mother:
NOTES NOTES

The Lind family immigrated through the port

of Philadelphia in 1773.

Jennett's Will was dated 4 Dec 1817 and
probated 5 May 1819.

Lind.

Her tombstone calls her Jennet (Fulton)

Matthew matriculated at the University of Glasgow, Scotland in 1760. He was ordained
a minister of the Irish Reformed Presbyterian Church. From 1760-1773, Rev Matthew
Lind was minister of the Aghadowey Reformed Presbyterian Congregation. In 1773, he
sailed to America where he met the Reverends John Cubbertson and Alexander Dobbin at
Paxtang in Dauphin County, PA. They constituted the Reformed Presbytery of North
America. Reverend Linn cared for that church along with the church in Stony Ridge,

Cumberland County, PA.
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Descendants of Matthew Lind and Jennet Fulton

Matthew Lind (1731-1800) married Jennet Fulton (1746-1819) in 1764 in PA
Children were born in Brown Mills, Franklin County, PA

1. Matthew Lind, Jr (1765-)
- Unk place of birth and death
- No record of marriage

2. Jane Lind (22Aug1767-150ct1809)
- born in PA; died in Chester, SC
Jane married Reverend John Hemphill (1761-1832)
1) Jennet Hemphill (1794-1818)
2) Margaret Hemphill (1797-1885)
3) Matthew Lind Hemphill (1801-1829)
4) John Hemphill (1803-1862)
5) Reverend William Ramsey Hemphill (1806-1876)
6) Eliza Hemphill (1809-1842)
7) Robert Nixon Hemphill (181-1891)

3. Joanna Lind (15Jan1770-29Jul1837)
- born & died in Greencastle, Franklin County, PA
Joanna married David Fullerton (1772-1843)
1) Martha Fullerton (1797-1827)
Martha married John Rogers (1793-1854)
2) Joanna (Johanna) Fullerton (1799-1849)

4. Reverend John Lind Jr (17Mar1784-1824)
- died in Maryland
John married Ann Washington Smith (-1819
1) Hannah St Clair Smith Lind (1808-1895)

5. Elizabeth Lind (27Jul1786-1872)
Elizabeth married Reverend Robert C Reid (1781-1844)
1) Jeannette Lind Reid (1829-1888)
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Matthew Lind Rev. Last name is also spelled Linn by some people.

Birth 10 Aug 1731 in Corkermaine, Co Antrim, Ireland

Death 21 Apr 1800 in Browns Mills or Greencastle, Franklin, Pennsylvania.
Died at 68 years 8 months.

The inscription on Rev Lind's headstone reads:

"Sacred to the Memory of the Rev. Matthew Lind Who after having served God in the
Gospel of his Son for nearly forty years and performed with exemplary tenderness and
fidelity the duties resulting from his relations in life fell asleep in Jesus on the 21st of
April 1800 Aged 68 years and 8 months Blessed are the dead who die in the Lord."

In 1760, Matthew Lind, second son of Matthew Lind in Antrim, Ireland, matriculated at
the University of Glasgow, Scotland; in 1763, he was ordained a Minister of the Irish
Reformed Presbyterian Church. From 1760 to 1773, Rev. Matthew Lind was minister of
the Aghadowey Reformed Presbyterian Congregation. In 1773, he sailed to America, met
with Revs. John Cuthbertson and Alexander Dobbin at Paxtang in Dauphin County,
Pennsylvania, and constituted with them as the Reformed Presbyterian Presbytery of
North America. Rev. Lind located to Paxtang and cared for that church along with the
church in Stony Ridge, Cumberland County.

Sources:

1. The Matriculation Albums of the University of Glasgow," The University, Glasgow
(1913)

2. The Scotch-Irish, or the Scot in North Britain, North Ireland, and North America, Vol.
I, Charles A. Hanna, New York and London (1902)

Rev. Lind was born not just in County Antrim but specifically at Corkermaine, near
Cairncastle [History of the Reformed Presbyterian Church in America, W. Melancthon
Glasgow, Baltimore, Maryland (1888)].

In Ulster, Ireland, the family name was spelled Lynd more often than Lind.

Wife of Rev. Matthew Lind. Died in her 73rd year (or seventy-third year). Her
tombstone reads:

"In Memory of Jennie Fulton Consort of the Rev. Matthew Lind. Among wives the
most dutiful, among mothers the most affectionate, and among friends the kindest and
most hospitable, her name will be always dear to those who knew her. She died on the
first day of April 1819, in the seventy-third year of her age. Precious in the sight of the
Lord is the death of his Saints."
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9.49 | Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents

(mother/mother/father/father/father/father)

Husband Marriage Wife
Unknown Date: Unknown
DOB: Location: DOB:
City/State: City/State:
Residence: Children Residence:
Residence: Unknown Residence:
Date of Death: Date of Death:
Cemetery: Cemetery:
City, State: City, State:
Father: Father:
Mother: Mother:
NOTES NOTES
9.50 | Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents
(mother/mother/father/father/father/mother)
Husband Marriage Wife
Unknown Date: Unknown
DOB: Location: DOB:
City/State: City/State:
Residence: Children Residence;
Residence: Unknown Residence;
Date of Death: Date of Death:
Cemetery: Cemetery:
City, State: City, State:
Father: Father:
Mother: Mother:
NOTES NOTES
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9.51 | Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents

(mother/mother/father/father/mother/father)

Husband Marriage Wife
Unknown Date: Unknown
DOB: Location: DOB:
City/State: City/State:
Residence: Children Residence:
Residence: Unknown Residence:
Date of Death: Date of Death:
Cemetery: Cemetery:
City, State: City, State:
Father: Father:
Mother: Mother:
NOTES NOTES
9.52 | Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents
(mother/mother/father/father/mother/mother)
Husband Marriage Wife
Unknown Date: Unknown
DOB: Location: DOB:
City/State: City/State:
Residence: Children Residence:
Residence: Unknown Residence:
Date of Death: Date of Death:
Cemetery: Cemetery:
City, State: City, State:
Father: Father:
Mother: Mother:
NOTES NOTES
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9.53 | Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents

(mother/mother/father/mother/father/father)

Husband Marriage Wife
Unknown Date: Unknown
DOB: Location: DOB:
City/State: City/State:
Residence: Children Residence:
Residence: Unknown Residence:
Date of Death: Date of Death:
Cemetery: Cemetery:
City, State: City, State:
Father: Father:
Mother: Mother:
NOTES NOTES
9.54 | Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents
(mother/mother/father/mother/father/mother)
Husband Marriage Wife
Unknown Date: Unknown
DOB: Location: DOB:
City/State: City/State:
Residence: Children Residence;
Residence: Unknown Residence;
Date of Death: Date of Death:
Cemetery: Cemetery:
City, State: City, State:
Father: Father:
Mother: Mother:
NOTES NOTES
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9.55 | Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents

(mother/mother/father/mother/mother/father)

Husband Marriage Wife
Unknown Date: Unknown
DOB: Location: DOB:
City/State: City/State:
Residence: Children Residence:
Residence: Unknown Residence:
Date of Death: Date of Death:
Cemetery: Cemetery:
City, State: City, State:
Father: Father:
Mother: Mother:
NOTES NOTES
9.56 | Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents
(mother/mother/father/mother/mother/mother)
Husband Marriage Wife
Unknown Date: Unknown
DOB: Location: DOB:
City/State: City/State:
Residence: Children Residence;
Residence: Unknown Residence;
Date of Death: Date of Death:
Cemetery: Cemetery:
City, State: City, State:
Father: Father:
Mother: Mother:
NOTES NOTES
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9.57

Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents
(mother/mother/mother/father/father/father)

Husband Marriage Wife
Moses Bellagh, Sr Date: 1751 Agnes Hester
DOB: 16Augl1732 Location: Charleston, DOB: 16Augl732
(26Aug1732 on hirth record) Berkeley, SC
City/State: Berkley County, SC City/State: Charles Town,
Berkeley County, SC
Residence: 1780 - Rowan Children Residence:
County, NC ("Cap Brandon's
District™)
Residence: Samuel Walter Bellah, Sr | Residence:

(1752-1828)

Date of Death: 1783

Date of Death: 1819

Cemetery: Cemetery:
City, State: Rowan County, NC City, State: Tennessee
Father: Father:

(Captain) William Ballagh
(1708- 11Apr1740)

- Irish immigrant from Antrim,
Ireland

Philip Pendleton
(1695-1753)

Mother:
Mary Brittain (or Bretaigne)
(1705-1800)

Mother:
Elizabeth Pollard
(1694-1748)

NOTES

NOTES

William Ballagh's Children:

1. Moses Bellagh, Sr (1732-1783)

2. Catherine Bellagh (1735-)

3. Marmaduke Bellagh (1738- )

child.

Note: Notice the 12-year gap between marriage
of Moses and Agnes and the birth of their first

Note: Moses changed family surname from
Bellagh to Bellah when his children were born.

In late 1700s, tax and census records listed
family surname as Bellar or Bellow.
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Descendants of Moses Bellagh, Sr and Agnes Hester

Moses Bellagh, Sr married Agnes Hester (1732-1819) on 180ct1740 in Spotsylvania, Va
- Notice that this couple were married ~12 years before 1st child was born!!
Needs further research.

1. Samuel Walter Bellah, Sr (2Jan1752-2Feb1828)

Samuel married Hannah ?? in ~1772
1) Moses Bellah (1773- )
2) Elizabeth Bellah (1774- )
Elizabeth married Thomas Phillips (-) in 1800
3) Reuben Bellah (1776- )
Reuben married Mary Lamb (-)
Reuben married Barbara Whately (-)
4) Samuel Bellah (1778- )
Samuel married Mary Phillips (-)
5) John Bellah (1782- ) - Hannah died of childbirth complications
John married Nancy McLane (-)

Samuel married Jane Morgan (1763-1832) on 15Jul1786
1) Rev James Bellah (1788- )
James married Mary Polly Pharr (1786-1855)
2) Robert Bellah (1790- )
3) Temperance Bellah (1795- )
4) Rachel Bellah (1797- )
5) Morgan Bellah (1799-)

2. Moses Bellah, Jr (1758-1828) - died in Smith County, TN
Moses married Elizabeth Anderson (1770-1849) on 21Feb1792
1) John Bellah (1792-1864)
2) Nancy Bellah (1794-1866)
3) Samuel Bellah (1797-1831)
4) Elizabeth Bellah (1799-1818)

3. John Bellah (1759-1780)
- No record of marriage

4. Comfort Bellah (1760-1843)
Comfort married John Lamb (1760-1842) in 1779
1) Catherine Lamb (1780-1817)
2) James Lamb (1782-1865)

Generation 9
Page 9-132



3)
4)
5)
6)
7)
8)
9)
10)
11)
12)
13)

5. Walter Bellah (1750-1812) - descendants are in Missouri

Elizabeth Lamb (1783-1843)
Virginia Jinney Lamb (1784-1790)
John Lamb (1786-1843)

Moses Lamb (1788-1804)
William Lamb (1790-1843)
Walter Lamb (1792-1814)

Mary Polly Lamb (1796-1876)
Elias Lamb (1798-1870)

Thomas Lamb (1801-1881)
Elisha Lamb (1803-1850)

Nancy 'Agnes' Lamb (1805-1880)

Walter married Jane Morgan (1763-1832)

1)
2)
3)
4)
5)
6)

William Ballagh (i.e., father of Moses Bellagh) was the first American ancestor of the
Bellah lineage. He emigrated from Antrim, Ireland via Charleston, SC in 1692. Moses
Bellagh moved his family to Rowan County, NC prior to 1752. It is at that point that the

James Bellah (1794-1874)
Mary Polly Bellah (1796-)

William Walter Bellah Jr (1802-1875)

Moses Bellah (1803-1848)
Lydia Bellah (1805-)
Barbara Bellah (-)

Ballaugh surname was corrupted to 'Bellah'.

Moses moved to Rowan County, Salisbury, North Carolina sometime prior to 1752. He
obtained a Crown Grant from Gov. Alexander Martin of North Carolina of 300 acres of
land on the waters of the Dutch Buffalo River on 100c¢t1783. We do not know why he
left his land on St. John's Island to set out at such an early age but he was already married

as his first son was born on 2Jan1752.

Moses Bellagh Family (circa 1765)
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9.58 | Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents

(mother/mother/mother/father/father/mother)

Husband Marriage Wife
James Morgan Date: 1752 Rachael Jack
DOB: 1724 Location: Elkton, Cecil DOB: 1725

County, MD

City/State: Glamorganshire, City/State: Ireland
Wales
Residence: Children Residence:
Residence: Jane Morgan Residence:

(16Jun1763-1832)

Date of Death: 1784

Date of Death: 1810

Cemetery: Cemetery:

City, State: Salisbury, Rowan City, State: Salisbury, Rowan
County, NC County, NC

Father: Father:

Hugh Morgan Patrick Jack

(1700- ) (1700-1780)

B: Somerset, England
D: Rowan County, NC

Mother:

Rachel Jack McReaden
(1721-1810)

b: Ireland, d: Rowan County,
NC

married in Glamorrganshire,
Wales in 1724

Mother:
Lillis McAdoo
(1714-1783)

NOTES

NOTES

James emigrated from Wales through New
Jersey in 1751 and settled in Cecil County.

The Jack family immigrated from Ireland to
Pennsylvania prior to 1731 because James Jack
(1731-1822) was born in Chambersburg,
Franklin County, PA
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Descendants of James Morgan and Rachael Jack

James Morgan (1728-1784) married Rachael Jack (1725-1810) in 1752 in Elkton, MD
Each child was born in Elkton, Cecil County, MD

1. Hugh Morgan (1754-1859)
Hugh married Elizabeth Van Poole (1755-1847)
1) Jacob M Morgan (1775-1863)
2) Nathan Morgan (1782-)
3) Hugh Morgan (1785-)
4) Robert H Morgan (1786-1855)
5) Rachel Morgan (1787-)
6) Betsy Morgan (1790-)

2. Nathan Morgan (1756-1842)
Nathan married Naomi Poole (1760-1851)
1) James Morgan (1780-)
2) Nathan Morgan (1785-1844)
3) John Morgan (1794-)
4) Hugh Morgan (1794-1877)
5) Henry Morgan (1798-)

3. James Robert Morgan (1760-1814)
James married Martha Parke (1773-1818) in 1792
1) James Morgan (1793-1870)
2) Kathryn Morgan (1797-1850)
3) Benjamin Booth Morgan (1802-1860)
4) Nathan Russell Morgan (1803-1880)

4. Enoch Morgan (1761-1826)
Enoch married Jane Ross (1758-)
1) Elizabeth Hannah Morgan (1788-)
2) Nicholas Ross Morgan (1789-1863)
3) James Wiley Morgan (1790-1837)
4) Enoch Morgan (1790-1840)
5) John Wilson Morgan (1799-1845)
6) McCarnie Washington Morgan (1801-1836)
7) Rachel Morgan (1804-)
8) Jane Harris Morgan (1804-1844)
9) Lena Morgan (-)
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10)  Lavinia Morgan (-)

Jane Morgan (16Jun1763-1832)
Jane married Samuel Walter Bellah, Sr (1752-1828)
1) Reverend James Bellah (1788-1834)

James married Mary Polly Pharr (1786-1855)

Robert Morgan (1767-1840)
- No record of marriage
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9.59 | Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents

(mother/mother/mother/father/mother/father)

Husband Marriage Wife
Edward Neddy Pharr Date: 1748 Rachel Beard
DOB: 1720 Location: Lynchburg, DOB: 1730

Campbell County, VA

City/State: Antrium, County
Ulster, Northern Ireland

City/State: Lynchburg, VA

Residence: 1748 - Bedford Children Residence:
County, VA
Residence: 1784 - Wilkes Ephriam Alexander Pharr | Residence:
County, GA (1757-1798)

married

Jane Ashton Smith
(1768-1862)

Date of Death: 23Aug1793

Date of Death: 20Aprl778

Cemetery:

Cemetery:

City, State: Washington
(Heard's Fort), Wilkes County,

City, State: Lynchburg,
Bedford County, VA

GA

Father: Father:
Joseph Frederick Pharr John Beard
(20Apr1689-3Fehl727) (1705-1780)
Mother: Mother:

Margaret Ann Thatcher
(1687-1735)

Elizabeth Rutherford
(1710-1780)

NOTES

NOTES

Per Book of Pharrs and Farrs - Edward Neddy
Phair and his family moved from Virginia to
Mecklinberg County, NC, and later into
Georgia. Some of his descendants moved to
Mississippi and others to Texas.
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Descendants of Edward 'Nelly' Pharr and Rachel Beard

Edward 'Neddy' Pharr (1720-1793) married Rachel Beard (1730-1778) in 1748 in
Lynchburg, VA

1. Rachel Pharr (1747-1822)
Rachel married James Robertson (-) about 1762 in VA

2. Margery Pharr (1749-1798)
Margery married Joseph Wallace (-)

3. Ephraim Alexander Pharr Sr (1757-1798)
- Born in Ireland on 300ct1757; died 7May1804 in Oglethorpe, GA
- signed his Will as 'Ephraim Phair"
Ephraim married Jane Ashton Smith (1768-1862) in GA

1)
2)
3)

4)
5)

Mary Polly Pharr (3Dec1786-1850)

Mary married Rev James Bellah (1788-1834)

Elizabeth Holton Pharr (27May1788-28May1855)

Elizabeth married William Patrick (1760-18Jun1833) on 5Nov1821
Ephraim Alexander Pharr (24Jun1794-26Jul1846)

Jemima Pharr (1797-1860)

Margaret Pharr (-)

4. Samuel Ezekiel Pharr (1759-7May1804)
Samuel married Elizabeth Bailey (-)

5. Margaret Pharr (1759-)
Margaret married James Wilson (-)

6. Mary Ann Pharr (1761-1766)
- Died as a young girl

7. Reverend Edward T Pharr (1766-1845)
Edward married Mary Orr (1790-1816)

1)
2)
3)
4)
5)
6)

Hannah Pharr (1799-)
Elizabeth Pharr (1800-1825)
Mary Polly Pharr (1802-)
John Thomas Pharr (1804-)
Edward Pharr (1807-1865)
Ephraim Pharr (-1850)
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7) William Pharr (1813-1882)
Edward married Margaret McMillan (-)

8. Francis Pharr (1768-1803)
- Never married; died in Elbert County, GA

9. Jonathan Pharr (1769-)
Jonathan married Ester Thomas (-)

10.  John Houlton Pharr (10Aug1760-1829)

Edward 'Neddy' Pharr married Mary Orr (1770-1816) on 9Jan1790 in Guilford,
Mecklenburg County, NC

Notes on Edward Neddy

He received Deed from John Beard to land in Virginia in 1751. His daughter Rachel
Married James Robertson abt 1762. His 10th child John Houlton was born about 1774.
He was in Mecklenburg County, NC. in 1779 and made deed to land in Virginia. John
Beard in his will April 4, 1780 mentions his former son-in-law Edward Phair. He was in
Georgia (Wilkes Co.) by March 25, 1784. His name was not in the census for Va. or NC.
for the United States in 1790. The 1790 census for Georgia was burned. He made his
will Aug. 27, 1793 which was probated Feb. 11, 1795 in Wilkes Co. Ga. His son Samuel
joined the Revolutionary from Mecklenburg Co. NC. and afterwards settled in Abbeville
Dist. SC - which is near Wilkes Co., Ga. Edward Faire is mentioned in Early Georgia
records pg. 70 as Tax one poll, 400 Acres Wilkes County, 575 Washington County. Also
mentioned is Ephraim Faire 1 Poll and 575 Acres Wilkes County.

Notes on Rachel Beard.
Rachel Beard was the daughter of John and Elizabeth Beard who lived
in Lunenburg (afterwards Bedford) Co. Va.

Notes on her daughter Rachel and husband James Roberts.

From Pharrs and Farrs Rachel Phair father Edward in his will dated 8/27/1793 in
Wilkes Co., Ga. bequeathed her "one shilling sterling”. He husband was the son of James
Robertson and Mary Fuqua of Otlo River, Bedford Co., Va. and grandson of James
Roberston (d. 1752) of Rockfish River in Allemande Co., Va. and Rebecca Roysden
(Royston). The family lived near Appomattox Va. where the old brick residence still stood
in 1928.
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EDWARD NEDDY PHARR

Notes
PHARR FAMILY

Four brothers and one sister, Henry, Edward{Neddy}, Ephraim, George, and Margaret came to America in about 1748. They came to
Yark County, Pa. from Ireland. The York County records show that George was holding public officz in 1749. They were believed to have
lived in York County for some time,

Edward was bom in 1720 in Northern Ireland. He died in Georgia in 1794. His will was probated February 11, 1795 in Wilks County
Georgia. He moved to Mucklenburg County Nerth Carolina from Virginia. Later he moved to Wilks County Georgiz. Edward(Neddy)
Pharr marvied Rachel Beard in 1748. she was born in 1730 in Virginia. She died in 1778 in Virginia. She was the daughter of John and
Elizabeth Beard of Bedford County Virginia. Rache! and Edward had ten children. They were:Rachel, Margaret, Ephraim, Samuel,
Margery, Anne, Edward, Francis, Jonathan and John.

Samuel was bom in Virginia, October 30, 1757. He died May 7, 1804 in Abbeville County South Carolina. He served 2s a Lt. in the
calvary in the Revolutionary war from Mucklenburg, North Carolina. Lt. Samuel Pharr married Elizabeth Bailey February 11, 1783. She
was born June 9, 1765. She died August 7, 1845 in Guivette County Georgia. They had nine children. They were: Elizabeth, Edward,
Thomas, Mary Ann, Thatcher, Joseph Wilson, Margaret, Jane{Janey) and Hezekezh Walt.

Thomas was bor Januaty 23, 1789. He died about 1854. He is buried in Belmont cemetery, Belmoot, Mississippi. Thomes Pharr was
highly educated Presbyterian minister. He moved from South Carolina to Mississippi in 1330’s. Rev. Pharr married about 1809 in Abbyville
County South Carolina to Elizabeth Razor. She was born August 23, 1790 in virginia and died December 9, 1882 in Abbyville, South
Carolina. Afier 1870 she retumned to her brother Ezekial Razor. She, her brother Ezekial and his wife were buried side by side in the Turkey
Creek Baptist Church Cemetery, Abbeville County South Carolina.

Ellizabeth Razor was the danghter of Sarah Ann Simms and Christain Razor. Christain Razor was 2 soldier in the Revolutionary war.
Both were buried in the Greenville Preshyterian Church Cemetery, Abbeville, South Carolina.

Thomas Pharr and Elizabeth Razor Pharr had ten children. They were: Samuel, Mary Elizabeth, Amy, Mandy, Ezekial, John Christain,
Sarah Margaret, Permelia, James, and Hezekizh.

Sarah Margaret was born December 6, 1827 in South Carolina. She died June 1914, She and her parents moved from South Carolina to
Tishominge, Mississippi in 1830. They later moved to Dorsey, Mississiippi. She married John Shefficld sbout 1840. John Sheffield served
in both the Civil War and the Mexican War. John was boen October 30, 1819. He died November 25, 1902. He was the son of Evercitc and
Susannah Sheffield. Sarah Margaret and John had ten children. They were: Jane Pharr, Susannah, Isaac Judson, Thomas , Becky Ann,
Ophelia, Fannie, John, Everette and Eddie

Isaac Judson Sheffield was born April 18, 1850. He died December 10, 1935. When the war broke out, John Sheffield, his father, enlisted
as a confederate soldier. The son, Isaac Judson , was too young to enlist, but served his state by supporting 2 large family during his father's
absence. Is2ac married Fannic McBride about 1870. Fannie McBride was bom October 22, 1853-died December 16, 1909. She was the
daughter of Giles McBride and Mary Norwood McBride. The MicBrides’s formerly lived in Floreace, Alabama but moved to Fulton,
Mississippi in 1865. They were of Irish decent. Giles McBride was a Captain in the Confederate Army. Isazo{Pa Jud) and Fannie had eleven
children. They were: Robert Sidney, Mary Lillian, Margaret Lula, Albert, Lee Samuel, Carrie, Emma, Nannie, Isazc Lewis, Gilbert, 2nd
Eron.

Robert Sidney was born August 16, 1872 and died March 6, 1939. He married Leona Gregory, daughter of Alfred and Laura Lambert
Gregory. Sidney was a farmer, teacher, superintendent of county schools and State Representative. Sidney and Leona are buried at Wakton

Cemetery, liawamba County Mississippi. They had nine Children, They were: Myrtis, Jeff Aurelia, Stanley, Phillip, Fannie Laura, Agnes,
Franklin{Todd), and Mary Sue.
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9.60 | Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents

(mother/mother/mother/father/mother/mother)

Husband Marriage Wife

Unknown Date: Unknown
DOB: Location: DOB:
City/State: City/State:
Residence: Children Residence:
Residence: Jane Ashton Smith Residence:

(1768-1862)

married

Ephraim Alexander Pharr

(1757-1798)

in 1792 in GA
Date of Death: Date of Death:
Cemetery: Cemetery:
City, State: City, State:
Father: Father:
Mother: Mother:

NOTES NOTES
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9.61 | Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents

(mother/mother/mother/mother/father/father)

Husband Marriage Wife
Isaac John Middlebrook, Sr Date: 1754 Anne Simms
DOB: 12Janl726 Location: Caswell DOB: 1729
County, NC
City/State: Caswell County, NC City/State: Hogans Creek,
Caswell County, NC

Residence: Children Residence:

Residence: Isaac John Middlebrook, Jr | Residence:

(1755-1830)

Date of Death: 30Dec1817

Date of Death: 1812

Cemetery: Cemetery:

City, State: Orange, Caswell City, State: Orange, Caswell
County, NC County, NC

Father: Father:

David Middlebrook
(1704-1780)

William Simms
(1695-1778)

Mother: Mother:
Elizabeth Williams Elizabeth ??
(1704-1780) (-)

NOTES NOTES

Generation 9
Page 9-142




Descendants of Isaac John Middlebrook, Sr and Anne Simms

Isaac John Middlebrook(s), Sr (1726-1817) married Anne Simms (1729-1812) in 1754

1.

Isaac John Middlebrooks, Jr (20Sep1755-1823)
- b: Caswell County, NC; d: Savannah, GA

Isaac married Mary Ware Lyon (1760-) in 1780 in Caswell County, NC
1) Zere Pendergrass Middlebrook (1782-1869)
Zere married Sophia Weston Shell (1789-1877)
2) Andrew Crawford Middlebrook (1784-1871)
3) David Middlebrook (1786-1858)

Isaac married Milly Sutton (1765-1798) in 1790 in Newton County, GA
1) John Middlebrooks (1791-)

2) Elizabeth Ann Middlebrook (1791-1865)

3) Abigail Caroline Middlebrook (1795-1835)

4) Isaac Middlebrook (1826-1863)

James Middlebrooks (1759-1779)
- No record of marriage

Sims Middlebrooks (1762-1840)

Sims married Elizabeth Talbot (1775-1845)

1) Isaac Roscoe Middlebrook (1796-1867)
2) Martha A Middlebrook (1798-1870)

3) Silas Talbot Middlebrook (1800-1844)

4) Thomas Alfred Middlebrook (1802-1872)
5) Nancy Middlebrook (1802-1880)

6) John S Middlebrook (1804-1872)

7) Elizabeth Middlebrook (1806-1824)

William Middlebrooks (1763-1790)
- No record of marriage

Thomas Middlebrooks (1763-1825)

Thomas married Ann Selman (1778-1859)

1) William Sims Middlebrook (1793-1849)
2) Elizabeth Middlebrook (1795-1862)

3) Nancy Middlebrook (1797-1866)
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4)
5)
6)
7)
8)
9)
10)
11)
12)

Mary Middlebrook (1799-1862)

Frances Middlebrook (1800-1884)

Allie Middlebrook (1803-1853)

Brunetta Middlebrook (1805-1864)

James Madison Middlebrook (1809-1885)
Sarah Sallie Middlebrook (1811-1834)
Thomas Jefferson Middlebrook (1814-1866)
Micha Miccie Middlebrook (1816-1885)
Hannah Middlebrook (-)

Robert Middlebrooks (1766-1837)
Robert married Nancy Talbot (1761-1850)

1)
2)
3)
4)
5)
6)
7)
8)

Polly Middlebrook (1800-1885)

Sarah Middlebrook (1802-1846)

Talbot S Middlebrook (1805-1843)

Alfred Middlebrook (1809-1887)

Bethiah Middlebrook (1811-1877)
Thomas Middlebrook (1815-1865)
Andrew Jackson Middlebrook (1818-1885)
Eliza Middlebrook (1824-)

Joseph Middlebrooks (1770-1853)
Joseph married Rachel Baxter (1780-1830)

1)
2)
3)
4)
5)
6)

Elizabeth Betty Middlebrook (1800-1863)
Ibzan Middlebrook (1805-1846)

Thomas Baxter Middlebrook (1805-1870)
Seaborn Sims Middlebrook (1807-1883)
Ann Middlebrook (1810-1880)

James Bird Middlebrook (1815-1862)

Garland Middlebrooks (1774-1774)
- Infant Death
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9.62 | Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents
(mother/mother/mother/mother/father/mother)
Husband Marriage Wife

Robert Lyon Date: 1765 Rebecca Whitlock

DOB: 1744 Location: Caswell DOB: 1744
County, NC

City/State: Caswell County, NC City/State: Caswell County,

NC

Residence: Children Residence:

Residence: Mary Lyon Residence:
(1760-)
married

Isaac John Middlebrooks,
Jr

(1755-1830)
On16Jull781 in Caswell
County, NC

Date of Death: 1804

Date of Death: 10Feb1816

Cemetery:

Cemetery:

City, State: Caswell County,
NC

City, State: Caswell County,
NC

Father: Father:
John Lyon I
(1697-1784)
Mother: Mother:
Jean Tankersley
(1725-1784)
NOTES NOTES
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Descendants of Robert Lyon and Rebecca Whitlock

Robert Lyon (1744-1804) married Rebecca Whitlock (1744-1816) in 1763 in North
Carolina

1. Mary Ware Lyon (1760-1805)
Mary married Isaac John Middlebrooks, Jr (20Sep1755-1823) on 17Jun1781 in
NC
1) Zere Pendergrass Middlebrook (1782-1869)
Zere married Sophia Weston Shell (1789-1877)
2) Andrew Crawford Middlebrook (1784-1871)
3) David Middlebrook (1786-1858)

2. Anna Lyon (1765-1822)
Anna married Nehemiah Daniel (1760-1820)
1) Nancy Jane Daniel (1788-1877)
2) Sarah Daniel (1790-1850)
3) Robert Daniel (1794-1845)
4) Drucilla Daniel (1802-1854)
5) Nehemiah Daniel (1803-1852)
6) Clarisa Daniel (1808-)

3. William Whitlock Lyon (1765-11Apr1820) - born & died in Caswell County, NC
William married Martha Cella Brown (1765-1831)
1) Edmond Lyon (1784-1850)
2) Robert Lyon (1786-1849)
William married Martha Jane Bilyeu (1812-1870)

4. Robert Lyon (1767-1805)
Robert married Charlotte ?? (1769-)
- No record of children

5. John Lyon (1769-)
- No record of marriage

6. Temperance Lyon (1780-)
Temperance married Joseph McClain (1770-1840)
1) James McClain (-)
2) Axie McClain (-)
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9.63

Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents
(mother/mother/mother/mother/mother/father)

Husband Marriage Wife
William Shell Date: May 1753 Amelia Ellis
DOB: 1728 Location: Surry County, | DOB: 1735

Va

City/State: Surry County, VA

City/State: Surry County, VA

Residence: 1753 - Surry

County, VA
Residence: 1767 - Brunswick Children Residence:
County, Va
Residence: 1780 - Below John Ellis Shell, Sr Residence:

Ninety-Six Courthouse, Ninety
Sixth District, SC

(1762-1818)

Date of Death: 9Aug1807

Amelia Shell
(1767-1835)

Date of Death: 1798

Cemetery: Jalapa Cemetery,
Newberry County, SC

Cemetery: Jalapa Cemetery,
Newberry County, SC

City, State: Jalapa, Newberry

City, State: Jalapa, Newberry

County, SC County, SC
Father: Father:
John Shell
(1680-1712)
Mother: Mother:
Esther Wigglesworth
(1685-7May1800)
NOTES | NOTES

William Shell was a veteran of the Revolutionary War as Private in the Virginia Militia.
He was also on the list of those furnishing supplies to Brunswick County, Virginia.

Shell Plantation, Newberry County, SC
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Descendants of William Shell

A William Shell (1728-1807) married Amelia Ellis (1735-1798) in 1753 in Surry
County, VA

1. Stephen Shell (7May1754-11Dec1822)
Stephen married Jane Ellis (1754-1822) in 1778
- Stephen was 1st minister of Old Tranquil Methodist Church in Surrey County
1) Mary Ellis Shell (1779-1849)
2) George Shell (1780-1861)
3) Ira Shell (1782-1821)
4) Ellis Shell (1784-1808)
5) Permelia Shell (1786-1870)
6) Susanna Shell (1788-1876)
7) Daniel Shell (1790-1874)
8) Frances Asbury Shell (1796-1868)
9) Stephen D Shell (1798-1885)
10)  Lemmon Shell (1800-)

2. Lucy Shell (1756--1824)
Lucy married James Wright (1745-1825) in 1774
1) William Wright (1775-1855)
2) Amelia Wright (1777-1785)
3) Joseph Wright (1779-1779)
4) Zaccheus Wright (1783-1862)
5) William Wright (1787-1839)
6) Elizabeth Lemmon Wright (1787-1856)
7) Mary Shell Wright (1788-1880)
8) Lucy Wright (1792-1819)
9) James Wright (1797-1797)

3. William Shell (1759-1822)
William married Amy ?? (1755-1830)
1) Martha Shell (1786-1866)
2) Catherine Shell (1791-1825)
3) Allen Shell (1797-1863)

4. John Ellis Shell Sr (1762-1818)
John married Elizabeth Malone (1762-1847) in 1786
1) Sophia Weston Shell (1789-1877)
Sophia married Zere Pendergrass Middlebrook (1782-1869)
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Harmon Shell (4Apr1765-3Nov1834)

Harmon married Martha Epps (1770-1808) in 1790

1) James E Shell (1792-1831)

2) Elizabeth A Shell (1794-1795)

3) Thomas H Shell (1796-)

4) Nancy L Shell (1793-1873)

5) William Baugh Shell (1801-1870)

6) John E Shell (1803-1805)

Harmon married Elizabeth Finch (1769-1839) in 1811
1) Mary Shell (1812-)

Amelia Shell (3May1767-100ct1835)
Amelia married John Hatton (1769-1848) in 1788
1) William Hatton (1789-)

2) Milly Hatton (1792-)

3) John Hartwell Hatton (1794-1847)
4) Sarah M Hatton (1799-1865)

5) Zackeus M Hatton (1801-)

6) Nancy Hatton (1803-)

7) Thomas Hatton (1804-)

8) Lucy Hatton (1806-1885)

9) Margaret L Hatton (1809-)

10)  Molly Hatton (1811-1888)

Lemon Shell (26May1769-15Sep1814)

Lemon married Dorothy Clanton (-1794) in 1792
Lemon married Nancy Epps (1770-1818) in 1809
1) Charles Wesley Shell (1810-1831)

2) John Fletcher Shell (1813-1814)

3) Thomas Shell (-)

Nancy Shell (310ct1771-22Jul1855)

Nancy married Archibald Tabor (1770-1820)
1) Jacob Tabor (1797-)

2) Mary Tabor (1799-1881)

3) Basil Moab Tabor (1799-1853)

4) Nancy Tabor (1800-1850)

5) Catherine Tabor (1800-1872)

6) William Tabor (1805-1850)
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Nancy married John Johnston Dugan (1775-1822) in 1801
1) Lucy Lemmon Dugan (1802-1816)

2) Mary Jane Dugan (1803-1846)

3) Robert Dugan (1805-1806)

4) Elizabeth Ann Dugan (1807-1821)

5) Martha Ellis Dugan (1809--1856)

6) William Henry Dugan (1814-1867)

William Shell (1728-1807) married widowed Abigail Collingworth (1760-1807)
- William & Abigail Collinsworth had 7 children: Thomas, Sarah, Mary, John,
Hanna, Elizabeth, and William Jr

Cornelius Dollison Shell (24Apr1800-1878)

Cornelius married Martha Ann Ball (1805-1870) in 1825
1) Sarah Ann Elizabeth Shell (1833-1882)

2) Martha Adeline Shell (1833-1882)

3) Caroline C Shell (1837-1924)

4) Henry Harmon Shell (1840-1925)

5) Amanda Shell (1843-)

6) Emma Shell (1850-)

Dorothea Valentine Shell (2May1802-19Dec1844)
Dorothea married William Parsons Melson (1794-1883) in 1820
- No record of children
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9.64 | Relationship to Ann Henderson: GGGGGGrandparents

(mother/mother/mother/mother/mother/mother)

Husband Marriage Wife
Isham Malone Date: 1753 Lucretia Lucy Lanier
DOB: 1734 Location: Mecklenburg DOB: 1740

County, VA

City/State: Surry County, VA City/State:
Residence: 1762 - Children Residence:
Mecklenburg County, VA
Residence: 1772 - Brunswick Elizabeth Malone Residence:
County, VA (1762-1847)
Residence: Residence:
Date of Death: 2Feb1792 Date of Death: 1833
Cemetery: Cemetery:
City, State: Mecklenburg City, State: Mecklenburg
County, VA County, VA
Father: Father:
Drury Malone Benjamin B Lanier
(1697-1783) (1712-1796)
Mother: Mother:
Martha Jones Elizabeth Warren
(1694-1774) - died in VA (1701-1765)

NOTES

NOTES
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Descendants of Isham Malone
Isham Malone (1734-1792) married Lucretia Lucy Lanier (1740-1833) in 1753

1. Wynne Malone (1758-1846)
Wynne married Janie Saunders (1766-1846) in 1767 in VA
1) Samuel P Malone (1782-1855)
2) Elizabeth Malone (1787-1840)
3) Jones Malone (1789-1806)
4) Lucinda Malone (1791-1807)
5) Green Malone (1798-1861)
6) Lucinda Malone (1801-1883)
7) Isham Malone Jr (1802-1840)
8) Martha C Malone (1804-1840)
9) Susan J Malone (1805-1868)

2. Isaac Malone (1758-1762)
- Death as a young boy

3. Benjamin Malone (1756-1824)
- No record of marriage

4. Mary Molly Malone (1760-1822)
Mary married John Nance (1748-1813) in 1778 in Henry County, VA
1) Reuben Nance (1780-1860)
Mary married Thomas Roberts (1743-1797) in 1794

5. Elizabeth Malone (1762-1847)
Elizabeth married John Ellis Shell, Sr (1762-1818) in 1786 in Brunswick County,
VA
1) Betsy Shell (1774-)
2) Isham Malone Shell (1787-1871)
3) Edmond Shell (1788-1832)
4) Sophia Weston Shell (1789-1877)
Sophia married Zere Pendergrass Middlebrook (1782-1869)
5) John Ellis Shell (1791-)
6) Drury Jones Shell (1800-1875)

6. Sophia Malone (1765-1799)
Sophia married Zachariah Hall (1745-1797)
- No record of children
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10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

Isham Malone (1734-1792) married Lucretia Lanier in 1772 in Mecklenburg County, VA

Lucy Malone (9Sep1768-18Dec1829)
- No record of marriage

Martha Jones Malone (1770-1771)

Martha married Lewis Grigg IV (1759-1837) in 1808
1) Lewis Mansfield Grigg (1809-)

2) Mary Grigg (1810-)

3) Martha James Malone Grigg (1810-)

Drury Malone (12Jan1773-9Jul1808)

Drury married Penelope Taylor (1769-) on 14Jan1784 in Mecklenburg County,
VA

- No record of children

Susannah Malone (1775-1776)
- Died as an infant

Isham Malone (1777-1816)

Sarah Malone (1779-13Apr1822)
- No record of marriage

Rebecca Malone (16Mar1782-1824)
Rebecca married Rueben Booth (1753-1831)
- No record of children

John Malone (21Nov1776-250ct1816)
John married Margary Casteel (1779-1850)
1) Sarah Malone (1800-1860)

2) John Malone (1803-1858)

3) Edward Malone (1807-1887)

4) Mary Malone (1812-)

5) Margaret Malone (1817-1910)

6) Peggy Brown (1817-)

7) Joseph Malone (1825-1918)

Thomas L Malone (21Nov1784-250ct1816)
- No record of marriage
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